UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON

Faculty of Medicine, Health and Biological Sciences, School of Medicine

Actions of Mast Cell Tryptase on Myofibroblasts: Implications for Inflammation and Tissue Remodelling in the Human Lung

by

SAIKI HASE

Thesis submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Mar 2005

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON <u>ABSTRACT</u> FACULTY OF MEDICINE HEALTH AND BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES SCHOOL OF MEDICINE <u>Doctor of Philosophy</u> Actions of Mast Cell Tryptase on Myofibroblasts: Implications for Inflammation and Tissue Remodelling in the Lung By Saiki Hase

Mast cell activation is a prominent feature in conditions associated with inflammation and tissue remodelling. The myofibroblast, a cell present with fibroblasts between the basement membrane of the epithelium and the smooth muscle layer has been implicated in remodelling of the asthmatic airways. The potential for interaction between mast cells and myofibroblasts has been little investigated. Tryptase, the major secretory product of the mast cell is emerging as a key mediator that can modulate cell function through the activation of protease activated receptor (PAR)-2, a G protein coupled receptor. The aim of these studies has been to investigate the ability of tryptase and other agonists of PAR-2 to alter myofibroblast and fibroblast function and to act as stimuli for inflammation and tissue remodelling in the lung.

Tryptase was isolated from a recombinant expression system and from human lung tissue using butyl agarose, benzamidine agarose and S-200 gel filtration chromatography, and the purified material characterised by western blotting and enzyme assays. Cells of the myofibroblast phenotype were induced from primary cultures of human lung fibroblasts using TGF- β . Expression of mRNA for PAR-2 was detected in both fibroblasts and myofibroblasts by PCR, and the presence of this receptor on the cell membrane and within the cytoplasm was indicated by immunocytochemistry with specific monoclonal antibody P2A. Functional PAR-2 on these cells was demonstrated by the ability of a peptide agonist to induce calcium flux, though surprisingly this effect was not induced by tryptase. Mitogenic responses were stimulated with tryptase in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, but cell proliferation was not observed under the conditions used. Pre-incubation of tryptase with protease inhibitors, or heat inactivation of the enzyme did not consistently inhibit the actions on cells, but responses similar to those with tryptase were observed following stimulation with peptide agonists of PAR-2.

The synthesis and release of IL-6, IL-8 and GM-CSF by fibroblasts and myofibroblasts was indicated by quantitative Taqman PCR and ELISA techniques, though there was considerable heterogeneity between cell preparations in patterns of cytokine generation. Tryptase induced increased IL-8 release from myofibroblasts (but not from fibroblasts), and there was no overall alteration in IL-6 release, or in expression of mRNA for any of the three cytokines examined. The PAR-2 agonist peptide induced increased release of IL-6 from myofibroblasts, but otherwise was found to have little effect on cytokine generation by either cell type.

Incubation of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts with tryptase provoked increased release of collagens as determined by measurement of $[{}^{3}H]$ -proline. PCR studies suggested that collagen type III rather than type I was generated by these cells. Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 release in both the pro and active forms was stimulated by tryptase. A similar pattern of MMP-2 release in response to tryptase was seen with myofibroblasts. The peptide agonist of PAR-2 failed to induce collagen synthesis in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, and although it induced increased release of the pro-form of MMP-2 from fibroblasts, induction of the active form was not observed.

Tryptase being present in substantial quantities in the asthmatic airways could modulate myofibroblast and fibroblast behaviour, and represent an important stimulus for inflammation and tissue remodelling. However, these studies indicate that there is no simple relationship between tryptase-induced alterations in cell function and the activation of PAR-2. It seems likely that tryptase may stimulate non-PAR-2 mediated processes as well as those in which this receptor is involved.

Table of Contents

	page
Title	
Abstract	
Table of Contents	Ι
Declaration	V
Acknowledgements	VI
Abbreviations	VII
Chapters	
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Allergy	3
1.2 Asthma	5
1.3 The Mast Cell	8
1.3.1 Origin of mast cells	8
1.3.2 Activation of mast cell	8
1.3.3 Mast cell heterogeneity	9
1.3.4 Mediators in mast cells	9
1.3.4.1 Neutral proteases	9
1.3.4.2 Histamine	11
1.3.4.3 Proteoglycans	11
1.3.4.4 Lipid mediators	12
1.3.4.5 Cytokines	13
1.3.5 The roles of mast cells in asthma	
1.4 Tryptase	17
1.4.1 Biochemical characteristics	17
1.4.1.1 Tryptase isolation	18
1.4.1.2 Enzymatic activities of tryptase	19
1.4.2 Actions of tryptase in cells	20

1.5 Protease activated receptor 2 (PAR-2)		
1.5.1 Mechanism of PAR activation		
1.5.2 Agonists for PAR activation		
1.5.3 Molecular Biology of PARs	25	
1.5.4 Expression of PAR-2	25	
1.5.5 Functions of PAR-2	26	
1.6 Myofibroblasts	29	
1.6.1 Actions of TGF- β on myofibroblasts	30	
1.6.2 Cytokine production by myofibroblasts	32	
1.6.2.1 IL-6	33	
1.6.2.2 IL-8	34	
1.6.2.3 GM-CSF	35	
1.7 Extracellular Matrix (ECM)	36	
1.8 Aim	38	
Materials and Methods	42	
2.1 Materials	43	
2.2 Methods	46	
2.2.1 Purification and characterisation of tryptase	46	
2.2.1.1 Purification of recombinant tryptase	46	
2.2.1.2 Purification of human lung tryptase	47	
2.2.1.3 Enzyme assay	48	
2.2.1.4 Protein assay	48	
2.2.1.5 Tryptase characterisation	49	
2.2.2 Cell culture	50	
2.2.3 Immunocytochemistry	50	
2.2.4 Cell proliferation	51	
2.2.4.1 MTS assay	51	
2.2.4.2 [³ H]-thymidine incorporation	52	

2

2.2.4.3 Cytotoxicity assays	53
2.2.5 Cytokines and mediator synthesis and release	53
2.2.5.1Extraction and sampling of mRNA	53
2.2.5.2 Quantitative PCR for cytokine mRNA expression	54
2.2.5.3 ELISA measurement of cytokine release	56
2.2.6 Extracellular Matrix Protein Production and Release	58
2.2.6.1 Collagen assay	58
2.2.6.2 Zymography	59
2.2.6.3 Western blotting	59
2.2.7 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	60
2.2.8 Measuring release of intracellular calcium	61
2.2.9 Statistical analysis	62
Results	66
3.1 Preparation of tryptase	66
3.1.1 Purification and characterization of recombinant tryptase	67
3.1.2 Purification and characterization of human lung tryptase	68
3.1.3 Heat inactivation of tryptase	69
3.2 Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts cultures	73
3.3 PAR-2 expression in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts	78
3.3.1 mRNA expression of PAR-2	78
3.3.2 Detection of PAR-2 by immunocytochemistry	78
3.3.3 Induction of calcium flux by PAR-2 agonists	79
3.4 Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts mitogenesis and proliferation	84
3.4.1 Mitogenic responses of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts	85
3.4.2 Cell proliferation responses	86
3.5 Proinflammatory actions of tryptase and PAR-2 agonists	97
3.5.1 Cytokine release from cells	97
3.5.1.1 Response to FCS and TNF- α	97

3

3.5.1.2 Actions of tryptase	98
3.5.1.3 Actions of PAR-2 agonists	99
3.5.2 Expression of mRNA for cytokines	111
3.5.2.1 Response to FCS and TNF- α	111
3.5.2.2 Actions of tryptase	112
3.5.2.3 Actions of PAR-2 agonist	113
3.6 Effect on generation and release of collagen and collagenase	120
3.6.1 Collagen synthesis	120
3.6.1.1 Actions of tryptase	120
3.6.1.2 Actions of PAR-2 agonist	122
3.6.2 MMP production and activation	129
3.6.2.1 Actions of tryptase	129
3.6.2.2 Actions of PAR-2 agonists	130
3.6.3 Characterisation of collagen type and TIMP	139
4 Discussion	144
4.1 Tryptase as a mediator of fibroblast and myofibroblast mitoger	esis and
proliferation	149
4.2 Pro-inflammatory actions of tryptase on fibroblasts and myofib	oroblasts
	157
4.3 Tryptase as a stimulus for tissue remodelling	162
4.4 Conclusions	167
References	174
Appendices	226

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all of my family members for their patience and continuous support during the course of my studies.

I am most grateful to my supervisor Dr. A. F. Walls for the guidance and encouragement over the years. Without his help, this thesis would not have been possible. I also thank to Dr. A. R. McEuen for his support as a co-supervisor.

I thank to all members in the Immunopharmacology Group and people from the university who have helped me to carry out the projects.

Abbreviations

APRT	adenine phosphoribosyltransferase		
Ab	antibody		
APC 1390	N-(1-hydroxy-nathothoyl)-L-arginyl-proliamide		
APS	ammonium persulphate		
αSMA	α -smooth muscle actin		
BAL	bronchoalveolar lavage		
BAPNA	$N-\alpha$ -benzoyl- _{DL} -arginine- <i>p</i> -nitroanilide hydrochloride		
BSA	bovine serum albium		
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid		
$[Ca^{2+}]_i$	intracellular calcium concentration		
COX-2	cyclo-oxygenase-2		
СРМ	count per minute		
DAB	diaminobenzadine		
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium		
DMSO	dimethylsulphoxide		
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid		
DNase	deoxyribonuclease		
ECM	extracellular matrix		
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid		
EGF	epidermal growth factor		
ELISA	enzyme linked-immuno-sorbent assay		
FCS	foetal calf serum		
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate		
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase		
GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulation factor		
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor		

G-protein	GTP-binding protein		
HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution		
HRP	horseradish peroxidase		
Ig	immunoglobulin		
IL	interleukin		
ITS	insulin-transferrin-selenium suppliment		
JNK	c-Jun-NH ₂ -terminal kinase		
kDa	kilo Dalton		
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase		
LPS	lipopolysaccharide		
MC	mast cell		
MEM	minimum essential medium		
MES	2-[N-morpholino]ethanesulphonic acid		
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase		
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid		
MTS	(3-(4,5-dimethylthiazole-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-		
	(4-sulphophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium)		
PAR	protease-activated receptor		
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline		
PG	prostaglandin		
РКС	protein kinase C		
PNGase	peptide N-glycanase		
PSG	penicillin-streptomycin-glutamine mixture		
RANTES	regulated on activation, normal T-cell expressed and secreted		
RNA	ribonucleic acid		
RT-PCR	reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction		
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis		
SCF	stem cell factor		

SE	standard error
tc-	trans-cinnamoyl
TGF	transforming growth factor
TIMP	tissue inhibitor of metalloproteases
TMB	tetramethyl benzidine
TNF	tumour necrosis factor
Tris-HCl	tris[hydroxymethyl]aminomethane hydrochloride
Tween 20	polyoxyethylane-sorbitan monoaurate

Chapter 1

Introduction

1 Introduction

Mast cell activation is a prominent feature of asthma and other allergic conditions. This cell can release a range of mediators including serine proteases, histamine, arachidonic acid metabolites, proteoglycans and cytokines. The most abundant protein product of the mast cell is the tetrameric serine protease tryptase, and substantial quantities are secreted following mast cell activation. A number of mediator actions for tryptase have been proposed and the finding that it may activate protease activated receptor-2 (PAR-2) has provided a possible explanation for observations that this protease can alter cell function. The roles of tryptase in allergic disease, however, remain poorly defined.

The inflammatory nature of asthma is well established and it is becoming clear that processes of airway remodelling can be of central importance to the development of asthma. Increased numbers of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, and an increased deposition of extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins has frequently been observed in the airways of asthmatic subjects. Tissue remodelling may occur as a wound healing response to damage induced during inflammation, and this may be critical for disease chronicity. Mast cells have been associated with inflammation and remodelling and they may make key contributions to the process.

The aim of these studies has been to investigate the actions of the major mast cell product tryptase on human fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, as these cells are of particular relevance to airway inflammation and remodelling. A focus has been to investigate the potential role of PAR-2.

2

1.1 Allergy

The immune system is necessary for protection from invading microorganisms and parasites, but under certain circumstances it may be directed inappropriately, leading to allergic responses being triggered against harmless antigens (allergens). Hypersensitivity reactions have been classified into four types by Coombs and Gell (Table 1.1.1). Type I acute reactions or anaphylactic reactions are triggered mainly by mast cell activation following cross-linking of cell-bound IgE, resulting in the release of mediators that can lead to infiltration of inflammatory cells. Type II hypersensitivity involves cytotoxic actions of complement against cell surface antigens detected by antibodies. Type III reactions are mediated by activation of the complement pathway, triggered by the formation of antigen/antibody complexes. Type IV or delayed hypersensitivity reactions are mediated by effector cells that are drawn to the site of inflammation by cytokines from T cells presented with antigens.

Type I hypersensitivity reactions, when they occur in the airways, can be a key step in the development of an asthmatic reaction. The association of mast cells with type I hypersensitivity has prompted investigation of how this cell type can participate in mechanisms of asthma. The classification of hypersensitivity reactions into four types was an important advance in the understanding of allergy, but the scheme represents a simplification. Allergic reactions are now seen as a result of an imbalance between multiple processes, and the contribution of mast cells seems likely to extend beyond the rapid release of mediators in type I hypersensitivity reactions.

<u>Table 1.1.1</u>

Classification of hypersensitivity by Coombs and Gell.

Туре	Description
Ι	IgE mediated (acute)
II	Antibody mediated (cytotoxic)
III	Immune complex mediated
IV	Cell mediated (delayed)

1.2 Asthma

The prevalence of asthma has increased in recent decades (Nadel & Busse 1998). This condition has considerable impact on society and despite the availability of a number of treatments, there is no cure. The consequences of asthma can be serious and result in sudden death by airflow obstruction, with blockage of airways with mucus (Kay 1996). The incidence of allergic asthma is highest in childhood, although this disease can start at any age (Dodge & Burrows 1980). Asthma diagnosed in early life can remit with increasing age, but it remains a strong risk factor for the development of asthma in adult life (Jenkins *et al.* 1994, Horak *et al.* 2003). Developed countries tend to have a higher prevalence of diagnosed allergic asthma than developing countries (Jason *et al.* 1997).

Variability in lung function is a characteristic of patients with asthma. Asthmatic reactions can be provoked by allergens, upper respiratory tract infection, exercise and by changes in humidity and temperature. The term asthma is relatively non-specific, and is used to describe conditions with different patterns of airflow obstruction, and different degrees of reversibility, and there are no standard criteria for clinical diagnosis. There are three main clinical aspects of asthma, (1) airway inflammation associated with activation of mast cells and infiltration of eosinophils and other inflammatory cells into the airways, (2) airway obstruction that is reversible either spontaneously or with treatment and (3) increased airway responsiveness to a variety of stimuli. Environmental factors are important in the development of asthma, and family studies have shown genetic association with susceptibility to asthma (Weiss & Raby 2004). Genetic variability has also been linked with different responses to drug treatment (Fenech & Hall 2002).

Epithelial cell shedding, thickening of the collagen layer under the basement membrane, infiltration of inflammatory cells such as mast cells, eosinophils, and CD4+ T lymphocytes, and smooth muscle hypertrophy and hyperplasia are pathogenic features of asthma (Hogg 1993). The presence of mast cells in the smooth muscle layer of bronchial biopsy tissue has been suggested to be a distinctive characteristic of asthmatic airways (Brightling *et al.* 2002). Infiltration of dendritic cells into the bronchial mucosa of asthmatic individuals after local allergen challenge, suggests that antigen presentation by these cells could be important (Jahnsen *et al.* 2001). Class switching and the production of IgE by B lymphocytes is stimulated by Th2 cells. Infiltration of eosinophils and their activation have been thought to be major contributing factors in the pathogenesis of asthma (Lee *et al.* 2001). However, suppression of eosinophilia by reducing IL-5 levels with a blocking antibody, or by priming Th1 cells with IL-12, have not been found to alter airflow and airway hyperresponsiveness (Leckie *et al.* 2000, Bryan *et al.* 2000).

Inflammation represents a response of vascularized tissue to injury, and an attempt to restore tissue function to normal. Epithelial injury can induce processes of healing and structural changes that can lead either to complete restoration or to chronic inflammation. The walls of the conducting airways in asthma are thickened and there is luminal narrowing caused by the presence of excessive mucus and an inflammatory exudate.

In recent years, asthma has come to be seen as a condition in which tissue remodelling as well as inflammation is important (Bousquet *et al.* 2000). A key process in asthma is likely to involve not only inflammation and epithelial injury but tissue remodelling arising from close interactions between epithelial cells, fibroblasts and other cell types (Holgate *et al.* 2000, Knight 2001). A number of cytokines have been suggested to provide links between inflammation and remodelling. TNF and

6

GM-CSF can induce predominantly inflammatory responses in rat lung (Xing *et al.* 1996, Sime *et al.* 1998). TGF- β acts downstream of both TNF and GM-CSF, and it has been shown that adenovirus vector mediated transfer of the TGF- β gene in rat lung can induce a dramatic fibrotic response, with increased extracellular matrix deposition observed histologically (Sime *et al.* 1997), a type of remodelling seen in asthma. However, the precise relationship between remodelling and inflammation is unclear.

The principal features of airway remodelling in asthma are subepithelial fibrosis, myofibroblast hyperplasia, airway smooth muscle hypertrophy and hyperplasia, mucous gland and goblet cell hyperplasia and disruption of the epithelium (Elias *et al.* 2003). The excess matrix deposition below the basemant membrane that is such a prominent feature of asthma, has been found to be composed of collagen I, collagen III, fibronectin and tenascin in bronchial biopsy tissues (Roche *et al.* 1989, Laitinen *et al.* 1997).

Mild or moderate asthma can often be controlled with corticosteroids and β -agonists, and these may be supplemented with new treatments such as those that target leukotrienes (leukotriene receptor antagonists or lipoxygenase inhibitors) (Leru 2003) or IgE, using the anti-IgE monoclonal antibody omalizumab (Holgate *et al.* 2004). However, medications currently available rarely provide complete relief from symptoms and substantial numbers of patients have poorly controlled disease. There is a pressing need for new therapeutic approaches.

1.3 The Mast Cell

1.3.1 Origin of mast cells

Mast cells have been ascribed important roles in allergy, parasite infection, inflammation, angiogenesis and tissue remodelling (Church & Levi-Schaffer 1997). Human mast cells are derived from CD34 positive progenitor cells in the bone marrow (Bressler *et al.* 1990, Kirshenbaum *et al.* 1991). Cell growth and maturation are under the control of stem cell factor (SCF) (Irani *et al.* 1992, Valent *et al.* 1992, Kirshenbaum *et al.* 1992, Austen & Boyce 2001) which acts via c-kit (CD117) the SCF receptor (Geissler *et al.* 1988, Chabot *et al.* 1988, Boyce 2003). Other cytokines including IL-3, IL-4 and IL-10 also stimulate mast cell growth and maturation in cell culture systems (Huang *et al.* 1990, Rennick *et al.* 1985, Thompson-Snipes *et al.* 1991). Mast cell chemotactic agents have been found to include SCF, TGF- β , eotaxin and RANTES, when this has been investigated with cells of a human mast cell line *in vitro* (Frangogiannis *et al.* 1998, Quackenbush *et al.* 1998, Berger *et al.* 2003, de Paulis *et al.* 2001).

1.3.2 Activation of mast cell

Cross-linking of IgE bound to the high affinity IgE receptor (FceRI) on mast cells can lead to degranulation with release of pre-formed products, and the synthesis and secretion of cytokines and eicosanoids (Reischl *et al.* 1999). Mast cell degranulation can be induced also by non-IgE dependent processes. Thus mediator release may be stimulated by neuropeptides such as substance P from sensory neurons (Foreman *et al.* 1982, Foreman *et al.* 1983, Fewtrell *et al.* 1982), by complement components C3a and C5a (Hartman & Glovsky 1981, Swerlick *et al.* 1986), and by eosinophil granule proteins (Henderson *et al.* 1980), though mast cells from different tissues can respond to the different stimuli to different extents.

1.3.3 Mast cell heterogeneity

Human mast cells may be categorised into two distinct sub-populations on the basis of protease content. Mast cells with tryptase and chymase have been termed MC_{TC} and those with tryptase but not chymase, MC_T cells (Irani *et al.* 1986). The MC_{TC} phenotype is predominant in skin and connective tissue, whereas the MC_T phenotype predominates in normal mucosal tissues of the lung and intestine (Irani *et al.* 1989).

There is evidence for functional heterogeneity of mast cells based on differences in responsiveness to pharmacological or biological stimuli. The extent of IgE dependent or independent release of histamine, and also the speed of release, has been found to differ between mast cells of different tissue origins. Thus, for instance, substance P can be a potent stimulus for histamine release from mast cells dispersed from human skin tissue, but not from lung, tonsil or adenoid tissue (Lowman *et al.* 1988). Mast cell heterogeneity assessed by such functional criteria, is not related directly to heterogeneity as determined by protease content.

1.3.4 Mediators in mast cells (Table 1.3.1)

1.3.4.1 Neutral proteases

Neutral proteases of mast cells include tryptase (Schwartz et al. 1981, Smith et al. 1984), chymase (Schechter et al. 1986), and carboxypeptidase (Goldstein et al. 1987,

1989, Schechter *et al.* 1983). A cathepsin G-like protease has been found, but this has not yet been isolated from mast cells (Shechter *et al.* 1990). Tryptase, a major focus of the present studies, will be described in detail in a separate section that follows.

Chymase is a monomeric serine protease of 30 kDa stored in an active form in mast cell granules. It has been purified from human skin (Schechter *et al.* 1986), heart (Urata *et al.* 1990), and tonsil tissue (Sukenaga *et al.* 1993). A single chymase is present in human mast cells, unlike the situation in rodents and some other animals in which multiple types have been found. Chymase can cleave angiotensin I very effectively to generate angiotensin II (Urata *et al.* 1990, Kinoshita *et al.* 1991, Reilly *et al.* 1982, Wintroub *et al.* 1984), may possibly degrade neurotensin (Kinoshita *et al.* 1991), and can stimulate mucus secretion from glandular cells (Sommerhoff *et al.* 1989). Possible contributions of chymase in processes of inflammation, could be to convert IL-1 β into an active form (Mizutani *et al.* 1991), and to degrade IL-4 (Tunon de Lara *et al.* 1994). Moreover, a massive influx of neutrophils and eosinophils can be induced when rodents are injected with human chymase (He & Walls 1998). Procollagen I, collagen IV and interstitial collagenase are substrates for chymase (Lees *et al.* 1994), findings that are consistent with chymase having important roles in tissue remodelling.

Carboxypeptidase is a Zn^{2+} dependent metalloprotease exopeptidase with a molecular weight of approximately 35 kDa. This enzyme has been purified from human mast cells (Goldstein *et al.* 1987, Goldstein *et al.* 1989) and also from rodent mast cells (Serafin *et al.* 1987, Everitt & Neurath 1980, Cole *et al.* 1991). Carboxypeptidase is bound to the same proteoglycan complex as chymase and these proteins are co-released on mast cell activation (Irani *et al.* 1991, Goldstein *et al.* 1992).

1.3.4.2 Histamine

Histamine is stored mainly in mast cells (Riley & West 1956). Concentrations of histamine are elevated in BAL fluid from mild asthmatic subjects (Liu et al. 1990), and levels can be further increased following allergen challenge (Liu et al. 1991). Four histamine receptors have been identified, and all are G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) (Wass 1997, Gether 2000). The H₁ receptor may mediate most of the allergic symptoms induced by histamine. Activation of H₁ receptors induces bronchial smooth muscle contraction and mucus production in the lung. Processes induced by H₂ receptors have been described mostly in the gastrointestinal tract and in neurological tissue where expression is localised. H₂ receptor activation results in down-regulation of histamine release from basophils (Kazimierczak et al. 1981). The H₃ receptor is expressed on nerves and can act as an autoreceptor (Arrang et al. 1983, Schwartz et al. 1991). Activation of H₃ receptors may serve to modulate amine neurotransmitters such as noradrenaline (Schlicker et al. 1994). The H₄ receptor has been suggested to be important in the regulation of immune function in allergy and asthma, and is associated with immune cells such as eosinophils (Liu et al. 2001, Zhu et al. 2001, Nguyen et al. 2001).

1.3.4.3 Proteoglycans

Proteoglycans are single chain proteins with a glycosaminoglycan side chain (Stevens *et al.* 1988). The major proteoglycans of human mast cells are heparin and chondroitin sulphate E (Stevens *et al.* 1988, Thompson *et al.* 1988). Heparin can bind to other preformed mediators, and facilitate their packaging in granules for

storage. The anticoagulant activity of heparin is the best known property (Damus *et al.* 1973) but this proteoglycan possesses a wide range of functions, binding to enzymes, cytokines and numerous other factors following its release from cells. Of interest for the present studies is the observation that heparin can help to stabilise the active tetrameric form of tryptase (Schwartz & Bradford 1986).

1.3.4.4 Lipid mediators

Prostaglandins (PG) and leukotrienes (LT) are metabolised from arachidonic acid and are products of the cyclooxygenase and the lipoxygenase pathways, respectively. PGD₂ is generated after the activation of mast cells, and inhalation of PGD₂ can induce bronchoconstriction in both non-asthmatic and asthmatic subjects (Hardy *et al.* 1984). Levels of PGD₂ are increased in BAL fluid collected from allergen challenged asthmatic subjects (Wenzel *et al.* 1988, Wenzel *et al.* 1989, Wenzel *et al.* 1990). LTC₄, LTD₄ and LTE₄ are derived from human lung mast cells by IgEdependent stimulation (Peters *et al.* 1984).

Levels of leukotrienes are increased in BAL fluid from allergen- challenged asthmatic subjects (Wenzel *et al.* 1988, Wenzel *et al.* 1990, Wenzel *et al.* 1991). LTs are potent bronchoconstrictors when administrated to human subjects by inhalation (Dahlen *et al.* 1980, Weiss & Mullick 1983, Barnes *et al.* 1984). In vitro, they have been found to act as selective chemotactic agents for human eosinophils (Spada *et al.* 1994). LTs may also induce mucus hypersecretion from the bronchial mucosa (Coles *et al.* 1983). Platelet activating factor (PAF), a low molecular weight phospholipid (Demopoulos *et al.* 1979), may also be released from mast cells, but with a rapid rate of re-uptake, its mediator actions are not well established.

1.3.4.5 Cytokines

Mast cells are an important source of range of cytokines. Human lung mast cells express mRNA for TNF- α , IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, IL-13 and GM-CSF following stimulation with SCF and anti-IgE (Okayama *et al.* 1995), and mRNA for IL-8 is expressed in HMC-1 cells, a human mast cell leukaemia line, following activation (Selvan *et al.* 1994). A more extensive list of cytokines has been reported to be generated and released from rodent mast cells. Cytokines released from mast cells are likely to play roles in host defence as well as to be involved in initiating, controlling and maintaining allergic reactions. The mast cell also releases the growth factors, TGF- β and bFGF, which have been suggested to make key contributions to extracellular matrix deposition in asthma (Reed *et al.* 1995, Kendall *et al.* 1997).

1.3.5 The roles of mast cells in asthma

In patients with asthma, the degree of airway hyperresponsiveness is associated with the numbers of mast cells in the BAL fluid (as estimated by tryptase concentration in cells recovered) (Ferguson *et al.* 1992). A higher than normal degree of mast cell degranulation can be observed histologically in bronchial biopsy tissues from asthmatic subjects (Pesci *et al.* 1993). Moreover, increased levels of the preformed granule constituents, tryptase and histamine have been measured in BAL fluid, even in the absence of clinical symptoms, suggesting that there may be continuous mast cell degranulation in the airways of asthmatic subjects (Broide *et al.* 1991). Exposure of the airways to allergen induces increased numbers of mast cells at the epithelial surface (Laitinen *et al.* 1993) and in the smooth muscle layer of human bronchial tissue (Ammit *et al.* 1997, Robinson 2004), but this has not been observed in the submucosa.

Mast cell products could play important roles in triggering and maintaining the inflammatory changes and the remodelling in asthma. Histamine could contribute to the bronchoconstriction, oedema and mucus secretion that is characteristic of asthma (White 1990). Leukotrienes and prostanoids may act as more potent bronchoconstrictors and vasodilators than histamine, and could increase vascular permeability, and stimulate eosinophil accumulation and activation. Moreover, various cytokines and chemokines from mast cells could play key roles in the initiation and modulation of processes of inflammation and remodelling in asthma (Hart 2001). The potential actions of tryptase in asthma will be described separately (section 1.4).

Studies with mast cell deficient mice have shown that the presence of mast cells is required at least in part for the induction of airway hyperreactivity in a model of asthma that involves administration of ovalbumin as allergen (Kobayashi *et al.* 2000). The importance of mast cells in acute airway responses has been shown in an allergen challenged mast cell-deficient mouse model of chronic asthma (Williams & Galli 2000). Studies with c-kit and c-kit ligand knockout mice have indicated that mast cells may play a crucial role in inducing fibrosis in mouse models of allergen-induced asthma (Masuda *et al.* 2003).

Both mast cells and myofibroblasts have been recognised to play major roles in wound healing (Hebda *et al.* 1993). However, there have been few investigations of the interaction of these cells. Histological studies have indicated that mast cells in tissue from cases of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis contain bFGF (Inoue *et al.* 2002), and the presence of bFGF receptors on myofibroblasts as well as on airway smooth

14

muscle cells has been taken as evidence that mast cells may provide a stimulus for the proliferation of these other cell types (Inoue *et al.* 2002). Interestingly, lysates of the mast cell line HMC-1 can induce the transformation of human foreskin fibroblasts to cells of the myofibroblast phenotype, that express α -smooth muscle (Gailit *et al.* 2001). It will be important to investigate in more detail the potential interactions between mast cells and myofibroblasts in the airways in asthma and other conditions associated with inflammation and tissue remodelling.

<u>Table 1.3.1</u>

Mediators produced by in human mast cells.

Class	Mediator	Category
Neutral proteases	tryptase	preformed
	chymase	
	carboxypeptidase	
	cathepsin G	
Biogenic amines	histamine	preformed
Proteoglycans	heparin	preformed
Arachidonic acid metabolites	PGD ₂	newly generated
	LTC ₄	
	PAF	
Cytokines	TNF-α	preformed and newly generated
	IL-3	
	IL-4	
	IL-5	
	IL-6	
	IL-10	
	IL-13	
	GM-CSF	
	TGF-β	
	bFGF	

1.4 Tryptase

1.4.1 Biochemical characteristics

Tryptase is the most abundant protein in human mast cells, and makes up some 20% of the total protein present (Schwartz 1990). This enzyme is largely unique to the granules of mast cells with much smaller quantities in basophils (Craig & Schwartz 1990, Walls *et al.* 1990), and it has thus been widely used as a marker for mast cells (Walls *et al.* 1990). Tryptase is a tetrameric serine protease with a molecular weight of 134 kDa with subunits of approximately 35 kDa (Schwartz *et al.* 1981, Smith *et al.* 1984, Cromlish *et al.* 1987). The tetrameric structure may be stabilized by heparin while present in the mast cell granules and immediately following secretion (Schwartz & Bradford 1986, Fukuoka & Schwartz 2004).

Though often thought of as a single enzyme, there are different types of human mast cell tryptase with differences in sequence and in post translational modification. There are a cluster of genes for tryptase located at chromosome 16p13.3 (Pallaoro *et al.* 1999). The first sequence to be elucidated was for a form of tryptase that was subsequently termed α -tryptase (Miller *et al.* 1989). There have been conflicting reports over the extent to which this form may possess enzymatic activity, and it has been suggested that it is released constitutively from mast cells and basophils in an inactive form (Schwartz *et al.* 1995). It was once thought α -tryptase represents the main form of tryptase in the circulation of normal subjects, but the antibody employed in the studies that led to this conclusion has since been re-categorised as specific for pro-tryptase rather than α -tryptase (Schwartz *et al.* 2003). Moreover substantial proportions of the human population have been found to lack α -tryptase. Beta-tryptase is stored in secretory granules in the active form (Schwartz & Bradford 1986) and is released upon mast cell degranulation. It appears to be the major form of tryptase isolated from lung and skin (Xia *et al.* 1995), and is the most well studied. There are several isoforms of β -tryptase termed I, II and III which have 98-99% homology in amino acid sequence (Vanderslice *et al.* 1990). There is 91% homology in amino acid sequence between α and β tryptases.

Several other members of the tryptase family have been identified on chromosome 16p13.3. These include γ -tryptase, a trans-membrane form of tryptase which may be bound to the cell membrane of mast cells (Caughey *et al.* 2000), δ -tryptase which was first characterised as a pseudogene but which may in fact be translated as an enzymatically active form of tryptase (Wang *et al.* 2002), and ε -tryptase, a prostasin –like enzyme from airway epithelial cells (Wong *et al.* 2001). These, the later variants of tryptase to be described, remain relatively poorly characterised and their enzymatic and potential biological actions have been little investigated. They are structurally quite different from β -tryptase, and despite the similar nomenclature, they should be regarded as distinct enzymes.

Beta tryptase is the form that would appear to represent the major form in human mast cells, and it is secreted in substantial quantities in the human lung in asthma. The present studies focus on β -tryptase, and the term 'tryptase' will be used to describe this form.

1.4.1.1 Tryptase isolation

Tryptase was originally purified from human mast cells (Schwartz *et al.* 1981), and afterwards was purified from human lung (Smith *et al.* 1984) and skin tissue (Harvima *et al.* 1988). Subsequently recombinant human β -tryptase has been expressed in the methylotrophic yeast, *Pichia pastoris* (Niles *et al.* 1998). The

18

purified enzyme has been reported to have enzymatic properties similar to those of tryptase purified from lung tissue in its ability to cleave fibrinogen, and its sensitivity to inhibitors (Chan *et al.* 1999). The advent of recombinant tryptase has opened the way for larger quantities of well characterised enzyme to be available for studies of tryptase function.

1.4.1.2 Enzymatic activities of tryptase

Tryptase cleaves peptide and ester bonds preferentially at lysine or arginine residues at the P1 position, and in this respect is similar to pancreatic trypsin (Tanaka *et al.* 1983). Proteins which are components of the ECM, such as type VI collagen, gelatinase MMP-2 and fibronectin may be cleaved by human mast cell tryptase to some extent (Lohi *et al.* 1992, Kielty *et al.* 1993). Mast cell tryptase can also activate MMP-3 (Gruber *et al.* 1989), but not MMP-2 nor MMP-9 (Lees *et al.* 1994). Degradation of MMP-2 by this protease can result in a product of smaller size than active MMP-2 (Suzuki *et al.* 1995). Human mast cell β -tryptase has been reported to be a gelatinase which can degrade denatured collagen type 1 (Fajardo & Pejler 2003). Such findings implicate tryptase in processes of remodelling and repair.

Tryptase can efficiently degrade certain neuropeptides, such as vasoactive intestinal peptide and peptide histidine methionine (Tam & Caughey 1990), and calcitoningene related peptide (Walls *et al.* 1992), and could thus participate in processes of neurogenic inflammation. The ability to inactivate fibrinogen as a clottable substrate for thrombin, suggests that tryptase release could limit the clotting reaction at sites of mast cell activation (Schwartz *et al.* 1985). Of particular interest for an understanding of the pro-inflammatory actions of tryptase could be the report that tryptase can cleave and activate protease activated receptor-2 (PAR-2) (Molino *et al.* 1997). The potential consequences of PAR-2 activation by tryptase will be described in detail in a separate section.

1.4.1.3 Actions of tryptase on cells

Increased levels of tryptase are present in BAL fluid from asthmatic subjects (Wenzel *et al.* 1988), suggesting that cells of the human airways may be exposed constantly to this protease. Though tryptase has relatively few protein substrates, it can have profound actions on the behaviour of a number of cell types. This property was first identified when it was fond that tryptase can stimulate the proliferation of rodent fibroblasts (Hartmann *et al.* 1992, Ruoss *et al.* 1991). Subsequently mast cell tryptase has been reported to be able to stimulate mitogenic and proliferative responses in the MRC-5 human fibroblast line (Cairns & Walls 1997), in primary cultures of human lung fibroblasts (Aker *et al.* 2000) and human dermal fibroblasts (Gruber *et al.* 1997, Abe *et al.* 1998). Tryptase has been found to be a stimulus for the release of type I collagen from the MRC-5 human lung fibroblasts (Abe *et al.* 1998, Abe *et al.* 2000). However, it has been reported that tryptase does not alter expression of mRNA for MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-3 & MMP-9 and TIMP-1, or their release from human dermal fibroblasts (Zhang *et al.* 1999a).

A potential role for tryptase as a growth factor has been reported for a number of cells other than fibroblasts. These include airway smooth muscle cells (Berger *et al.* 2001a), epithelial cells (Cairns & Walls 1996) and dermal microvascular endothelial cells (Blair *et al.* 1997), but not vascular smooth muscle cells (Hartmann *et al.* 1992). The effect of tryptase on the proliferation of fibroblasts and various other cell types, calls attention to a role for this protease in having key roles in tissue remodelling.

However, the extent to which tryptase may stimulate proliferation of myofibroblasts, a cell type important in remodelling of asthmatic airways, has yet to be investigated.

Tryptase has been found to stimulate the release of cytokines and other factors from several cell types. This protease can stimulate the release of IL-8 from epithelial cells (Cairns & Walls 1996), and endothelial cells (Compton *et al.* 1998) as well as being able to upregulate expression of mRNA for IL-1 β and IL-8 from endothelial cells (Compton *et al.* 1998). Moreover, IL-6 and IL-8 release has been reported from human peripheral blood eosinophils (Temkin *et al.* 2002), and TGF- β from human airway smooth muscle cells (Berger *et al.* 2003). Cytokine release from fibroblasts or myofibroblasts in response to tryptase has not been investigated.

The precise mechanisms involved in the diverse pro-inflammatory and pro-fibrotic actions of tryptase on cells are not clear. The report by Molino *et al.* (1997) that tryptase can activate protease activated receptor-2 has raised the possibility that this could be a key mechanism. This is an area that needs further investigation in seeking to understand the actions of tryptase on cells.

1.5 Protease Activated Receptor 2 (PAR-2)

Four protease activated receptors (PAR) have been described; PAR-1, PAR-2, PAR-3 and PAR-4. They belong to the G-protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) superfamily (Dery *et al.* 1998), and are characterized by seven trans-membrane domains with an extracellular N terminus, and an intracellular C terminus (Fig. 1.5.1).

1.5.1 Mechanism of PAR activation

PARs are activated by a 'tethered ligand', whose peptide sequence is exposed by the proteolytic cleavage of the extracellular NH_2 -terminus of the receptor (Lerner et al. 1996, Ossovskaya & Bunnett 2004). Molecular recognition of the agonist by the receptor is at the second extracellular loop (Schmidt *et al.* 1996, Lerner *et al.* 1996) (Fig. 1.5.2). PAR-2 may be internalised rapidily and incorporated into endosomes and lysosomes within 30-60 minutes of receptor activation (Hoxie *et al.* 1993, Derian *et al.* 1997). Re-sensitisation has been found to be dependent on a pool of PAR-2 in the Golgi apparatus (Bohm *et al.* 1996a).

PAR-2 is likely to be linked with $G\alpha q$ or αo , G proteins which activate phospholipase C (PLC) β to produce inositol triphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG), which, in turn increase cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ concentrations and activate protein kinase C (PKC) (Dery *et al.* 1998) (Fig. 1.5.3).

1.5.2 Agonists for PAR activation (Table 1.5.1)

PAR-1, PAR-3 and PAR-4 are activated by thrombin but not by tryptase (Hollenberg 1999). PAR-2 is activated by the tryptic enzymes trypsin (Bohm *et al.* 1996a) and mast cell tryptase (Molino *et al.* 1997, Mirza *et al.* 1997) but not by thrombin. PAR-2 activation can be mimicked by the synthetic peptides SLIGKV-NH₂ and SLIGRL-NH₂, whose sequences correspond to those of the human and mouse tethered ligands, respectively (Bohm *et al.* 1996b), by trans-cinnamoyl (tc) LIGRO-NH₂ (Al Ani *et al.* 1999) and by 2-furoyl-LIGKV (ASKH95) (Maryanoff *et al.* 2001). Agonist peptides have deficiencies as investigational tools. Thus the PAR-1 agonist peptide, SFLLRNP-NH₂ can cross-activate PAR-2 (Blackhart *et al.* 1996), and the peptide, tc-LIGRO-NH₂ described as a PAR-2 agonist has been reported to activate mast cells by non-PAR-2 specific activation (Stenton *et al.* 2002). Nevertheless, synthetic peptides can be useful as a tool to study PAR-2 activation. Unfortunately, no antagonist is yet available for PAR-2.

<u>Table 1.5.1</u>

PAR	enzyme	Ligand sequence	Agonist peptide
PAR-1	Thrombin	SFLLRN	TFLLR
PAR-2	Trypsin	SLIGKV	SLIGRL
	Tryptase		SLIGKV
	Coagulation factor VIIa, Xa		
PAR-3	Thrombin	TFRGAP	Not available
PAR-4	Thrombin	GYPGQV	GYPGQV
			AYPGKV

Peptide and protease agonists of human PARs (adapted from Steinhoff et al. 2005).

1.5.3 Molecular Biology of PARs

PAR-2 is a protein of 397 amino acids (Nystedt *et al.* 1994), encoded by a gene located at chromosome 5q13 (Nystedt *et al.* 1995). The genes for PAR-1 (Vu *et al.* 1991) and PAR-3 (Ishihara *et al.* 1997) are also located nearby in the same region (Schmidt & Schachner 1998) and with the same exon structure (Kahn *et al.* 1998). However, the gene for PAR-4 is located on a separate chromosome (19p12) (Xu *et al.* 1998). A polymorphism in PAR-2 has been described with a change in an amino acid residue in the second extracellular loop domain, and this difference can alter the sensitivity to peptide agonists (Compton *et al.* 2000).

1.5.4 Expression of PAR-2

PAR-2 is expressed in a wide variety of human tissues, including those of the pancreas, kidney, colon, liver and small intestine (Bohm *et al.* 1996b). This receptor has now been reported to be expressed on a variety of cells including lung fibroblasts (Akers *et al.* 2000), bronchial smooth muscle cells (Cocks *et al.* 1999, Schmidlin *et al.* 2001), airway epithelial cells (D'Andrea *et al.* 1998), vascular smooth muscle cells (Molino *et al.* 1998), vascular endothelial cells (D'Andrea *et al.* 1998, Hamilton *et al.* 2001), colonic myocytes (Corvera *et al.* 1997), skeletal muscle cells (Chinni *et al.* 2000), cardiomyocytes (Sabri *et al.* 2000, Lan *et al.* 2001), keratinocytes (Mascia *et al.* 2002), neurons and astrocytes (D'Andrea *et al.* 1998, Steinhoff *et al.* 2000) and neutrophils (Howells *et al.* 1997).

The patterns of cellular expression of PAR-2 are consistent with the idea that PAR-2 could play roles in inflammation. In mice injected perivenularly with PAR-2 agonists, a delayed onset of inflammation in response to surgical trauma was

observed, which was associated with a delay in leukocyte infiltration (Lindner *et al.* 2000). PAR-2 expression in endothelial cells has been reported to be increased by incubation in vitro with inflammatory mediators such as TNF- α and IL-1 α (Nystedt *et al.* 1996, Hamilton *et al.* 2001). There appears to be a strong link between PAR-2 and inflammation, and upregulation of PAR-2 has been reported in the respiratory epithelium of human airway from patients with asthma (Knight *et al.* 2001). However, the potential roles of PAR-2 in allergic disease remain unclear.

1.5.5 Functions of PAR-2

The proliferation of airway smooth muscle cells (Berger *et al.* 2001b) and mouse skeletal myoblasts (Chinni *et al.* 2000) can be induced by PAR-2 agonist peptides. Activation of PAR-2 can also inhibit ion transport in human epithelial cells (Danahay *et al.* 2001). A key role for PAR-2 in mediating chronic inflammation was suggested by the finding that intra-articular injection of PAR-2 agonists could have potent pro-inflammatory actions, and could prolong swelling and synovial hyperaemia in mice (Ferrell *et al.* 2003).

PAR-2 activation has been reported to induce release of the pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-6 and IL-8 from the A549, BEAS-2B (Asokananthan *et al.* 2002) and 16HBE lung epithelial cells lines (Page *et al.* 2003). In addition, PAR-2 stimulation can induce release of GM-CSF from primary cultures of epithelial cells from the small airways, but not from the human airway epithelial cell line A549 (Vliagoftis *et al.* 2001). Thus, PAR-2 could be involved in modulation of processes of inflammation in the lung. Consistent with a proinflammatory role, has been the finding that IL-6 can be released from an oral epithelial cell line in response to PAR-2 stimulation (Lourbakos *et al.* 2001). Moreover, increased expression of mRNA for
IL-6 and GM-CSF, and the release of IL-8 from human keratinocytes has been reported (Wakita *et al.* 1997, Hou *et al.* 1998).

The effects of PAR-2 activation on tissue remodelling have been little investigated. However, PAR-2 activation can induce the deposition of ECM components and the release of MMP-9 from airway epithelial cells in response to trypsin and a peptide agonist (Vliagoftis *et al.* 2000). In contrast, intranasal administration of a peptide agonist of PAR-2 in mice has been shown to inhibit LPS-induced MMP-2 release into BAL fluid (Moffatt *et al.* 2002).

In the guinea pig, activation of PAR-2 by intravenous injection of a PAR-2 agonist peptide has been reported to induce bronchoconstriction (Ricciardolo *et al.* 2000). No PGE₂ release was found to be induced following PAR-2 activation in an airway smooth muscle cell line, but PAR-2 activation can increase cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ concentrations (Chambers *et al.* 2001), and to result in the contraction of airway smooth muscle cells (Schmidlin *et al.* 2001). On the other hand, it has been reported that activation of PAR-2 in lung parenchymal strips from guinea pigs fails to alter constriction responses in vitro (Saifeddine *et al.* 2001).

In contrast to the observations that PAR-2 activation can induce bronchoconstriction, a bronchoprotective effect has been reported in a mouse model (Lan *et al.* 2001). This has been attributed to PGE₂ dependent relaxation of tracheal smooth muscle. PAR-2 activation has been found to induce inositol triphosphate (IP₃) production, PGE₂ and PGF₁ α generation and arachidonic acid release from PAR-2 transfected epithelial and enterocyte rat cell lines (Kong *et al.* 1997). PAR-2 activation can also induce release of PGE₂ and COX-2 from airway smooth muscle cells (Chambers *et al.* 2003). PGE₂ can inhibit local immune responses and increase blood flow, and this could facilitate faster resolution of local inflammation (Cocks *et al.* 1999). However, there is a report suggesting the possibility of a bronchoprotective effect for PAR-2 activation that does not involve prostaglandin generation. Intravenous administration of a peptide agonist of PAR-2 can inhibit histamine-induced increases in lung resistance and protein leakage in a guinea-pig model, and it was found that this bronchoprotection was not mediated by COX (Cicala *et al.* 2001). In contrast, PAR-2 activation can result in COX-2-dependent proliferation of human foreskin fibroblasts, associated with expression of mRNA for COX-2 (Frungieri *et al.* 2002). The possibility of COX-2, or PGE₂ dependent protective roles for PAR-2 have been suggested, but, there have been major differences in findings with different species and some of these may be related to the experimental system. There remains a pressing need for the investigation of the roles of PAR-2 on cells of the human airways.

1.6 Myofibroblasts

Myofibroblasts were first described in the context of wound repair (Gabbiani *et al.* 1971), and these cells have emerged as key participants in wound healing. Myofibroblasts form a layer in the *lamina reticularis* between the muscle and fibroblast layers in the lung(Gabbiani 1981), and they are important contractile cells (Hinz & Gabbiani 2003). Myofibroblasts express vimentin and α -smooth muscle actin, but not smooth muscle myosin (Zhang *et al.* 1994, Low 1999). TGF- β can promote the morphological and functional differentiation of human dermal fibroblasts into myofibroblasts (Vaughan *et al.* 2000). Increased α -smooth muscle actin expression in rat subcutaneous fibroblasts treated with TGF- β is associated with increased activity in rat fibroblasts (Hinz *et al.* 2001). Myofibroblasts can respond to proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6, and IL-8 to release increased amounts of extracellular matrix proteins such as collagen I and III, and also can release growth factors into the local area (Powell *et al.* 1999).

In the asthmatic lung, the numbers of myofibroblasts have been reported to be increased, and the layer beneath the basement membrane has been found to be thickened in endobronchial biopsy tissues (Roche *et al.* 1989). The thickening is associated with increased deposition of sub-epithelial collagen (Brewster *et al.* 1990). The thickness of the area under the basement membrane is correlated closely with the numbers of fibroblasts and TGF- β expressing cells in the asthmatic airways (Vignola *et al.* 1997). Myofibroblast numbers have also been found to be increased in the allergen induced late response in mild atopic asthma (Gizycki *et al.* 1997).

Numbers of myofibroblast progressively decline at sites of wound healing (Rudolph *et al.* 1977), and these cells have been suggested to undergo apoptosis (Desmouliere *et al.* 1995). IL-1 β can increase expression of PDGF-R α leading to myofibroblast

hyperplasia in the rat lung (Lindoors *et al.* 1998). The rate of myofibroblast proliferation can be affected by levels of PGE₂, which can downregulate IL-1 β expression, and hence PDGF- α receptor expression in rat lung myofibroblasts (Boyle *et al.* 1999). IL-1 β can inhibit the differentiation of rabbit myofibroblasts by inducing apoptosis via inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), and TGF- β can inhibit myofibroblast apoptosis by inhibiting IL-1 β -induced iNOS expression in these cells (Zhang & Phan 1999).

1.6.1 Actions of TGF-β on myofibroblasts

Modulation of the myofibroblast phenotype can be influenced by cytokines, such as TGF- β (Desmouliere *et al.* 1993), PDGF (Bostrom *et al.* 1996), TNF- α (Bachem *et al.* 1993), and GM-CSF (Vyalov *et al.* 1993, Serini & Gabbiani 1999) which may also act as mitogenic factors for fibroblasts. As well as these cytokines, heparin has been reported to induce an increase in α -smooth muscle actin expression (Desmouliere *et al.* 1992a). It has been suggested that IFN- γ can downregulate α -smooth muscle actin expression (Desmouliere *et al.* 1992b).

TGF- β can play an important role in regulating α -smooth muscle actin expression in fibroblasts. Desmouliere *et al.* (1993) reported that induction of α -smooth muscle actin expression was increased in dermal fibroblasts by TGF- β but not by TNF- α and platelet-derived growth factors. TGF- β can also upregulate α -smooth muscle actin expression in liver fibroblasts and induce the proliferation of liver myofibroblasts (Desmouliere *et al.* 1995). A member of the TGF- β supergene family, activin A, can also stimulate the proliferation of a human foetal lung fibroblast cell line and also their differentiation into myofibroblasts (Ohga *et al.* 1996). The extent to which α - smooth muscle actin expression may be increased in response to TGF- β_1 is dependent on tension present between cells and collagen (Arora *et al.* 1999).

TGF- β can convert human lung fibroblasts to the myofibroblast phenotype in a dose dependent manner which is regulated by c-Jun-NH₂-terminal kinase (JNK) (Hashimoto *et al.* 2001). However, regulation of the α -smooth muscle actin promoter by TGF- β in the differentiation of myofibroblasts from fibroblasts is different from that for smooth muscle cells by transfection of the known α -smooth muscle actin promoter (Roy *et al.* 2001).

Levels of TGF- β are increased in BAL fluid collected from asthmatic subjects (Redington *et al.* 1997). The epithelium can release TGF- β_2 during processes of damage and repair, and this is the most likely source of TGF- β in the asthmatic lung and could be responsible for the transformation fibroblasts into myofibroblasts at this site (Vignola *et al.* 1997). Increases in TGF- β_2 levels have been reported from mechanically scraped cultures of an epithelial cell line (Puddicombe *et al.* 2000). TGF- β in a sonicated preparation of eosinophils has been shown to induce increased proliferation, collagen release and lattice contraction in human lung and dermal fibroblast cell lines (Levi-Schaffer *et al.* 1999). Similarly there have been reports of increased α -smooth muscle actin expression in primary cultures of human dermal fibroblasts cultured with eosinophils, which has been attributed to TGF- β released from eosinophils (Phipps *et al.* 2002). As myofibroblasts can themselves release TGF- β , it has been suggested that an autocrine source of TGF- β_2 could lead to the generation of intestinal (McKaig *et al.* 2002) and liver myofibroblasts (Wells *et al.* 2004).

As well as inducing the myofibroblast phenotype, TGF- β has been found to act directly on rat lung fibroblasts to induce the release of the ECM proteins, collagen, fibronectin and elastin (Sime *et al.* 1997). Moreover, TGF- β_1 , can act in concert with endothelin-1 and PDGF-BB to activate the proliferation of primary cultures of bronchial fibroblasts from normal and asthmatic subjects, and to induce collagen synthesis in these cells (Dube *et al.* 2000). In contrast, in another study it has been suggested that TGF- β can decrease collagen I α 1 mRNA expression in human lung fibroblasts through the generation of PGE₂ that can act on EP2 receptors (Choung *et al.* 1998).

1.6.2 Cytokine production by myofibroblasts

The immune system is under the control of a diverse array of cytokines which can induce cell proliferation, and apoptosis, regulate gene expression and have other actions on various cell types. Overlapping functions can be explained in part by sharing of receptor subunits within cytokine receptor families. Cytokines and chemokines can play important roles in bronchial hyperresponsiveness and airway inflammation in murine models of respiratory disease (Vasquez & Spina 2000, Lloyd 2002), as well as in the regulation of mediators involved in tissue fibrosis (Atamas 2002).

Myofibroblasts have been reported to release numerous cytokines. Bronchial subepithelial myofibroblasts from human bronchial biopsies are capable of releasing GM-CSF, IL-6, IL-8 and SCF constitutively (Zhang *et al.* 1996a). Expression of mRNA for IL-1, IL-6, TNF- α , IL-10, TGF- β , GM-CSF, IL-8, and RANTES, has been reported in colonic myofibroblasts of both the mouse (Powell *et al.* 1999) and the human (Rogler *et al.* 2001).

32

The potential actions of tryptase and PAR-2 activation in altering cytokine production in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts have not been investigated. Tryptase has been shown to stimulate IL-8 release from epithelial cells (Cairns & Walls 1996) and endothelial cells (Compton *et al.* 1998), IL-6 and IL-8 release from human peripheral blood eosinophils (Temkin *et al.* 2002) and TGF- β from human airway smooth muscle (Berger *et al.* 2003). PAR-2 stimulation has been found to induce GM-CSF release from airway epithelial cells (Vliagoftis *et al.* 2001), IL-6 and IL-8 release from human dermal endothelial cells (Shpacovitch *et al.* 2002, Uehara *et al.* 2003).

It will be important to extend such studies to the fibroblast and myofibroblast. In the present studies, IL-6, IL-8 and GM-CSF were selected for particular investigation on account of their potential importance as fibroblast and myofibroblast-derived cytokines that are released and synthesised in response to various stimuli, and because it has been suggested that these cytokines have actions on fibroblasts consistent with roles in remodelling. Moreover, IL-6, IL-8 and GM-CSF can have regulatory actions on mast cells (Valent 1995, Welker *et al.* 2001, Conti *et al.* 2002), providing a further reason to study the effects of tryptase and PAR-2 stimulation on the production of these cytokines.

1.6.2.1 IL-6

IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine with a molecular weight of 26 kDa. A number of human cell types produce IL-6 in addition to fibroblasts, including T- cells, B-cells monocytes, epithelial cells keratinocytes, endothelial cells, mesangial cells and some tumour cells. IL-6 can regulate the growth and differentiation of various cells with

major activities on the immune system and inflammation (Kelley 1990, Kishimoto 1989). The multiple actions of IL-6 are integrated in a complex cytokine network in which IL-6 can have synergistic or antagonistic activities with other cytokines, which include IL-1, IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, GM-CSF and IFN-y. This is consistent with IL-6 being involved in inflammatory processes. IL-6 can induce the final maturation of B cells into antibody-producing cells, stimulate T-cell growth and differentiation of cytotoxic T-cells, and it is a potent growth factor for myeloma and plasmacytoma This cytokine is an endogenous pyrogen with IL-1 and TNF- α , and can cells. provoke acute phase reactions in response to inflammation (Heinrich et al. 1990). IL-6 is a cytokine that is crucial for mast cell maturation. In vitro, the differentiation of blood CD34+ cells into mast cells induced by stem cell factor (SCF), can lead in the presence of IL-6 to an increase in the proportion of chymase positive cells and increased intracellular histamine levels, when compared with cells treated with SCF alone (Conti et al. 2002). IL-6 can prevent mast cell apoptosis (Kambe et al. 2001) and IL-6 and SCF from a lung epithelial cell line have been reported to induce tryptase production by the HMC-1 mast cell line (Pompen et al. 2000). There has been some controversy over the actions of IL-6 on fibroblasts. IL-6 can have a suppressive effect on the proliferation of alveolar fibroblasts (Shahar et al. 1996), but oncostatin M, a member of the IL-6 family has been reported to induce procollagen synthesis, inhibit spontaneous apoptosis, and also to suppress mitogenic activity in lung fibroblasts (Scaffidi et al. 2002).

1.6.2.2 IL-8

IL-8 is a polypeptide isolated originally from LPS stimulated monocytes (Schroder *et al.* 1987). It was first described as a neutrophil chemotactic agent but subsequently found to be chemotactic also for T cells and eosinophils (Shute 1994, Erger & Casale

1995). Antibodies against IL-8 can block neutrophilic inflammation in various models (Kunkel *et al.* 1991, Alam 1997). IL-8 has a molecular weight of approximately 8 kDa and is produced not only by fibroblasts but also by a variety of other cell types including monocytes, neutrophils, endothelial cells, epithelial cells and lymphocytes (Standifoid *et al.* 1990, Strieter *et al.* 1989, Alam 1997). Established stimuli for the release of IL-8 from these cells are IL-1, TNF- α , IFN- γ and LPS. IL-8 levels have been found to be increased in bronchial tissue and in serum in severe asthma (Shute *et al.* 1997) and cystic fibrosis (Koller *et al.* 1997).

1.6.2.3 GM-CSF

Human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulation factor (GM-CSF) is produced in response to IL-1, TNF- α and LPS by macrophages, endothelial cells, epithelial cells, smooth muscle cells and activated T cells, as well as by fibroblasts (Hamilton 2002). Increased levels of GM-CSF have been found in BAL fluid from the asthmatic airways (Mattoli *et al.* 1991). GM-CSF can enhance the expression of adhesion molecules on epithelial cells and endothelial cells, prime granulocytes to release substantial amounts of mediators on stimulation, and prolong the survival of inflammatory cells (Lopez *et al.* 1986, Soloperto *et al.* 1991, Wislez *et al.* 2001). This cytokine could promote the accumulation and activation of eosinophils and other inflammatory cells (Soloperto *et al.* 1991). The actions of GM-CSF on mast cells could be important. GM-CSF has been shown to downregulate β -tryptase expression in HMC-1 cells (Finotto *et al.* 1996) and in normal cord blood-derived mast cells (Welker *et al.* 2001).

1.7 Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

The ECM is a network of macromolecules of protein and proteoglycans, and includes collagens, fibronectin and elastin, that are produced from cells adjacent to the scaffolding (Hay 1981, Moseley *et al.* 2004). Complex interactions between cells and the ECM regulate processes of remodelling, cytokine availability, inflammation and aging. In airway inflammation, the normal balance of the ECM components is altered, and in asthma the increased deposition of ECM components can contribute to narrowing of the airways and prolonged cell responses (Johnson 2001).

There are twenty distinct collagens that have been identified on the basis of gene sequence analysis in vertebrates (Brown &Timpl 1995). Collagen has a triple helical conformation, with single strands of a Gly-X-Y triplet repeat, where X is proline and Y is hydroxyproline (Prockop *et al.* 1979). Collagens I, III and IV are the main constitutents of the ECM.

Matrix metalloproteases (MMP) are capable of degrading collagens and other ECM components (Birkedal-Hansen *et al.* 1993). MMP has a catalytic domain that contains a Zn^{2+} active site, and so far approximately 30 different MMP have been described (Parks & Shapiro 2001). MMP are secreted as proenzymes (the latent form) and require activation (Nagase & Woessner 1999). Increased levels of MMP-2 and MMP-9 have been reported in supernatants of lung epithelial cell monolayers following LPS administration (taken as a model of acute lung injury) (Yao *et al.* 1996) and also in BAL fluid of subjects following cardiopulmonary bypass surgery (Eichler *et al.* 2003). MMP-2 has a molecular weight of 72 kDa (Okada *et al.* 1990), and MMP-9 a molecular weight of 92 kDa in the latent form. Both are known as gelatinases and they are capable of degrading collagens I, IV and V (Welgus *et al.* 1990).

The ratio between MMPs and their endogenous inhibitors, tissue inhibitors of metalloprotease (TIMP), controls the degree of ECM deposition. There are four TIMPs to have been described TIMP-1 TIMP-2, TIMP-3 and TIMP-4. These have molecular weights of 22 kDa to 30 kDa (Gomez *et al.* 1997). TIMPs bind to the catalytic site of MMP in a 1:1 molar ratio, and TIMP-1 can form a complex with pro MMP-9 (Ogata *et al.* 1995) and TIMP-2 with proMMP-2 (Itoh *et al.* 1995). The MMP/TIMP ratio has been found to be decreased in BAL fluid from asthmatic airways. The ratio is lower in severe disease, and is associated with extracellular matrix deposition (Mautino *et al.* 1997). MMP-9/TIMP-1 ratios in sputum have been reported to be correlated with airflow obstruction in asthma (Vignola *et al.* 1998). Similarly, a higher expression of TIMP has been observed in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (Selman *et al.* 2000).

TIMP-1, TIMP-2, TIMP-3, TIMP-4, MMP-2 and MMP-9 have been detected by immunohistochemistry in human lung fibroblasts and myofibroblasts (Selman *et al.* 2000). Expression of mRNA for these proteases and inhibitors has also been found in these cells, but greater amounts have been found in myofibroblasts, and in the case of MMP-9 in myofibroblasts and not fibroblasts (Ramos *et al.* 2001). The extent to which tryptase and agonists of PAR-2 may modulate levels of MMP, TIMP and other components of the ECM from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts needs investigation.

1.8 Aim

The aim of this study has been to investigate the actions of mast cell tryptase on fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. In particular the objective has been to systematically examine the effects of this major mast cell product on:

- 1. Processes of mitogenesis and cell proliferation
- 2. The generation and release of cytokines
- 3. The ability to stimulate the production and release of MMP and components of the extracellular matrix.

In seeking to assess the roles of tryptase as a stimulus for altered fibroblast and myofibroblast function, the potential contribution of protease activated receptor 2 was investigated.



Fig. 1.5.1

Structure of the protease activated receptor, diagramatic presentation of 7 transmembrane domains. Intracellular loop (ILC) and extracellular loop (ECL) are shown (adapted from Dery *et al.* 1998).



Fig. 1.5.2

Diagram to illustrate mechanism of PAR-2 (GPCR) activation by tryptase (adapted from Dery *et al.* 1998).



Fig. 1.5.3

DAG - diacylglycerol

ERK - extracellular signal-regulated kinase

IP₃ - inositol triphosphate

MEK - mitogen activated protease kinase kinase

PIP₂ - phosphatidylinositol 4, 5,-bisphosphate

PKC - protein kinase C

PLC - phospholipase C

Diagram to illustrate signal transduction by GPCR (PAR-2) activation, $G\alpha q$ model (adapted from Dery *et al.* 1998).

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Materials

FITC conjugated mouse monoclonal anti-human α -smooth muscle actin (clone 1A4), mouse monoclonal anti-human vimentin (clone V9) and mouse monoclonal antihuman myosin (smooth) (clone hSM-V), N-benzoyl-D,L-arginine-p-nitroanilide (BAPNA), benzamidine, butyl agarose, cellulose membrane dialysis tubing, glycerol, PCR primers, Sephacryl S-300 gel filtration chromatography, transforming growth factor (TGF)- β_2 , tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α , saponin, Tween 20, NaCl, (NH₄)₂SO₄, 7-amino-actinomycin-D (7-AAD), leupeptin and trypsin (human pancreas) were from Sigma-Aldrich, (Poole, Dorset). EDTA, MES and Tris were from BDH (Poole). Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM), foetal calf serum (FCS), Hank's balanced salts solution (HBSS), insulin-transferrin-selenium supplement (ITS), minimum essential medium (MEM), penicillin-streptomycinglutamine mixture (PSG), Trizol, typsin-EDTA were from GIBCO BRL (Paisley, Scotland). Acrylamide, ammonium persulphate, nitrocellurose membrane, protein molecular marker, silver stain reagents, sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) and TEMED were from Bio-Rad (Hemel, Hempstead, Hertfordshire). Horseradish proxidase (HRP) conjugated rabbit anti-mouse immunoglobulin antibody and HRP conjugated rabbit anti-sheep immunoglobulin antibody were from Dako Cytomation (Cambridge). Sheep monoclonal anti-human matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) 2 and MMP-9 were from The Binding Site (Birmingham). The chemiluminescent substrate for western blotting was from Pierce (Chester, Cheshire). Centricon C-30 concentrators, Cytofluor fluorescent plates and 0.45 µm filter papers were from Millipore (Bedford MA, USA). Heparin agarose was from Kem-En-Tec (Copenhagen, Denmark). Benzamidine agarose was from Affinity Chromatography

43

(Ballasalla, Isle of Man). Filter paper (1, 50, GF/F and GF/A) was from Whatman (Maidstone, Kent). The enzyme linked-immunosorbant assay (ELISA) kits, CytoSet TM (IL-6, IL-8 and GM-CSF) were from Biosource International (Nivelles, Belgium). Cell culture flasks, cell culture plates and 8-chamber slides were from NUNC (Naperville, IL, USA). Cell Titre® AQueous Solution, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) assay kits, PCR master mix, DNAse and the Reverse Transcription System were from Promega (Southampton, UK). The GAPDH probe conjugated with VIC fluorophore was from Applied Biosystems (Warrington, Cheshire). FAM (6carboxyfluorescein) fluorophore Tagman PCR probes, Tagman PCR primers and Taqman PCR core kit were from Eurogenic (Seraing, Belgium). ³H]-thymidine, ³H]-proline and ECL film were from Amersham (Little Chalfont, Bucks). The scintillation solution, Micro Scint 40 was from Perkin Elmer (Beaconsfield, Bucks). The PAR agonist and control peptides were prepared by the University of Calgary peptide synthesis facility (Calgary, Alberta, Canada). The tryptase specific mouse monoclonal antibody AA5 (Walls et al. 1990) and PAR-2 specific monoclonal antibody (P2A) (Aslam et al. 2002) were prepared in the Immunopharmacology Group, University of Southampton. The tryptase inhibitors, APC366 and APC1390 were kindly provided by Celera Genomics (South San Francisco, CA, USA). A MMP-2 and MMP-9 positive cell supernatant prepared as described (Pender et al. 1997) was kindly provided by Dr S. Pender (Infection, Inflammation and Respiration Division, University of Southampton).

Equipment and Software

The ABI PRISM ® 7700 Sequence Detection System, GeneAmp PCR system 9600 and Primer Express software were from Applied Biosystems. The Top Count NXTTM microplate scintillation and luminescence counter was from Packard BioScience (Bucks, UK). The ThermoMAX platereader was from Molecular Devices (Sunnyvale, CA, USA). The fluorescence spectrophotometer was from Photon Technologies (Oxford). The band quantifing software, GeneGenius was from SynGene (Cambridge).

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Purification and characterisation of tryptase

2.2.1.1 Purification of recombinant tryptase

Recombinant tryptase was obtained from a *Pichia pastoris* expression system. A crude extract of the cells in 2 M ammonium sulphate buffer (kindly provided by Dr. Peter Kilby, Roche, Welwyn Garden City) was passed through a 0.45 μ m filter. The extract was loaded on to a butyl agarose chromatography column of 50 cm³ (diameter = 2 cm) equilibrated with buffer A (2.0 M (NH₄)₂SO₄, 0.5 M NaCl, 10% glycerol, 20 mM MES, pH 6.1), and tryptase was eluted with a linear gradient with buffer B (2 M NaCl, 10 mM MES pH 6.1) at a flow rate of 1 ml/min. The tryptase enzymatic activity (section 2.2.1.3) and protein content (section 2.2.1.4) of each fraction was measured, and fractions with high tryptase activity were pooled.

The pooled sample was applied to a benzamidine agarose chromatography column of 5 cm^3 (diameter = 1 cm) equilibrated with buffer 2.0 M NaCl and 10 mM MES, pH 6.1. Bound tryptase was eluted with 0.15 M benzamidine, 2.0 M NaCl and 10 mM MES, pH 6.1 at a flow rate of 0.5 ml/min and collected into 2 ml fractions. The protein content was assessed by measuring the absorbance at 280 nm for each fraction and those with the highest absorbance were pooled. The volume was reduced to approximately 1 ml using Centricon C-30 centrifugal concentrators and the concentration of benzamidine in the sample reduced by diafiltration.

Sephacryl S-300 gel filtration chromatography was applied to the partially purified preparation and the tryptase was eluted with a buffer consisting of 2.0 M NaCl and 10 mM MES, pH 6.1. The presence of tryptase in the fractions collected was

detected enzymatically and the protein content assessed, and fractions with high tryptase activity were pooled, concentrated as described above and stored in 50 μ l aliquots at -70°C. All purification steps were carried out at 4°C.

2.2.1.2 Purification of human lung tryptase

Tryptase was purified from approximately 500 g human lung tissue obtained *post mortem* as previously described (Smith *et al.* 1984). Frozen lung tissue was defrosted and excess blood was decanted. Lung tissue was blended with low salt buffer (0.1 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.05 M MES, pH 6.1), centrifuged at 40,000 × g for 30 min, and the process repeated until the supernatant became clear (free of haemoglobin), and tryptase was extracted using a high salt buffer (2.0 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.05 M MES, pH 6.1). Both low salt buffer and high salt buffer extracts were tested for tryptase activity. The high salt buffer extract was filtered progressively through 1, 50, GF/F, GF/A (Whatman) and 0.45 µm filters before dialysis in cellulose membrane dialysis tubing against 0.4 M NaCl and 10 mM MES (pH6.1). The dialysed extract was again passed through GF/F, GF/A and 0.45 µm filters.

The extract was loaded on to a heparin agarose column of 135 cm³ (diameter = 3.6 cm) equilibrated with low salt buffer. Tryptase was eluted with an increasing concentration gradient of NaCl from 0.4 M to 2.0 M in 10 mM MES, pH 6.1 at a flow rate of 1.8 ml/min, and collected into 5 ml fractions. The tryptase activity and protein content of each fraction were measured, and fractions with high tryptase activity were pooled.

The pooled sample was purified further by sequential application of benzamidine agarose and S-300 gel chromatography, as described for the purification of the recombinant tryptase. Potential contamination of preparations with chymase or elastase was investigated by the enzyme assay.

2.2.1.3 Enzyme assay

The enzymatic activity of tryptase was measured using the peptide substrate *N*-benzoyl-D,L-arginine-*p*-nitroanilide (BAPNA) (McEuen *et al.* 1996). To each well of the microtitre plate, 90 μ l of the assay mixture (1mM BAPNA in standard tryptase buffer 1M glycerol, 0.1 M Tris, pH 8.0) was added to 10 μ l of enzyme. The change in absorbance was measured at 410 nm for 10 minutes in a ThermoMAX platereader in the kinetic mode. The OD value was converted into milliunits (mU) per ml according to the equation mOD/min × 3.888 (mU/ml)/(mOD/min) (Appendix 1), where 1 U represents the enzymatic activity required to hydrolyse 1 μ mol of substrate per minute at room temperature. Chymase and elastase were measured in a similar manner using the substrates, 0.7 mM *N*-succinyl-Ala-Ala-Pro-Phe-*p*-nitroanilide and 0.5 mM *N*-succinyl-Ala-Ala-Pro-Val-*p*-nitroanilide, respectively, in 1.5 M NaCl, 0.3 M Tris, pH 8.0.

2.2.1.4 Protein assay

The protein present was measured spectophotometrically at 280 nm. The concentration of purified tryptase (w/v) was calculated using the extinction coefficient for purified tryptase E_{280nm} ^{1mg/ml} = 2.81 (Smith *et al.* 1984).

2.2.1.5 Tryptase characterisation

The purity of extracted tryptase was assessed by sodium dodecyl sulphate – polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). Tryptase was boiled 5 minutes with a loading buffer (1% SDS, 20% β 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.001% bromophenol blue and 40% glycerol) and run on a 10% gel (375 mM Tris, 2.5 μ M TEMED, 10% acrylamide, 0.1% SDS, 0.05% ammonium persulphate, pH8.9-9.1) followed by silver staining. The SDS-PAGE gel was fixed in 40% methanol and 10% acetic acid (v/v). The gel was then incubated sequentially with fixative, oxidiser, silver stain reagent and developer reagent according to the manufacturer's protocol (Bio-Rad).

The protein was confirmed as tryptase by western blotting using the tryptase specific monoclonal antibody AA5. Tryptase was transferred from SDS-PAGE gel to a nitrocellurose membrane at 30 V at 4°C in transfer buffer with 48 mM Tris (pH8.3), 3.9 mM glycine, 0.0375% SDS and 20% methanol over 90 min. The membrane was blocked with 1% BSA in PBST (PBS with 0.2% Tween - 20) and incubated with AA5 diluted 1: 2000. HRP-conjugated rabbit antibody against mouse immunoglobulins antibody was applied as the secondary antibody and the blot was exposed on ECL film using chemiluminescent substrate.

Active site titration was performed using 4-methylumbelliferyl-*p*-guanidinobenzoate (MUGB) (Jameson *et al.* 1973). MUGB (10 μ l of 20 μ M) was added to 90 μ l of enzyme. Fluorescence was measured at 360 nm excitation and 460 nm emission with four scans at one minute intervals using a fluorescent plate reader, (Cytofluor).

2.2.2 Cell culture

Cultures of primary human lung fibroblasts derived from lung biopsy tissue from normal and asthmatic volunteers were prepared as described by Richter et al. (2001) kindly supplied for these studies by Dr Audrey Richter and Dr Mark Buckley (Table 2.2.1). Local Research Ethics Committee approval was granted for this work. Primary cell cultures were grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM), with 10% foetal calf serum (FCS) and a penicillin-streptomycin-glutamine mixture (PSG). Cells were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ in a humidified atmosphere. Cells used in experiments were at passage 4 to 8, except mitogenesis and proliferation studies that used up to passage 12. The MRC-5 fibroblast cell line (ECACC, Wilts) was maintained in Minimum Essential Medium (MEM) with 10% FCS and PSG. Trypsin-EDTA (20 mM trypsin and 540 µM EDTA) was used to detach cells from the container prior to passage. Trypan blue exclusion was used to determine cell viability, and cells counted using an Improved Neubauer haemacytometer. Myofibroblasts were prepared from fibroblasts which had been transformed by addition of transforming growth factor TGF- β_2 (1 ng/ml) for 72 It was estimated that 73% of fibroblasts were transformed into the hours. myofibroblast phenotype as assessed by the expression of α -smooth muscle actin (detected by immunocytochemistry).

2.2.3 Immunocytochemistry

Eight chamber slides were seeded with 1×10^5 cells/ml (300 µl/chamber) in the presence or absence of TGF- β_2 (1 ng/ml) for a minimum of 72 hours. After air drying overnight, slides were washed with PBS, and fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde. Cells were permeabilised with methanol and 0.5% saponin and

0.1% Tween 20. Slides were blocked with goat serum, and fluoroscein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated monoclonal antibodies were added specific for α -smooth muscle actin (antibody clone 1A4), vimentin (V9), myosin (hSM-V), and PAR-2 (P2A). The nuclei were stained with 7-amino-actinomycin-D (7-AAD) to facilitate cell counts. A computerised image analysis system (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) was employed to quantify the staining.

2.2.4 Cell proliferation

2.2.4.1 MTS assay

Fibroblasts were cultured to confluency as described above. Cells were detached by using trypsin-EDTA solution and counted following addition of trypan blue dye to prepare a 5×10^4 cell/ml stock in cell culture medium. Cells were seeded into a 96 well cell culture plate at 100 µl/well (5,000 cells/well) with or without addition of TGF- β_2 (1ng/ml). A standard curve was prepared by seeding cells at 0 (medium only), 2500, 5000, 7500, and 10,000 cells/well in triplicate (Appendix 2). At 72 h following seeding, cells were washed twice with Hank's balanced salts solution (HBSS) without Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} and the medium was changed to serum free media (DMEM with insulin-transferrin-selenium supplement (ITS) and PSG). After maintaining cells for 24 h in serum free medium, the stimulus (prepared in serum free medium) was added. Medium alone was added as the negative control, and 10% FCS and 5 ng/ml epidermal growth factor (EGF) as the positive controls. The concentration range of tryptase employed in the cell proliferation studies was 3, 10, 30 and 100 mU/ml. Tryptase (100 mU/ml) was heat inactivated at 60°C for 30 minutes using a thermocycler. After 48 h, Cell Titre® AQueous Solution was added and incubated for 1 h before reading at 490 nm. Cell number was determined from

OD using standard curves (Appendix 2). Cell proliferation was expressed as a percentage of the cell number without the stimulus.

2.2.4.2 [³H]-thymidine incorporation

Fibroblasts were cultured to confluency as described above. Cells were detached by trypsin-EDTA and counted with trypan blue to prepare a 5×10^4 cell/ml stock in cell culture medium. Cells were seeded into a 96 well cell culture plate at 100 µl/well with or without TGF- β_2 (1 ng/ml). At 72 h following seeding, cells were washed twice with HBSS and the medium was changed to serum free media (DMEM with ITS and PSG). After maintaining cells for 24 h in serum free media, the stimulus (prepared in serum free media) was added. In cell stimulation experiments, medium alone was added as the negative control, and 10% FCS and 5 ng/ml EGF as the positive controls. Human lung tryptase was applied at 1 and 10 mU/ml, and recombinant tryptase at 3, 10, 30 and 100 mU/ml in both cases with heparin added (1:1 wt/wt) to help stabilise activity. Tryptase activity was inhibited by treatment with 50 µM leupeptin, 100 µM APC366 or 10 µM APC1390 or by heat inactivation. SLIGKV-NH₂, the human PAR-2 agonist peptides were tested at 1, 10 and 100 µM and LSIGKV-NH₂, at non-PAR-2 activating peptide included as a control, at 100 μ M. At 48 h after stimulation, 0.5 μ Ci/well of [³H]-thymidine was added and incubated for 8 h in a cell culture incubator. Supernatants were removed, and cells were fixed in 5% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) at 4°C for 10 min. Cells were washed twice with TCA and methanol, and further disrupted by addition of 40 µl/well of 0.2 M NaOH. The scintillation solution Micro Scint 40 was added at 150 µl/well for counting by the Top Count NXTTM microplate scintillation and luminescence counter. Cell mitogenesis was expressed as a percentage of the control with medium alone.

2.2.4.3 Cytotoxicity assays

Cytotoxicity was assessed by measurement of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) which is a stable cytosolic enzyme that is released upon cell lysis. The colorimetric LDH activity assay kit was used to determine LDH in cell supernatants. Results were expressed as a percentage of the LDH measured in cell lysates.

2.2.5 Cytokines and mediator synthesis and release

Fibroblasts were cultured to confluency as described above. Cells were detached by trypsin-EDTA and a 2×10^5 cell/ml stock prepared. The preparation was added to a 6 well culture plate with or without addition of TGF- β_2 (1 ng/ml). At 72 h, cells were washed twice with HBSS and serum free medium added (DMEM with ITS and PSG). After 24 h in serum free medium, the stimulus (prepared in serum free medium) was added to cells. In cell stimulation experiments, medium alone was added as the negative control, and 10% FCS and 1 ng/ml TNF- α as positive controls. Tryptase, PAR-2 activating peptides and appropriate controls were added at concentrations similar to these used in cell proliferation studues. For other experiments, cell supernatants were collected 24 h after the stimulation.

2.2.5.1 Extraction and sampling of mRNA

After removing supernatant, cells were washed twice with HBSS and total RNA was extracted from cultured cells using Trizol according to the manufacturer's instructions (GIBCO BRL). The preparation of Trizol lysed cells was mixed with chloroform, and RNA was extracted in the aqueous phase after centrifugation at $12,000 \times g$ for 15 min. The RNA was precipitated with isopropanol, incubating at -20° C for 30 min, and then centrifuged at 12,000g for 15 min. The RNA pellet was washed with 80% cold ethanol (v/v) twice and air dried. The RNA pellet was resuspended in H₂O and incubated with DNase for 1h at 37°C. DNase activity was inhibited by the addition of "stop solution" and DNase inactivated by incubating at 65° C for 10 min. The concentration of RNA was assessed by measuring the absorption at 260 nm, and the purity was assessed by measuring OD₂₆₀/OD₂₈₀. RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA using the Reverse Transcription System according to the manufacturer's instructions (Promega). One µg of RNA was reverse transcribed using reverse transcriptase AMV, and the oligo d(T) primer incubated with dNTP and RNase inhibitor at 42°C for 60 min. All enzymes were inactivated by incubation at 94°C for 3 min.

2.2.5.2 Quantitative PCR for cytokine mRNA expression (TaqMan PCR)

The expression of cytokine mRNA in response to different stimuli was assessed by measuring the release of fluorescence in quantitative PCR (Fig. 2.2.1). TaqMan PCR was performed using an ABI PRISM ® 7700 Sequence Detection System with thermal cycle conditions of 50°C for 2 min, 95°C for 10 min and 50 cycles of 95°C for 15 sec / 60°C for 1 min.

The primers and probe set for GAPDH were from the published TaqMan PCR protocols (Applied Biosystems). Other primers and probes were designed by Primer Express software, with restrictions of product size (\approx 70 bp), annealing temperature of primers (\approx 60°C) and probe (\approx 70°C), % of GC in the range of 20-80%, and no runs of more than three consecutive G (Table 2.2.2). The GAPDH probe was

conjugated with VIC fluorophore, and other probes were conjugated with FAM (6carboxyfluorescein) fluorophore. The cDNA sample was added to PCR master mix with 900 nM primers and 250 nM probe. The efficiency and the limit of detection of each set of primers and probes was investigated by performing serial dilutions of the template. The efficiency was confirmed to be similar with gradients of curves from -3.15 to -3.31, and an efficiency of 100% to 108%. The specificity of each set of primers was confirmed by the presence of a product of the predicted size on the agarose gel.

Expression of mRNA was standardised with GAPDH and expressed relative to the medium control at each time point calculated according to the equation below, where Ct represents cycle number at threshold (based on amplification plot of fluorescence production during the PCR cycle), x and y represent different treatments of sample and z represents the target gene.

 $\Delta Ctx (z) = Ctx (z) - Ctx (GAPDH)$ $\Delta \Delta Cty (z) = \Delta Cty (z) - \Delta Ctx (z)$ relative value = 2^{- $\Delta\Delta Cty$}
% of control = relative value × 100
For control $\Delta Cty (z) = \Delta Ctx (z)$ $\Delta\Delta Cty (z) = 0$ relative value = 2^{- $\Delta\Delta Cty$}
= 2⁻⁰
= 1

2.2.5.3 ELISA measurement of cytokine release

Cytokine release was measured in cell supernatants using specific enzyme linkedimmunosorbant assays (ELISA) according to the manufacturer's instructions (Biosource). Polystyrene microtitre plates were coated with the monoclonal antibody specific for the cytokine of interest and sample added in a defined volume. The cytokine was detected by addition of biotinylated secondary antibody and streptavidin conjugated horseradish peroxidase added. Colour development using 25 mM TMB (tetramethyl benzidine) as the substrate was measured reading at 450 nm after the reaction was stopped by the addition of 2 M H₂SO₄. Cytokine concentrations were determined from a standard curve with the cytokine serially diluted in two fold series from a top concentration of 1 μ g/ml. The limits of detection of the ELISA cytokines were in each case to be 10 pg/ml (the lowest standard giving an absorbance greater than that of the zero standard plus two standard deviations).



Fig. 2.2.1

Diagramatic illustration of the mechanism of fluorescent (reporter) release in quantitative real time PCR by 5'-3' nuclease activity of AmpliTaq GoldTM during one extension phase of PCR (adapted from Lyamichev *et al.* 1993)

2.2.6 Extracellular Matrix Protein Production and Release

2.2.6.1 Collagen assay

Fibroblasts were cultured to confluency as described above. Cells were detached by trypsin-EDTA and counted with trypan blue to prepare a 1×10^5 cell/ml stock in cell culture medium. Cells were seeded into a 24 well cell culture plate at 500 µl/well with or without TGF- β_2 (1 ng/ml). At 72 h following seeding, cells were washed twice with HBSS and the medium was changed to serum free media (DMEM with ITS and PSG). After maintaining for 24 h in serum free media, the stimulus (prepared in serum free media) was added to cells. In cell stimulation experiments, medium alone was added as the negative control, and 10% FCS and 5 ng/ml TNF- α as the positive controls. Tryptase and PAR-2 activating peptides and their controls were added as described for the cell proliferation studies. Following stimulation, 1 μ Ci/well of [³H]-proline was added and cells incubated for 24 h. Cells were fixed in 5% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) at 4°C for 10 min and washed twice with TCA. Cell supernatants were treated with and without collagenase. Protein in supernatants was precipitated by addition of 20% TCA using gelatine as a carrier, and tubes were centrifuged at $12,000 \times g$ for 15 minutes at 4°C. The pellet obtained was washed twice with 5% TCA. Cells and protein pellet were dissolved with 0.2 M NaOH and scintillation solution, Micro Scint 40, was added for counting using a Top Count NXTTM microplate scintillation and luminescence counter. Collagen production was expressed as a percentage of the medium control.

A 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel was prepared with 1 mg/ml gelatine. Cell supernatants were loaded as described above for SDS-PAGE without 2-mercaptoethanol and boiling. Trypsin was used as a positive control. The gel was washed twice with 2.5% Triton-X100 and incubated in the zymography buffer (50 mM Tris, 10 mM CaCl₂ and 1 μ M ZnCl₂, pH adjusted to 7.5 with HCl) at 37°C overnight. Staining was with Coomassie Blue staining solution (0.25% Coomassie Brilliant Blue R250, 10% acetic acid, 45% methanol) and destained with 10% acetic acid and 25% methanol. Band density was quantified using GeneGenius software.

2.2.6.3 Western blotting

The protein was confirmed as MMP by western blotting using the MMP-2 and MMP-9 specific monoclonal antibodies as described earlier in tryptase characterisation. Protein was transferred from SDS-PAGE gel to a nitrocellurose membrane. The membrane was blocked with 1% BSA in PBST (PBS with 0.2% Tween-20) and incubated with anti-MMP-2 and anti-MMP-9 antibodies in 1:750. HRP-conjugated rabbit antibody against sheep immunoglobulins antibody was applied as the secondary antibody and the blot was exposed on ECL film using chemiluminescent substrate.

59

2.2.7 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

PCR was performed by GeneAmp PCR system 9600 on cDNA from purified total RNA of challenged cells using primer listed in Table. 2.2.2 and *Taq* DNA polymerase. For collagens α I and α III, TIMP-1 and TIMP-2, a set of primers were used, which have been described earlier (Nusgens *et al.* 2001). Amplification conditions were as follows:

APRT primers

$$30 \text{ cycles} \begin{cases} 94^{\circ}\text{C for 2 min} \\ 94^{\circ}\text{C for 30 sec} \\ 55^{\circ}\text{C for 30 sec} \\ 72^{\circ}\text{C for 30 sec} \\ 72^{\circ}\text{C for 5 min} \end{cases}$$

PAR-2 primers

$$92^{\circ}C \text{ for } 2 \text{ min}$$

$$30 \text{ cycles} \begin{cases} 94^{\circ}C \text{ for } 30 \text{ sec} \\ 55^{\circ}C \text{ for } 30 \text{ sec} \\ 72^{\circ}C \text{ for } 30 \text{ sec} \\ 72^{\circ}C \text{ for } 5 \text{ min} \end{cases}$$

All other primers

$$30 \text{ cycles} \begin{cases} 94^{\circ}\text{C for 2 min} \\ 94^{\circ}\text{C for 15 sec} \\ 66^{\circ}\text{C for 20 sec} \\ 78^{\circ}\text{C for 10 sec} \\ 72^{\circ}\text{C for 5 min} \end{cases}$$

The amplified products and the base pair ladder marker were separated by electrophoresis on a 1.5% agarose TAE buffer gel with loading buffer. The bands were visualised by ethidium bromide under a UV illuminator and analysed using GeneGenius software. The result was standardised with the APRT signal.

2.2.8 Measuring release of intracellular calcium

Cells were detached from the culture vessel using a Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} free HBSS based non-enzymatic cell dissociation buffer. The cells were conditioned and loaded with dye, Fluo-3 acetoxymethyl ester (Fluo-3 AM) in challenge buffer (HBSS with Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ supplemented with 20 mM HEPES pH7.2, 0.1% BSA and 250 µM sulphinyrazone) in the dark. The acetoxymethyl side chain allows the dye to diffuse into the cells, and its cleavage by the endogenous de-esterified enzyme present in the cytoplasm stops the diffusion of dye from out of the cells. Sulphinyrazone was added to inhibit the transporter which actively pumped the dye out of the cells. Cells were suspended in a challenge buffer and aliquoted $(1 \times 10^6 \text{ cells in each cuvette})$ for The contents of cuvettes were mixed continuously using a magnetic challenge. stirrer. Fluorescence was measured at an excitation wavelength of 488 nm, and an emission wavelength of 530 nm using a fluorescence spectrophotometer. Fluorescence was monitored and the stimulus added to cells once a steady baseline was established. Calcium ionophore A23187 was added to cells to confirm the calcium releasability of cells, and 0.1% triton X-100 was added in order to lyse the cells to obtain the maximum calcium content.

61

Calcium concentration can be calculated from fluorescence (F) by the equation

$$\left[Ca^{2+}\right] = K_D \times \left[\frac{F_x - F_{\min}}{F_{\max} - F_x}\right]$$

 K_D = calcium dissociation constant

= 390 nM for Fluo-3 AM (Nair et al. 2002)

 $F_{min} = 100 \text{ mM EDTA}$

 $F_{max} = 0.1\%$ Triton X-100

2.2.9 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using PRIZM software (GraphPad Software, CA, USA). When data were not normally distributed, the Kruskal-Wallis test for multiple comparisons was performed first, and if significant differences were detected Dunnett's test was applied to pre-planned comparisons of interest. Student's t test was used where sample were normally distributed. Spearman's coefficient (r_s) of rank correlation was applied to assess associations between treatments. Values of P<0.05 were considered significant.
Table 2.2.1

Clinical details of donors of fibroblasts

Non-asthmatics

	Age at		PC ₂₀	FEV ₁	Inhaled	β2	
Prep.	Bronchoscopy	Gender	(mg/ml)	(%predicted)	Steroid	agonist	Duration
1	21	М	>32	104	_	-	-
2	20	М	>32	118	-	-	-
3	28	F	>32	108	-	-	-
4	21	F	>32	97	-	-	-
mean	22.5		>32	106.8			

Asthmatics

	Age at		PC20	FEV ₁	Inhaled	β ₂	
Prep.	Bronchoscopy	Gender	(mg/ml)	(%predicted)	Steroid	agonist	Duration
1	20	F	5.70	83	N	Y	10
2	20	F	1.49	75	Ν	Y	6
3	46	М	0.04	67	Y	Y	nd
4	23	F	8.00	nd	nd	nd	nd
5	32	М	0.29	83	Ν	Y	8
6	40	F	1.10	110	Y	Y	33
7	29	F	7.97	97	Y	Y	nd
mean	30		3.51	74.2			

nd – no data

Table 2.2.2

TaqMan PCR primer probes

IL-6	
5' primer	179 AGCCGCCCCACACAGA
3' primer	250 CCGTCGAGGATGTACCGAAT
probe	203 CACCTCTTCAGAACGAATTGACAAACA

IL-8		
5' primer	48	GAAGGAACCATCTCACTGTGTGTAA
3' primer	118	ATCAGGAAGGCTGCCAAGAG
probe	74	CATGACTTCCAAGCTGGCCGT

GM-CSF	
5' primer	394 CTTTCTGCTTGTCATCCCCTTT
3' primer	469 GGCTTGGCCAGCCTCAT
probe	430 TGGCCGGTCTCACTCCTGGACT

PCR primers

APRT	242 bp
5' primer	GCTGCGTGCTCATCCGAAAG
3' primer	CCTTAAGCGAGGTCAGCTCC

PAR-2	493 bp
5' primer	TGGATGAGTTTTCTGCATCTGTCC
3' primer	CGTGATGTTCAGGGCAGGAATG

collagen I	214 bp
5' primer	CCCACCAATCACCTGCGTACAGA
3' primer	TTCTTGGTCGGTTGGGTGACTCTGA

collagen III	207 bp
5' primer	GAGATGTCTGGAAGCCAGAACCAT
3' primer	GATCTCCCTTGGGGCCTTGAGGT

TIMP-1	170 bp
5' primer	CATCCTGTTGTTGCTGTGGCTTGAT
3' primer	GTCATCTTGATCTCATAACGCTGG

TIMP-2	155 bp
5' primer	CTCGCTGGACGTTGGAGGAAAGAA
3' primer	AGCCCATCTGGTACCTGTGGTTCA

Chapter 3

Results

3 Results

3.1 Preparation of tryptase

There was difficulty in obtaining human lung as a source of tryptase, and recombinant tryptase was more readily available. For this reason the effects of recombinant tryptase rather than human lung tryptase were investigated in these studies. Recombinant tryptase also has the advantage of being less likely to be contaminated with endogenous human stimuli of cell function.

3.1.1 Purification and characterization of recombinant tryptase

Two preparations of recombinant tryptase were purified from high salt extracts of a *Pichia pastoris* expression system using butyl agarose and S-300 gel chromatography (Fig. 3.1.1). There were double bands on the silver stained SDS-PAGE gel for both preparations at approximately 35 kDa and 32 kDa for the first preparation and 33 kDa and 30 kDa for the second (Fig. 3.1.2). The two bands from both preparations were confirmed as tryptase by western blotting with tryptase specific antibody AA5 (Fig. 3.1.2). The enzymatic activity was calculated according to the equation:

% of activation

= molar concentration of active tryptase (
$$\mu$$
M) × 10⁻⁶ mol/ μ mol × 100%

protein concentration (mg/ml)

 \sim molecular mass of tryptase (g/mol)

An activity as 133% was found for the first preparation, and 106% for the second preparation on the basis of active site titration measured using a known concentration of 4-methylumbelliferone as a substrate and the molecular mass calculated from a silver stained SDS-PAGE gel. The specific activities of the two tryptase preparations were 1.4 U/mg and 2.2 U/mg with BAPNA as substrate.

Bands of low molecular weight were observed on SDS-PAGE for the second preparation of recombinant tryptase purified, which were not detected by the tryptase-specific antibody AA5, on western blotting. For this reason, the tryptase was subjected to further purification on a heparin agarose column. Tryptase failed to elute with a NaCl concentration gradient of 0.4 M to 2.0 M and the NaCl concentration was increased stepwise to 3.0 M and then 4.0 M when the tryptase eluted from the heparin agarose. However, this additional step still failed to remove the low molecular weight material from the preparation (data not shown).

The activity of the first preparation of purified recombinant tryptase decreased from 112 U/ml to 16 U/ml after a single freeze and thaw cycle, possibly due to precipitation of protein with an extremely high concentration of the tryptase. The second preparation of recombinant tryptase was concentrated down to 3.4 U/ml (45 μ M) and did not lose its activity after a cycle of freezing and thawing.

3.1.2 Purification and characterization of human lung tryptase

Tryptase was isolated to high purity from high salt extracts of human lung tissue. Little tryptic activity was detected in the low salt buffer extracts. Maximal tryptic activity was eluted from the heparin agarose column at approximately 1.0 M NaCl, and it was associated with the peak of protein content. On SDS-PAGE, there was a

68

clear single band on SDS-PAGE with silver staining corresponding to a molecular mass of approximately 34 kDa (Fig. 3.1.2). The identity of the band was confirmed as tryptase by western blotting with tryptase-specific antibody AA5 (Fig. 3.1.2). The percentage of enzymatic activity calculated for the purified preparation was 110% on the basis of active site titration. The specific activity of the tryptase was 2.1 U/mg with BAPNA as substrate. There was no significant enzymatic activity detected for chymase and elastase using the substrates *N*-succinyl-Ala-Ala-Pro-Phe-*p*-nitroanilide and *N*-succinyl-Ala-Ala-Pro-Val-*p*-nitroanilide respectively.

3.1.3 Heat inactivation of tryptase

In studies designed to investigate the dependence of tryptase's actions on an intact catalytic site, tryptase was heat inactivated at 94°C for 5 minutes and at 60°C for 30 minutes (Table 3.1.1). The activity of recombinant tryptase and human lung tryptase against the BAPNA was reduced by heat inactivation in all experiments. The recombinant tryptase was more resistant to a high temperature treatment for a short period than the purified human lung tryptase.

Summary

The recombinant β -tryptase isolated from a *Pichia pastoris* expression system was characterised in detail and was demonstrated to have similar enzymatic and physicochemical properties to tryptase purified from human lung tissue.

Table. 3.1.1

Elution conditions, molecular weight, and effect of heat treatment on preparations of recombinant and human lung tryptase.

	Recombinant Tryptase β	Human Lung Tryptase
[NaCl] required for elution from heparin	4.0 M	1.0 M
Molecular mass	35 / 33 kDa	34 kDa
	(multiple bands)	(single band)
Activity lost by heat inactivation		
at 94°C for 5 minutes	65%	99%
at 60°C for 30 minutes	97%	99%



Fig. 3.1.1

The tryptic activity and absorbance of fractions of recombinant tryptase from (A) butyl agarose affinity chromatography and (B) S-300 gel filtration.



Fig. 3.1.2

(A) Purified recombinant tryptase and (B) human lung tryptase on silver stained 10% SDS polyacrylamide gels and on a matching western blot with tryptase-specific antibody, AA5. Lane 1: molecular weight standards, lane 2: tryptase (1ng/ml protein), lane 3: tryptase (5 ng/ml protein).

3.2 Fibroblast and myofibroblast cultures

No staining for α -smooth muscle actin was detected in fibroblasts cultured from bronchial biopsy tissue, but treatment with TGF- β_2 stimulated expression of actin in a high proportion of cells (Fig. 3.2.1). Incubation with serum free medium for 48 h (without TGF- β_2) after the TGF- β treatment did not alter the degree of α -smooth muscle actin expression in myofibroblasts. Fibroblasts either with or without TGF- β_2 stimulation stained positively for the fibroblast marker vimentin, but were negative for the smooth muscle cell marker, myosin, after 120 h incubation (Fig. 3.2.2). There was no staining observed with the isotype-matched control antibodies applied.

Efficiency of the transformation from a fibroblast to a myofibroblast phenotype was investigated. It was estimated that $73\% \pm 17\%$ (mean \pm SD) (n=10) of fibroblasts were transformed into the myofibroblast phenotype following incubation with TGF- β for 72 h as assessed by expression of α -smooth muscle actin.

The potential for a high concentration of TGF- β to exert an inhibitory effect on cell growth was suggested by Zhao & Young (1996). Therefore, the possible inhibitory effect of TGF- β on proliferation was examined in MRC-5 fibroblast line. At the concentration of TGF- β_2 used in these studies for transformation of fibroblasts into the myofibroblast phenotype (1 ng/ml), there was no inhibitory effect on cell proliferation (Fig. 3.2.3).

Summary

Human lung fibroblasts were successfully transformed into cells of a myofibroblast phenotype after incubation with TGF- β_2 for 72 h, and without inhibiting cell proliferation. The TGF- β_2 -induced myofibroblasts clearly possessed a myofibroblast phenotype, and expressed α -smooth muscle actin and vimentin, but not smooth muscle myosin.



В





Expression of α -smooth muscle actin in fibroblasts cultured from bronchial tissue (A) without and (B) with 1 ng/ml TGF- β_2 for 72 h followed by 48 h in serum free medium. Cells were immunostained with FITC conjugated α -smooth muscle actin specific monoclonal antibody, and counterstained with nuclear stain 7AAD.





В

С



Fig. 3.2.2

Expression of the myofibroblast phenotype in fibroblasts cultured from bronchial tissue following incubation for 120 h with 1 ng/ml TGF- β_2 . Cells were stained for (A) vimentin (B) myosin heavy chain and (C) isotype control using FITC conjugated monoclonal antibodies and counterstained with nuclear stain 7AAD.

76



Fig. 3.2.3

Effect of TGF- β on proliferation of cells of the MRC-5 fibroblast line as assessed by the MTS assay. Relative numbers of cells are shown, 48 h after stimulation with TGF- β_2 . Results represent the mean of a single experiment performed in triplicate.

3.3 PAR-2 expression in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts

3.3.1 mRNA expression of PAR-2

Total RNA was purified from stimulated primary cultured fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, and transcribed into cDNA. The amplification was performed using PAR-2 specific primers and a product of the predicted size (493 bp) was obtained from the PCR and observed on the agarose gel (Fig. 3.3.1). Expression of PAR-2 was significantly higher in preparations of cells of the fibroblast than myofibroblast phenotype (Fig. 3.3.3(A)). Expression of mRNA for PAR-2 in fibroblasts was not correlated with that in the corresponding myofibroblast preparations (r_s =0.460: p=0.077: n=11).

3.3.2 Detection of PAR-2 by immunocytochemistry

Expression of PAR-2 was observed on fibroblasts and myofibroblasts that had been cultured in chamber slides, by immunocytochemistry with the PAR-2 specific monoclonal antibody P2A (Fig. 3.3.2). Expression of PAR-2 was evenly distributed over the surface of cells. Permeablisation of cells indicated the presence of PAR-2 within the cytoplasm. No immunostaining was observed with an isotype-matched control antibody (IgM) or by P2A antibody pre-absorbed with its epitope peptide, TNRSSKGRSLIGKV. There was no difference between fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in the degree of PAR-2 staining observed (n=9) when the staining intensity (adjusted to take account of cell numbers) was compared using a computerised analysis system (Fig. 3.3.3 (B)). Expression of PAR-2 detected in permeablised was correlated with that in non-permeablised cells in both fibroblasts (r_s =0.583: p<0.05: n=9) and myofibroblasts (r_s =0.6167: p<0.05: n=9).

3.3.3 Induction of calcium flux by PAR-2 agonists

Expression of functional PAR-2 was examined by measuring the calcium influx following addition of peptide agonists of PARs. The PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGRL-NH₂ at 100 μ M induced a calcium influx of 244 nM in primary cultures of myofibroblasts (Fig. 3.3.4 (A)). The response was absent following a second addition of the peptide. A calcium influx was induced also in response to the PAR-1 agonist peptide TFLLR-NH₂, but not to the PAR-4 agonist peptide ATPGKF-NH₂. The non PAR-2 activating peptide LSIGRL-NH₂ did not induce a calcium influx (Fig. 3.3.4 (B)). Surprisingly, there was no response to recombinant tryptase at 10 mU/ml and 30 mU/ml (Fig. 3.3.4 (C)) or to tryptase purified from human lung at 30 mU/ml. Stimulation of cells with calcium ionophore A23187 was associated with a clear increase in calcium flux (data not shown).

Summary

The preparations of lung fibroblasts and myofibroblasts both expressed PAR-2 mRNA and protein. The receptors are functional on myofibroblasts but not activated by tryptase.





Fig. 3.3.1

PCR products for mRNA for PAR-2 in primary cultures of fibroblasts (F) and myofibroblasts (M). Lane L is 100 bp ladder marker.



Fig. 3.3.2

Immunostaining of PAR-2 with specific antibody P2A by FITC in (A) permeablised and (B) non-permeablised primary cultures of human bronchial fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. Nuclei were stained with 7AAD. In the control slides, P2A antibody was pre-absorbed with the peptide, TNRSSKGRSLIGKV whose sequence corresponds to that of the rejoin of PAR-2 to which the antibody is directed.



Fig. 3.3.3

Expression of PAR-2 in primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. (A) mRNA expression of mRNA assessed by RT-PCR (normalised to APRT), and (B) the degree of receptor expression detected by immuocytochemistry with the PAR-2 specific monoclonal antibody P2A (adjusting for cell number). Median values are shown for 9 to 11 experiments. *P<0.05 by student's t test.



Fig. 3.3.4

Intracellular calcium flux fluorescence measurements in primary cultures of myofibroblasts. Cells were stimulated with 100 μ M PAR-2 agonist peptide, SLIGRL-NH₂ (S), 100 μ M control non-PAR-2 activating peptide, LSIGRL-NH₂ (L), and 30 mU/ml recombinant tryptase (T).

3.4 Fibroblast and myofibroblast mitogenesis and proliferation

The rate of mitogenesis in cells was assessed by measurement of $[{}^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation, and cell proliferation by measurement of MTS bioreduction to formazan by the dehydrogenase enzymes found in metabolically active cells. In seeking to optimize the methods for use in these studies, various experimental conditions were employed, and different approaches adopted to evaluate tryptase as a stimulus for cell proliferation.

Cultures of the MRC-5 foetal lung fibroblast cell line were employed in initial experiments for reasons of consistency and because they were more easy to obtain than primary cultures of fibroblasts. Particular attention was directed to reducing the degree of variation between replicates. Avoiding wells at the edge of the microplate proved effective in reducing variability, and in further experiments the outer 36 wells were excluded. Seeding cell density was also altered. In early experiments, cells were seeded at 1×10^5 cells/ml, as this density has been used widely in previous fibroblast cell proliferation studies (Cairns & Walls 1997, Akers et al. 2000). However, at this cell density some evidence was found for contact inhibition reducing the rate of cell proliferation. For this reason, cell density was reduced to 5 \times 10⁴ cells /ml in all wells. The effects of recombinant tryptase on the rate of mitogenesis and cell proliferation were similar to that of native lung tryptase added at the same concentration to fibroblasts or myofibroblasts (Fig. 3.4.1). However, human lung tryptase stimulated proliferation of fibroblasts, where as recombinant tryptase did not. There was a trend for an increase in mitogenesis but this did not reach significance with either preparation of tryptase. The rate of proliferation of MRC-5 cells without TGF- β pre-treatment (fibroblasts) or following pre-treatment with TGF- β (myofibroblasts) was not significantly increased by addition to cells of tryptase or the peptide agonist of PAR-2 (Fig. 3.4.2).

84

3.4.1 Mitogenic responses of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts

Mitogenesis in primary cultures of fibroblasts and TGF- β_2 -induced myofibroblasts were observed by [³H]-thymidine incorporation. The optimum time to measure mitogenesis was determined as 48 h after stimulation with FCS and EGF (Fig. 3.4.3). These were employed as positive controls as they are well established as strong stimuli for fibroblast and myofibroblast mitogenesis.

Fibroblast mitogenesis was induced by tryptase at concentrations ranging from 3 mU/ml to 30 mU/ml (Fig. 3.4.4 (A)). However there was no significant stimulation of mitogenesis with 100 mU/ml tryptase. Similarly mitogenesis was induced in myofibroblasts, with a bell-shaped response with a peak at 30 mU/ml tryptase (Fig. 3.4.4 (B)).

Tryptase activity towards the chromogenic substrate BAPNA was inhibited by heat inactivation or by preincubation of the enzyme with the protease inhibitors leupeptin or APC1390. The mitogenic activity of tryptase was significantly inhibited by APC1390 but not by the less potent inhibitor leupeptin (Fig. 3.4.5). When tryptase was heated at 60°C for 30 minutes using a thermocycler, the enzymatic activity was reduced to less than 3% of that of the non-heated control. Surprisingly the heat treatment did not significantly reduce the mitogenic activity of tryptase. The mitogenic response to active tryptase was correlated with that to the heat-inactivated tryptase ($r_s=0.683$: p<0.05: n=9) and also with that of APC 1390 inhibited tryptase ($r_s=0.738$: p<0.05: n=9) in fibroblasts.

Myofibroblasts exhibited a similar trend to that of the fibroblasts in these studies of inhibition, though the reduction in mitogenic activity with APC1390 did not reach significance. The mitogenic response to tryptase was not associated with that with

tryptase inactivated by heating or by addition of inhibitors, though responses to APC1390 and leupeptin inhibited tryptase were correlated (r_s =0.829: p<0.05: n=6). At the concentrations employed, addition of leupeptin and APC1390 had no effect on cell mitogenesis, either when these inhibitors were added alone or when added with FCS as the stimulus (data not shown).

The PAR-2 agonist peptide, SLIGKV-NH₂ stimulated significant mitogenesis in fibroblasts at the highest concentration employed (100 μ M) (Fig. 3.4.6). This effect did not reach significance with myofibroblasts though there was considerable variation between cell preparations in the responses seen. The control peptide, LSIGKV-NH₂ did not stimulate mitogenesis in fibroblasts or myofibroblasts.

3.4.2 Cell proliferation responses

Cell proliferation of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in response to tryptase and PAR-2 agonist were assessed by the MTS assay. Cell proliferation was observed from 24 h following the addition of FCS and EGF and the greatest difference between stimulated and non-stimulated cells in the cell proliferation response was observed at 48 h (Fig. 3.4.7). These positive control stimuli both induced fibroblast and myofibroblast proliferation, although EGF failed to stimulate a significant myofibroblast proliferative response. The rates of proliferation of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts were not significantly increased by addition to cells of tryptase or the peptide agonist of PAR-2 (Fig. 3.4.8).

The reproducibility of the effect of different stimuli on primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts were assessed using the cells of passage 6 and passage 7. The pattern of cell proliferation observed with these two cell preparations was

very similar, and the results were correlated. Difference in response cells from the different passages were of a minor nature (Fig. 3.4.9).

The potential for cytotoxic effects were investigated by measuring the levels of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) in supernatants, and expressing them relative to those in the whole cell lysate. The various stimuli employed in the study did not lead to increased levels of LDH compared with those in controls at 48 h, and levels were consistently below 5% (n=3).

Summary

There were no major differences between human lung and recombinant tryptase as stimuli for mitogenesis and proliferation. Tryptase and the PAR-2 agonist peptide were without effect on mitogenesis and proliferation of cells of MRC-5 line. Tryptase was able to induce dose-dependent alterations in [³H]-thymidine incorporation in both fibroblast and myofibroblast cultures, but this was not observed with the PAR-2 agonist peptide. Although there was significant mitogenesis, tryptase did not appear to be particularly potent in eliciting this effect. Neither tryptase nor the PAR-2 agonist peptide were able to stimulate cell proliferation.



В

A



Fig. 3.4.1

Effect of human lung (H) and recombinant (R) tryptase at the concentration indicated on (A) mitogenesis, and (B) proliferation in cells of the MRC-5 cell line without TGF- β pre-treatment (fibroblasts) or following pre-treatment with TGF- β (myofibroblasts). Mean \pm SEM are shown for three separate experiments performed in triplicate. *P<0.05 and *** P<0.001compared with the response with no stimulus (taken as 100%) by Student's t test.



Fig. 3.4.2

Effect of tryptase and the PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGKV-NH₂ on the proliferation of cells of the MRC-5 line without TGF- β pre-treatment (fibroblasts) or following pre-treatment with TGF- β (myofibroblasts). Numbers of cells are shown, 48 h after stimulation with (A) tryptase and with (B) the PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGKV-NH₂. The non-PAR-2 activating peptide, LSIGKV-NH₂ (c-pep) was included at 100 μ M. Mean ± SEM are shown for three separate experiments performed in triplicate.



Fig. 3.4.3

(A) Time course of [³H]-thymidine incorporation in primary cultures of fibroblasts following stimulation with 10% FCS or 5 ng/ml EGF represent triplicate determination of a single experiment. (B) Effect of FCS and EGF on fibroblast and myofibroblast mitogenesis 48 h after addition of 10% FCS or EGF 5ng/ml. Median values are shown for 4 to 10 experiments in triplicate. **P<0.01 and ***P<0.001 compared with no stimulus (taken as 100%) by Dunnett's test. The median [³H]-thymidine incorporation in unstimulated fibroblasts was 138 (78-537) CPM and in the unstimulated myofibroblasts was 330 (129-344) CPM.





Effect of tryptase on mitogenesis of (A) fibroblast preparations (n=9) and (B) myofibroblast preparations (n=6 to 8), 48 h after stimulation with tryptase. Median values are indicated. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 compared with response with no stimulus by Dunnett's test. The median [3 H]-thymidine incorporation in unstimulated fibroblasts was 138 (78-537) CPM and in the unstimulated myofibroblasts was 330 (129-344) CPM.





Catalytic site dependency of the mitogenic actions of tryptase on (A) fibroblast preparations (n=8 or 9) and (B) myofibroblast preparations (n=6 or 7). The tryptase at 30 mU/ml was inhibited by preincubation for 30 minutes with 100 μ M APC1390 (+A) or 50 μ M leupeptin (+L), or heat inactivated (HI). Median values are shown. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 compared with the response with no stimulus, and ^^ P<0.01 compared with 30 mU/ml active tryptase by Dunnett's test. Refer to Fig. 3.4.4 for amount of radioactivity in the unstimulated controls.





Effect of the PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGKV-NH₂ on (A) fibroblast and (B) myofibroblast mitogenesis at 48 h (n=4 to 9). The non-PAR-2 activating peptide LSIGKV-NH₂ (c-pep) was included at 100 μ M. Median values are shown. * P<0.05 compared with response with no stimulus by Dunnett's test. Refer to Fig. 3.4.4 for amount of radioactivity in the unstimulated controls.





(A)Time course for changes in cell number in primary cultures of fibroblasts following stimulation with 10% FCS and EGF at 5 ng/ml. (B) Effect of FCS and EGF on fibroblast (n=13 to 20) and myofibroblast (n=5 to 10) proliferation 48 h after stimulation with 10% FCS and EGF at 5 ng/ml. Median values are shown. * P<0.05 compared with response with no stimulus (taken as 100%) by Dunnett's test. The median cell number in unstimulated fibroblasts was 5940 (4982-8335) and in the unstimulated myofibroblasts was 6015 (4774-8384),





Effect of tryptase and the PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGKV-NH₂ on fibroblast and myofibroblast proliferation. Relative numbers of cells are shown, 48 h after stimulation with (A) tryptase and with (B) the PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGKV-NH₂. The non-PAR-2 activating peptide, LSIGKV-NH₂ (c-pep) was included at 300 μ M. Median values are shown for 2 to 18 experiments. Refer to Fig. 3.4.7 for the cell number in the unstimulated controls.





А

В

Reproducibility of effect of stimuli, 5 ng/ml of EGF, 10% FCS, tryptase at 3, 10, and 30 mU/ml and the PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGKV-NH₂ at 50, 100, 200 μ M, in cell number in primary cultures of (A) fibroblasts (r_s=0.806: p<0.01: n=10), and (B) myofibroblasts from non asthmatics (r_s=0.626: p<0.05: n=10), 48 h after stimulation.

3.5 Proinflammatory actions of tryptase and PAR-2 agonists on fibroblasts and myofibroblasts

3.5.1 Cytokine release from cells

3.5.1.1 Response to FCS and TNF- α

The proinflammatory cytokines, IL-6 and IL-8 were found to be released from primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts as determined by measuring the concentrations of these cytokines in cell supernatants by ELISA. IL-6 release could be detected within 12 h of addition of FCS, added as a positive control stimulus (Fig. 3.5.1 (A)). The level of IL-6 detected increased greatly between 12 h to 24 h when it appeared to reach a plateau at least until 48 h. The pattern of release of IL-8 was similar though an increase could be detected as early as 3 h after stimulation (Fig. 3.5.1 (B)). Concentrations of GM-CSF in cell supernatants were below the detection limit of the ELISA employed.

Significant release of IL-6 and IL-8 from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts was detected 24 h after stimulation with 1 ng/ml TNF- α (Fig. 3.5.2). There was no significant difference between the responses of cell preparations of the fibroblast and myofibroblast phenotype in the quantities of these cytokines released per cell. Comparison of cytokine release from cells from non-asthmatic and asthmatic subjects did not reveal significant differences in response to TNF- α stimulation (Fig. 3.5.3). Although the responses of cells from non-asthmatic and asthmatic subjects were compared, the relative small numbers of cells from non-asthmatic subjects, prevents detailed statistical analysis. The response of fibroblasts to TNF- α was

significantly correlated with that of myofibroblasts in the release of IL-6 ($r_s=0.733$: p<0.05: n=9) and IL-8 ($r_s=0.917$: p<0.001: n=9).

3.5.1.2 Actions of tryptase

The ability of tryptase to stimulate cytokine release from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts was tested. Initially the effect of recombinant tryptase on the release of cytokines was compared with that of native lung tryptase added at the same concentration (Fig. 3.5.4). There was no significant difference in response of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts to the different preparations of tryptase. The effect of using a range of tryptase concentrations was investigated on cells of the MRC-5 fibroblast cell line, with and without TGF- β_2 . There was a trend for the dose dependent release of IL-6 (Fig. 3.5.5) and IL-8 (Fig. 3.5.6) in response to tryptase, though the increase did not reach significance in the case of IL-6. Concentrations of GM-CSF in cell supernatants of tryptase stimulated cells were below the detection limit of the ELISA.

As numbers of cells in primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts were more limited, just two different concentrations of tryptase (3 and 30 mU/ml) were employed. At these concentrations significant release of IL-6 or IL-8 from either fibroblasts or myofibroblasts was not observed for the group as a whole (Fig. 3.5.7). However, for certain preparations there appeared to be substantial release.

There was a considerable variation between preparations of cells in the responses observed. This would appear to reflect fibroblast heterogeneity rather than random assay variation, as an apparent response for a cell preparation at one concentration was in some cases associated with one at the other concentration. Thus, release of
IL-6 from fibroblasts in response to 3 mU/ml tryptase was significantly correlated with that from tryptase at 30 mU/ml ($r_s=0.789$: p<0.001: n=14), and there was a similar association in the case of IL-8 release from myofibroblasts ($r_s=0.903$: p<0.001: n=10). IL-6 release was not associated with IL-8 release in fibroblast preparations. The pattern of cytokine release in myofibroblasts was similar to that in fibroblasts with apparent heterogeneity in responsiveness. However, responses in myofibroblasts were not correlated with those in fibroblasts, despite these preparations containing cells of the fibroblast phenotype (section 3.2).

Responses with the heat-inactivated tryptase were not significantly different from those with the corresponding concentration of active enzyme in either fibroblasts or myofibroblasts. This would argue against a role for the catalytic site. Moreover, the amount of IL-6 release from fibroblasts in the presence of heat inactivated tryptase was correlated with that released in the presence of active tryptase (r_s =0.876: p<0.0001: n=14), though this did not reach significance for IL-8 release in these cells. This degree of correlation between heat inactivated and active tryptase, serves to validate the cytokine measurements and suggests that the variation reflected heterogeneity in fibroblast and myofibroblast populations from different subjects. These differences were not associated with the cell donors being asthmatic (n=5) or non-asthmatic (n=4). Release of IL-6 or IL-8 from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in response to tryptase had no association with that stimulated in response to FCS or TNF- α .

3.5.1.3 Actions of PAR-2 agonists

Despite the relatively weak response to tryptase, when trypsin, another PAR-2 activating enzyme was added to fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, there was

appreciable cytokine release. In response to trypsin, fibroblasts released IL-6 and IL-8, and myofibroblasts released IL-6 (Fig. 3.5.8). The IL-8 release from trypsintreated myofibroblasts was similar to that of fibroblasts, but the increase in levels did not reach significance. The release of IL-6 from fibroblasts was not associated with IL-6 release from the myofibroblasts, though with IL-8 release there was a correlation between the responses of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts ($r_s=0.738$: p<0.05: n=8). The release of IL-6 from myofibroblasts was correlated with IL-8 release from these cells ($r_s=0.786$: p<0.05: n=8), though such a relationship was not found with the fibroblast preparations.

When fibroblasts and myofibroblasts were incubated with a range of concentrations of the peptide agonist of PAR-2 SLIGKV-NH₂, IL-6 release was induced from myofibroblasts in a dose dependent manner (Fig. 3.5.9). In contrast, IL-8 release was not induced from either fibroblasts or myofibroblasts in response to SLIGKV-NH₂ (Fig. 3.5.10). The non-PAR-2 activating control peptide LSIGKV-NH₂ did not provoke significant release of either cytokine when added at a concentration that corresponded to the maximal concentration of SLIGKV-NH₂. IL-6 release from fibroblasts was correlated with IL-8 release from these cells ($r_s=0.562$: p<0.0001: n=32), but this association was not seen with myofibroblasts. There was no correlation between fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in either IL-6 or IL-8 release. IL-8 release from myofibroblasts in the presence of active tryptase was correlated with IL-8 release from these cells in the presence of SLIGKV-NH₂ at 10 μ M (r_s=0.867: p < 0.001: n=10), at 30 μ M (r_s=1.000: p<0.0001: n=5), at 100 μ M (r_s=0.903: p<0.001: n=10), and at 300 μ M (r_s=1.000: p<0.0001: n=5), though such a relationship was not found with the fibroblast preparations or with IL-6 release.



Fig. 3.5.1

Time course of the release of (A) IL-6 and (B) IL-8 from primary cultures of fibroblasts following addition of 10% FCS or of medium alone. Results represent the mean of duplicate determinations of a single experiment (representative of 3 separate experiments performed in duplicate).



В

А



Fig. 3.5.2

Release of (A) IL-6 and (B) IL-8 from primary cultures of fibroblasts (n=11) and myofibroblasts (n=9) stimulated with TNF- α (1 ng/ml) for 24 h. Median values are shown. **P<0.01 and ***P<0.001 compared with the response with no stimulus by Dunnett's test.



Fig. 3.5.3

Release of (A) IL-6 and (B) IL-8 in response to TNF- α (1 ng/ml) from primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts from non-asthmatic and asthmatic subjects. Median values are shown. *P<0.05, **P<0.01 and ***P<0.001 compared with the response with no stimulus by Dunnett's test.



Fig. 3.5.4

Effect of 10 mU/ml human lung (H) and recombinant (R) tryptase on release of IL-6 and IL-8 in cells of the MRC-5 line without TGF- β pre-treatment (fibroblasts) or following pre-treatment with TGF- β (myofibroblasts). Mean \pm SEM are shown for three separate experiments performed in duplicate.





Release of IL-6 in response to tryptase in cells of the MRC-5 line (A) without TGF- β pre-treatment or (B) following pre-treatment with TGF- β (for 24 h) for three separate experiments performed in duplicate. The median release of IL-6 per 1×10⁵ cells in unstimulated fibroblasts was 242 (177-422) pg and in the unstimulated myofibroblasts was 145 (116-413) pg.



Fig. 3.5.6

Release of IL-8 in response to tryptase in cells of the MRC-5 line (A) without TGF- β pre-treatment or (B) following pre-treatment with TGF- β (for 24 h) for three separate experiments performed in duplicate. The median release of IL-8 per 1×10^5 cells in unstimulated fibroblasts was 360 (289-1015) pg and in the unstimulated myofibroblasts was 77 (75-267) pg. * P<0.05 compared with the response with no stimulus by student's t test.





Release of (A) IL-6 and (B) IL-8 from primary cultures of fibroblasts (n=13) and myofibroblasts (n=9) stimulated with recombinant tryptase or with a heat inactivated preparation of tryptase original activity corresponded to 30 mU/ml (inh-) for 24 h. Median values are shown for 13 separate experiments performed in duplicate with fibroblasts, and 9 with myofibroblasts. The median release of IL-6 per 1×10^5 cells in unstimulated fibroblasts was 110 (11-2373) pg and in the unstimulated myofibroblasts was 80 (17-2040) pg, and of IL-8 in unstimulated fibroblasts was 22 (10-2311) pg and in the unstimulated myofibroblasts was 21 (10-2069) pg.



Fig. 3.5.8

Release of (A) IL-6 and (B) IL-8 from primary cultures of fibroblasts (n=7) and myofibroblasts (n=7) stimulated with trypsin at 1 µg/ml for 24 h. Median values are shown. **P<0.01 and ***P<0.001 compared with response with no stimulus (taken as 100%) by Dunnett's test. The median release of IL-6 per 1×10^5 cells in unstimulated fibroblasts was 129 (11-2373) pg and in the unstimulated myofibroblasts was 101 (20-2040) pg, and of IL-8 in unstimulated fibroblasts was 31 (10-2311) pg and in the unstimulated myofibroblasts was 24 (10-2069) pg.





Effect of the PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGKV-NH₂ on release of IL-6 at 24 h for primary cultures of (A) fibroblasts and (B) myofibroblasts. The control peptide, LSIGKV-NH₂ (c-pep) was included at 300 μ M. Median values are shown for 5 to 13 separate experiments performed in duplicate. * P<0.05 compared with the response with no stimulus by Dunnett's test. Refer to Fig. 3.5.7 for the cytokines (pg) in the unstimulated controls.



Fig. 3.5.10

Effect of the PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGKV-NH₂ on release of IL-8 at 24 h for primary cultures of (A) fibroblasts and (B) myofibroblasts. The control peptide, LSIGKV-NH₂ (c-pep) was included at 300 μ M. Median values are shown for 5 to 13 separate experiments performed in duplicate. Refer to Fig. 3.5.7 for the cytokines (pg) in the unstimulated controls.

3.5.2 Expression of mRNA for cytokines

3.5.2.1 Response to FCS and TNF- α

Levels of mRNA for IL-6, IL-8 and GM-CSF in primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts were detected by measuring cDNA reverse transcribed from purified RNA using quantitative TaqMan PCR. When levels were investigated at 3, 6, 12, 24 and 48 h following stimulation with FCS, it was found that there were quite different time courses for the appearance of mRNA for each of these cytokines (Fig. 3.5.11). There were different patterns observed also for different preparations of cells (data not shown). In subsequent experiments the 6 h time point was selected for each of the three cytokines.

IL-6 mRNA expression was induced by TNF- α in both fibroblasts and myofibroblasts and also by addition of FCS in myofibroblasts (Fig. 3.5.12). IL-8 mRNA expression on the other hand was stimulated by TNF- α in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, but not by FCS. GM-CSF mRNA expression was significantly increased in response to FCS and TNF- α stimulation in fibroblasts, but not in myofibroblasts under the conditions tested. Expression of mRNA for IL-8 in fibroblasts in response to FCS was significantly correlated with that in response to TNF- α (r_s =1.000: p<0.001: n=7), as was GM-CSF (r_s =1.000: p<0.05: n=5), raising the possibility that IL-8 generation by these cells may be triggered in the same way by each of these stimuli. However, this association was not seen in the case of IL-6 in fibroblasts or with any of the cytokines examined in myofibroblasts.

Expression of mRNA for IL-8 in fibroblasts treated with TNF- α was correlated with that from myofibroblasts treated with TNF- α (r_s=1.000: p<0.05: n=5). Similar

associations were not found with mRNA expression for the other cytokines stimulated by TNF- α , or with any cytokine stimulated by FCS.

3.5.2.2 Actions of tryptase

It proved difficult to prepare intact cDNA from cells stimulated with tryptase and no amplification of products was obtained in a number of experiments. Curiously, this problem was restricted to stimulation with enzymatically active tryptase, and this difficulty did not present itself when amplification was carried out with cDNA from cells incubated with heat-inactivated tryptase, or with tryptase in the presence of the inhibitors, leupeptin and APC1390. There was no difference in the quality (OD_{260} / OD_{280}) of purified RNA in tryptase-stimulated cells. The cause of the problem was not identified, but after repeating the procedure several times, data were obtained from tryptase-treated cells with a procedure little different from that which had been employed unsuccessfully.

Tryptase was found to stimulate expression of mRNA for cytokines in MRC-5 fibroblasts and myofibroblasts over a range of concentrations (Fig. 3.5.13). Tryptase concentrations of 3 and 30 mU/ml were selected for subsequent experiments with primary cultures of cells, so as to be consistent with investigations of cytokine release (section 3.5.1). There was considerable variation between cell preparations in the responses observed. There was no significant increase of mRNA for IL-6, IL-8 or GM-CSF induced by these concentrations of tryptase (Fig. 3.5.14), though the maximal responses of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts to tryptase were similar to those of the FCS and TNF- α controls. Expression of mRNA for any of the cytokines examined was not significantly affected by heat inactivating the tryptase. Expression of mRNA for IL-6 in fibroblasts was correlated with that for IL-8 (r_s=0.637: p<0.05:

n=15) and GM-CSF (r_s =0.539: p<0.05: n=15) in tryptase treated cells suggesting that similar processes could be involved in stimulating these responses. Similarly in myofibroblasts, expression of mRNA for IL-6 was correlated with that for IL-8 (r_s =0.510: p<0.05: n=15), though not with GM-CSF. Expression of mRNA for IL-8 in fibroblasts was not correlated with that for GM-CSF, but such a correlation was found in myofibroblasts (r_s =0.615: p<0.05: n=15). No association was found between expression of mRNA for any cytokine in tryptase treated fibroblasts and expression of mRNA for the corresponding cytokine in myofibroblasts. Expression of mRNA for IL-6 from myofibroblasts in response to tryptase was correlated with that in response to FCS (r_s =0.886: p<0.05: n=6), though such a relationship was not found with the fibroblast preparations or with IL-8 and GM-CSF release in response to FCS or TNF- α .

3.5.2.3 Actions of PAR-2 agonist

There was a trend for a dose dependent increase in mRNA expression for IL-6 following addition to cells of the PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGKV-NH₂, with a peak response at 100 μ M in myofibroblasts (Fig. 3.5.15). Such a trend was not seen in fibroblasts. Apart from one exceptionally high value for IL-6 mRNA expression observed in response to the PAR-2 agonist peptide (10 μ M) in fibroblasts, the response of these cells to the PAR-2 agonist peptide was uniformly weak. Similarly there was a trend for expression of mRNA for IL-8 to exhibit a dose dependent increase, with a peak at 100 μ M for myofibroblasts. A consistent trend for a concentration dependent increase in GM-CSF expression was not observed. The control peptide used for the PAR-2 agonist, LSIGKV-NH₂ did not alter expression of mRNA for any of the cytokines tested.

Expression of mRNA for IL-6 in fibroblasts was correlated with that for GM-CSF ($r_s=0.900$: p<0.05: n=5) in SLIGKV-NH₂ treated cells. Expression of mRNA for IL-8 in myofibroblasts was correlated with that for GM-CSF ($r_s=1.00$: p<0.05: n=4). However, there was no association between expression of mRNA for any of the cytokines in SLIGKV-NH₂ treated fibroblasts and expression of mRNA for the corresponding cytokine in myofibroblasts. Expression of mRNA for any of the cytokines tested from fibroblasts or myofibroblasts in the presence of SLIGKV-NH₂ was not associated with that in response to tryptase. Expression of mRNA for IL-6 from fibroblasts in response to SLIGKV-NH₂ was correlated with that in response to FCS ($r_s=1.000$: p<0.05: n=5), though such a relationship was not found with the myofibroblast preparations, or with IL-8 and GM-CSF release in response to FCS or TNF- α .

Summary

Release of IL-8 from MRC-5 cells treated with TGF- β was increased in response to tryptase at 100mU/ml but tryptase was without effect in release of IL-6 and IL-8 from primary cultures of cells. A peptide agonist of PAR-2 stimulated IL-6 release from myofibroblasts by nearly 2 fold but IL-8 release was not affected. Trypsin (1ng/ml) stimulated an increase in the release of IL-6 from fibroblasts of 9 fold and from myofibroblasts by 7 fold. IL-8 release from fibroblasts was increased by more than 4 fold in response to trypsin and from myofibroblasts by 2 fold. There was no significant change in expression of mRNA for cytokines in primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts following addition of by tryptase or the PAR-2 agonist



Fig. 3.5.11

Expression of mRNA for cytokines in primary cultures of fibroblasts incubated with 10% FCS for a period of 48h. Results represent the mean of duplicate determinations of a single experiment (that was performed on three separate occasions)





Effect of TNF- α on expression of mRNA for cytokines in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts 6 h after stimulation. Median values are shown for 5 to 6 separate experiments. *P<0.05 and **P<0.01 compared with the response with no stimulus (arbitrarily taken as 1.0) by Dunnett's test.



Fig. 3.5.13

Effect of tryptase on expression of mRNA for IL-6, IL-8 and GM-CSF in fibroblasts of the MRC-5 cell line, 6h after stimulation with tryptase. Mean values are shown for 2 separate experiments.



Fig. 3.5.14

Expression of mRNA for (A) IL-6, (B) IL-8 and (C) GM-CSF in primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts following incubation with tryptase or with a heat inactivated preparation corresponding to 30 mU/ml tryptase (inh-) 6 h after stimulation. Median values are shown for 8 separate experiments.





Expression of mRNA for (A) IL-6, (B) IL-8 and (C) GM-CSF in primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in response to PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGKV-NH₂ 6 h after stimulation. The control peptide LSIGKV-NH₂ (c-pep) was included at 300 μ M. Median values are shown for 5 to 8 separate experiments.

3.6 Effects of tryptase and PAR-2 agonist on expression and release of collagens and collagenase.

3.6.1 Collagen synthesis

Increased synthesis of collagen was induced in primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, 24 h after addition of tryptase, as assessed by measurement of $[^{3}H]$ -proline incorporation. When protein samples were treated with collagenase to differentiate the non-collagen protein synthesised from that of collagen, it was found that the newly synthesised non-collagen protein accounted for 8.3% (5.0-15.4%, n=16) of the total $[^{3}H]$ -proline incorporation in fibroblasts following addition of stimulus. In myofibroblasts the corresponding figures were 10.1% (6.3-16.1%, n=16). Total $[^{3}H]$ -proline incorporation was thus taken as a measure of collagen synthesis in subsequent experiments.

3.6.1.1 Actions of tryptase

The ability of tryptase to stimulate the generation and release of collagen from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts was tested. The effect of recombinant tryptase on the synthesis of collagen was compared with that of native lung tryptase added cells at the same concentration (Fig. 3.6.1). There was no significant difference in response to the different preparations of tryptase. However, human lung tryptase stimulated the synthesis of collagen from fibroblasts, where as recombinant tryptase did not. The effect of using a range of tryptase concentrations was investigated on cells of the MRC-5 fibroblast cell line, with and without TGF- β_2 treatment. Fibroblast [³H]-proline incorporation in cells was increased in response to tryptase at a concentration of 30 mU/ml (Fig. 3.6.2). However, there was no significant induction of [³H]-

proline incorporation with 100 mU/ml tryptase. Significant release of proteins incorporating $[{}^{3}H]$ -proline was not observed in cell supernatants from fibroblasts. The degree of $[{}^{3}H]$ -proline incorporation in proteins of cells or of cell supernatants was not affected by addition of tryptase to myofibroblasts.

The degree of $[^{3}H]$ -proline incorporation in fibroblasts in response to tryptase was significantly inhibited by heat inactivation of the enzyme or by preincubation with APC1390, but not with the less potent inhibitor leupeptin (Fig. 3.6.3). Curiously when these protease inhibitors were added alone, there was an increase in $[^{3}H]$ -proline incorporation in myofibroblasts.

In primary cultures of both fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, tryptase at 30 mU/ml stimulated an increase in [³H]-proline incorporation in cell associated collagen. The effects of tryptase on [³H]-proline incorporation were not inhibited when the enzyme was heat inactivated (Fig. 3.6.4). There was a strong correlation between the degree of [³H]-proline incorporation in response to 30mU/ml tryptase and that to heat inactivated tryptase in both fibroblasts (r_s =0.758: p<0.05: n=10) and myofibroblasts (r_s =0.650: p<0.05: n=9). This strongly suggests that the effect was not dependent on an intact catalytic site.

Tryptase at 30 mU/ml stimulated an increase in [3 H]-proline incorporation in cell supernatants of fibroblasts, but not in those of myofibroblasts (Fig. 3.6.5). Once again the effects of tryptase on [3 H]-proline incorporation were not inhibited when the enzyme was heat inactivated. The degree of [3 H]-proline incorporation in response to tryptase was correlated with that in response to the heat inactivated tryptase in myofibroblasts (r_{s} =0.905: p<0.05: n=8), though this association was not found with fibroblasts.

The PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGKV-NH₂ over a range of concentrations failed to induce significant alterations in the degree of $[^{3}H]$ -proline incorporation in the proteins in either cells or cell supernatants (Fig. 3.6.6). The non-PAR-2 activating control peptide, LSIGKV-NH₂ also had little effect on [³H]-proline incorporation and levels were not different from those in the presence of the agonist peptide. There was, however, considerable variation in responsiveness to the peptides. This appears to reflect fibroblast heterogeneity rather than random assay variation as the relative amount of collagen production, as measured by [³H]-proline incorporation at one concentration of agonist, was frequently associated with that at another concentration. Thus, production of collagen from fibroblasts in response to $100 \mu M$ SLIGKV-NH₂ was significantly correlated with that from SLIGKV-NH₂ at 30 μ M (r_s=0.829: p<0.05: n=6) and with that at 300 μ M (r_s=0.943: p<0.05: n=6). Surprisingly production of collagen from myofibroblasts in response to 100 µM SLIGKV-NH₂ was significantly correlated with that in response to the control peptide LSIGKV-NH₂ at 100 μ M (r_s=0.617: p<0.05: n=9). Production of collagen from fibroblasts in response to 100 µM SLIGKV-NH₂ was correlated with that from myofibroblasts at the same concentration of agonist ($r_s=0.617$: p<0.05: n=9).

Release of collagen from fibroblasts in response to 100 μ M SLIGKV-NH₂ was correlated with that from SLIGKV-NH₂ at 10 μ M (r_s=0.817: p<0.05: n=9), and also with that from 100 μ M LSIGKV-NH₂ (r_s=0.783: p<0.05: n=9). Release of collagen from myofibroblasts in response to 100 μ M SLIGKV-NH₂ was significantly correlated with that from SLIGKV-NH₂ at 10 μ M (r_s=0.810: p<0.05: n=8), with that at 300 μ M (r_s=0.943: p<0.05: n=6), and with that from LSIGKV-NH₂ at 100 μ M (r_s=0.738: p<0.05: n=8).



Fig. 3.6.1

Effect of 10 mU/ml human lung (H) and recombinant (R) tryptase on collagen production in cells of the MRC-5 line without TGF- β pre-treatment (fibroblasts) or following pre-treatment with TGF- β (myofibroblasts). Mean ± SEM are shown for three separate experiments performed in duplicate. *P<0.05 compared with the response with no stimulus (taken as 100%) by Student's t test.



Fig. 3.6.2

Effect of tryptase on collagen production and release from cells of the MRC-5 line without TGF- β pre-treatment (fibroblasts) or following pre-treatment with TGF- β (myofibroblasts). [³H]-proline incorporation is shown for (A) protein in the cells or (B) in cell supernatants, 24 h after addition of tryptase. *P<0.05 compared with the response with no stimulus by Dunnett's test.





Catalytic site dependency of the actions tryptase on (A) the production and (B) the release from fibroblast and myofibroblast-like cells of the MRC-5 line. Tryptase at 30mU/ml was preincubated for 30 minutes with 100 μ M APC1390 (+A) or 50 μ M leupeptin (+L), or was heat inactivated (HI) prior to addition to cells. [³H] proline incorporation is shown in response to tryptase with and without the inhibitors, and also with the inhibitors with alone. * P<0.05 and ** P<0.01 compared with the response with no stimulus, and ^ P<0.05 and ^^ P<0.01 compared with 30mU/ml active tryptase by Dunnett's test.



Fig. 3.6.4

Effect of tryptase on production of collagen by primary cultures of (A) fibroblasts and (B) myofibroblasts 24 h after stimulation. Collagen synthesis by cells was assessed by measuring [³H]-proline incorporation in cells following addition of tryptase or heat inactivated tryptase (inh-). Median values are shown for 10 separate experiments, each performed in duplicate. *P<0.05 and**P<0.01 compared with the response with no stimulus by Dunnett's test. The median [³H]-proline incorporation in unstimulated fibroblasts was 3033 (660-8144) CPM and in the unstimulated myofibroblasts was 1634 (829-6319) CPM.



В

А

Fig. 3.6.5

Effect of tryptase on release of collagen by (A) fibroblasts and (B) myofibroblasts 24 h after stimulation. Collagen synthesis by cells was assessed by measuring [3 H]-proline incorporation in cell supernatants following addition of tryptase or heat inactivated tryptase (inh-). Median values are shown for 8 separate experiments, each performed in duplicate. *P<0.05 and**P<0.01 compared with the response with no stimulus by Dunnett's test. The median [3 H]-proline incorporation in unstimulated fibroblasts was 656 (293-1105) CPM and in the unstimulated myofibroblasts was 552 (188-941) CPM



Fig. 3.6.6

Effect of the PAR-2 agonist peptide, SLIGKV-NH₂ on collagen production and release from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. [³H]-proline incorporation is shown for (A) proteins in the cells or (B) in cell supernatants 24 h after addition of SLIGKV-NH₂ or the control peptide LSIGKV-NH₂ (c-pep; at 100 μ M). Median values are shown for 6 to 8 separate experiments performed in duplicate. Refer to Fig. 3.6.4 and 3.6.5 for the amount of radio activity in the unstimulated controls.

3.6.2 MMP production and activation

Gelatinase activity was detected in cell supernatants by zymography on 10% SDS polyacrylamide gel containing gelatine (1 mg/ml), 24 h after stimulation. The presence of gelatinase was investigated by determining the presence of clear bands in Coomassie blue-stained gels, and western blotting allowed identification of the protein (Fig. 3.6.7 (A)). There was one very strong band at approximately 72 kDa and two to four minor bands in each sample. The strong band at 72kDa and a weak band at 67kDa observed in zymography were confirmed to be MMP-2 by western blotting (Fig. 3.6.7 (B)). No MMP-9 was detected by western blotting. The intensity of the band for proMMP-2 in non-stimulated cells was assigned an arbitrary value of 1.0, when quantifying using a computerised image analysis system.

3.6.2.1 Actions of tryptase

The effect of recombinant tryptase on the synthesis of MMP-2 was compared with that of native lung tryptase added at the same concentration to cells (Fig. 3.6.8). There was no significant difference in response to the different preparations of tryptase by fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. Tryptase was found to stimulate increased quantities of proMMP-2 in fibroblasts and this trend was seen also for myofibroblasts (Fig. 3.6.9). ProMMP-2 release in response to 3 mU/ml tryptase was correlated with that to 30 mU/ml tryptase in both fibroblasts (r_s =0.964: p<0.0001: n=11) and myofibroblasts (r_s =0.933: p<0.0001: n=9). Heat inactivation of tryptase did not reduce the effect significantly. ProMMP-2 release in response to 30 mU/ml tryptase was correlated with that to heat inactivated tryptase of the same original concentration in both fibroblasts (r_s =0.900: p<0.0001: n=11) and myofibroblasts (r_s =0.879: p<0.001: n=9).

The levels of active MMP-2 were also increased in a dose dependent manner in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts (Fig. 3.6.10). Active MMP-2 was expressed as a proportion of the intensity for the proMMP-2 band in unstimulated cells of the same preparation. Where no active MMP-2 was detected, the value was taken as 0. Heat inactivation of tryptase clearly reduced the effect of tryptase in fibroblasts. A similar trend was observed in myofibroblasts, though it did not reach significance in these studies. There was no correlation between the amount of active MMP-2 released from fibroblasts and that from myofibroblasts in response to tryptase. Active MMP-2 release in response to tryptase from fibroblasts was correlated with that from myofibroblasts (r_s =0.5343: p<0.05: n=10). Active MMP-2 release in myofibroblasts (r_s =0.857: p<0.05: n=8) but not in fibroblasts.

3.6.2.2 Actions of PAR-2 agonists

Addition of trypsin to fibroblasts or myofibroblasts was not associated with the release of proMMP-2 into cell supernatants, but active MMP-2 was detected in supernatants from preparations of myofibroblasts (p<0.05 compared with the response with no stimulus: n=4) (Fig. 3.6.11).

The PAR-2 agonist peptide, $SLIGKV-NH_2$ stimulated an increase in levels of proMMP-2 in supernatants from fibroblasts in a concentration dependent manner (Fig. 3.6.12 (A)). However, this pattern was not observed with myofibroblasts (Fig. 3.6.12(B)). Activated MMP-2 was observed in some but not all of the cell preparations investigated (Fig. 3.6.13). A correlation between the relative quantities

of proMMP-2 and active MMP-2 released from myofibroblasts was found ($r_s=0.457$: p<0.05: n=37), but this association was not observed with the fibroblasts.



Fig. 3.6.7

(A) Coomassie blue stained gelatin zymography gel showing bands of MMP-2 48 h after addition of (lane 1) medium only, (2) 5 ng/ml of TNF- α , (3) 3mU/ml tryptase, (4) 30mU/ml tryptase and (5) heat inactivated tryptase of 30mU/ml. (B) Western blot for MMP-2 and MMP-9 48 h after stimulation with, (lane 1) medium only, (2) 5 ng/ml of TNF- α , (3) 10 μ M PAR-2 activating peptide, SLIGKV-NH₂, (4) 100 μ M SLIGKV-NH₂, (5) 100 μ M non-PAR-2 activating control peptide, LSIGKV-NH₂, (6) 30mU/ml tryptase, (7) heat inactivated tryptase of 30mU/ml and (8) MMP positive control.





Effect of 10 mU/ml human lung (H) and recombinant (R) tryptase on production of proMMP-2 in cells of the MRC-5 line without TGF- β pre-treatment (fibroblasts) or following pre-treatment with TGF- β (myofibroblasts). Mean \pm SEM are shown for three separate experiments performed in duplicate.





Effect of tryptase and heat inactivated tryptase (inh-) on release of proMMP-2 by (A) fibroblasts and (B) myofibroblasts 24 h after stimulation. The relative amount of proMMP-2 production was measured in cell supernatants by zymography. Median values are shown for 9 separate experiments. *P<0.05 compared with the response with no stimulus by Dunnett's test.




Effect of tryptase and heat inactivated tryptase (inh-) on production of activated MMP-2 by (A) fibroblasts and (B) myofibroblasts 24 h after stimulation. The relative amount of activated MMP-2 production was measured in cell supernatants by zymography. Median values are shown for 7 to 8 separate experiments. *P<0.05 and**P<0.01 compared with the response with no stimulus by Dunnett's test. P<0.05 compared with 30 mU/ml tryptase.





Production of (A) pro and (B) active MMP-2 from primary cultures of fibroblasts (n=4) and myofibroblasts (n=4) stimulated with trypsin at 1 μ g/ml for 24 h. Median values are shown.



Fig. 3.6.12

A

В

Effect of the PAR-2 agonist peptide, SLIGKV-NH₂ and its control peptide (c-pep; at 100 μ M), LSIGKV-NH₂ on release of proMMP-2 by (A) fibroblasts and (B) myofibroblasts 24 h after stimulation. ProMMP-2 production was measured in cell supernatants by zymography. Median values are shown for 4 to 10 separate experiments. *P<0.05 and**P<0.01 compared with the response with no stimulus by Dunnett's test.





Effect of the PAR-2 agonist peptide, SLIGKV-NH₂ and its control peptide (c- pep; at 100 μ M), LSIGKV-NH₂ on release of activated MMP-2 by (A) fibroblasts and (B) myofibroblasts 24 h after stimulation. Activated MMP-2 production was measured in cell supernatants by zymography. Median values are shown for 4 to 10 separate experiments.

3.6.3 Characterisation of collagen types and TIMP

The effect of tryptase on expression of mRNA for the ECM components, collagen I α , collagen III α , TIMP 1 and TIMP 2 was investigated by RT-PCR 6 h after addition using cDNA from primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. APRT was used to normalise the band intensity.

A distinct band was observed just above the 200 bp marker with both of the amplification conditions used with primers for collagen (expected value for collagen I: 214 bp and for collagen III: 207 bp) (Fig. 3.6.14). With both amplification conditions with primers for TIMP, there was a clear band observed between the 100 and 200 bp markers (expected value for TIMP 1: 170 bp and for TIMP 2: 155 bp). The presence of a single RT-PCR product showed that the primers and thermocycling conditions were appropriate in this system. Expression of mRNA for collagen II α , collagen III α , TIMP 1 and TIMP 2 in the primary cultures of fibroblasts was confirmed.

The type of collagen synthesised by the fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in response to stimulation with tryptase was explored using RT-PCR to detect mRNA for types I and III collagen. Both collagen type I and III were produced by the fibroblast and myofibroblast preparations (Fig. 3.6.15). Expression of mRNA for collagen type I was not altered by addition of tryptase to fibroblasts, although addition of tryptase at 30 mU/ml to myofibroblasts appeared to increase expression with some preparations. Levels of mRNA for collagen type III were increased by tryptase to a greater extent in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts than was collagen type I in the same preparations.

The potential for the generation of TIMP in response to tryptase stimulation was examined by investigation of mRNA for TIMP1 and 2. For both of these inhibitors,

mRNA was expressed in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts (Fig. 3.6.16). There was a trend for increased expression of mRNA for TIMP 1 and TIMP 2 in response to tryptase stimulation in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, though this did not reach statistical significance in these studies.

Summary

Tryptase was found to induce an increased release of collagen from fibroblasts (P<0.01) and myofibroblasts (P<0.05) but the peptide agonist of PAR-2 did not alter collagen synthesis significantly under the same conditions. The type of collagen synthesised by fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in response to tryptase was determined to be type III collagen rather than type I collagen. Increased amounts of MMP-2 were released in response to tryptase from fibroblasts (P<0.05) and myofibroblasts (P<0.01). The peptide agonist of PAR-2 stimulated an increase in MMP-2 release by fibroblasts (P<0.01) but not from myofibroblasts.



Fig. 3.6.14

Expression of collagen I, collagen III, TIMP1 and TIMP2 in preparations of fibroblasts stimulated with tryptase for 6 h. RT-PCR products were run on a 1.5% agarose gel. APRT was included as a house keeping gene. These gels are representative of these obtained in three separate experiments with different preparations of fibroblasts.



Fig. 3.6.15

Effect of tryptase and heat inactivated tryptase (inh-) on expression of mRNA for (A) collagen I and (B) collagen III by fibroblasts and myofibroblasts 6 h after stimulation, as measured by RT-PCR. Median values are shown for 6 separate experiments.



Fig. 3.6.16

Effect of tryptase and heat inactivated tryptase (inh-) on expression of mRNA for (A) TIMP1 and (B) TIMP2 by fibroblasts and myofibroblasts 6 h after stimulation as measured by RT-PCR. Median values are shown for 6 separate experiments.

Chapter 4

Discussion

4 Discussion

These studies represent the first systematic investigations of the actions of mast cell tryptase and other agonists of PAR-2 on primary cultures of human lung fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. There was considerable heterogeneity in the responsiveness of cell preparations, but in various systems, tryptase was found to induce biological effects on these cells. This major mast cell product could contribute to processes of inflammation and tissue remodelling in bronchial asthma and other conditions. Some of the actions of tryptase were dependent on an intact catalytic site, and suggest a role for PAR-2, while for others there was little evidence for this mechanism.

Employing preparations of tryptase of high purity was essential for these studies. The recombinant β -tryptase isolated from a *Pichia pastoris* expression system was characterised in detail and was demonstrated to have similar enzymatic and physicochemical properties to tryptase purified from human lung tissue. The same preparation was employed for consistency throughout these studies.

The differences between the recombinant tryptase and the native enzyme in some of the physicochemical properties may have been a consequence of post-translational processing. The recombinant tryptase required NaCl at a concentration of 4.0 M for elution from heparin, while human lung tryptase could be eluted with 1.0 M NaCl. The stronger binding of recombinant tryptase to heparin may reflect a different pattern of glycosylation. This is also likely to contribute to the slight difference in molecular mass observed on polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis with silver staining and on western blotting in this and in a previous study of recombinant tryptase (Niles *et al.* 1998). Differences in charge and molecular mass in tryptase from human tissue have

been attributed to differences in glycosylation, as deglycosylation studies with peptide N-glycanase (PNGase) F have been found to induce a reduction of approximately 3 to 8 kDa in the molecular weight (Peng *et al.* 2003). There is also the potential for differences in amino acid sequence to contribute to the heterogeneity, but much of that which is stored and released by mast cells is likely to be the β form.

Studies involving heat inactivation of tryptase also revealed differences between native and recombinant preparations, with the latter proving more stable. Thus, heat inactivation at 94°C for 5 min resulted in complete abolition of the activity of human tryptase but only 65% of that of the recombinant tryptase. Again differences in glycosylation are the most likely explanation. Standardisation of preparations of tryptase so that the material is representative of that which is secreted form mast cells in vivo represents a challenge, and it remains to be determined the extent to which glycosylation may provide a means for the regulation of tryptase function. Nevertheless, the preparation of recombinant tryptase did share enzymatic properties with that purified from human lung tissue, and it could be inhibited by the protease inhibitors, leupeptin as well as by the selective tryptase inhibitor APC1390.

The percentage of tryptase estimated to be enzymatically active was very high in all preparations of purified tryptase. Where calculations indicated a percentage greater than 100%, the overestimation may have been due to the concentration of the 4-methylumbelliferone stock solution used to produce the standard curve being inaccurate, or to a shift in extinction coefficient (Jameson *et al.* 1973) owing to underestimation of protein, or possibly to both.

Human lung fibroblasts were successfully transformed into cells of a myofibroblast phenotype after incubation with TGF- β_2 for 72 h, using the procedure described by

Richter *et al.* (2001). The TGF- β_2 -induced myofibroblasts clearly possessed a myofibroblast phenotype, and expressed α -smooth muscle actin and vimentin, but not smooth muscle myosin as has been described by Low (1999). An advantage in using primary cultures of TGF- β -induced fibroblasts is that the transformation from fibroblasts to myofibroblasts has occurred for the cell population at the same time, and it is possible to investigate differences between the two cell phenotypes in well characterised, closely related cell populations. Primary cultures of myofibroblasts obtained directly from tissue could represent an alternative source of cells for study instead of using TGF- β stimulated fibroblasts. However, with primary cultures of cells with the myofibroblast phenotype, it is generally not clear to what extent the cells may represent myofibroblasts, or fibroblasts that have differentiated into myofibroblasts in culture.

TGF- β_2 has been used to induce myofibroblasts in investigations designed to imitate the remodelling that occurs during wound healing. Levels of TGF- β and especially TGF- β_2 are increased by epithelial injury (Zhang *et al.* 1999b), and TGF- β_2 is likely to be a natural stimulus for inducing a phenotypic change in fibroblasts in the airways. The myofibroblast phenotype induced by TGF- β_1 has been reported to be unstable, and removal of TGF- β to result in decreased expression of α -smooth muscle actin (Arora & McCulloch 1999). However, in the present studies, removal of TGF- β_2 from the system did not lead to a reduction in numbers of cells of the myofibroblast phenotype after a period of 48 h. Stimulation of myofibroblasts with TGF- β_2 for a further 48 h did not induce myosin expression. TGF- β_2 added to cells may have affected the performance of the mitogenesis assay, as TGF- β can regulate apoptosis of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts (Zhang & Phan 1999) which may interfere with the system. In this study, to avoid any effect that exogenous TGF- β_2 may have on cell responses, this growth factor was removed from cultures of myofibroblasts before addition of the stimulus.

The transformed myofibroblasts varied greatly in the degree to which they expressed smooth muscle actin. It is thus difficult to assess by immunocytochemistry the proportion of cells that may have been transformed into myofibroblasts. There were no significant differences in response between fibroblasts and myofibroblasts examined in these studies. Myofibroblasts which express different quantities of smooth muscle actin may not behave in a uniform way, and it is possible that the myofibroblast cultures contain not just a population of myofibroblasts, but also fibroblasts and perhaps cells with an intermediate phenotype. Such heterogeneity is also likely to occur in the lung in health and disease, though how closely the profile in cell culture may mimic that in the physiological situation is difficult to assess. It is possible that some of the effects of tryptase and other agonists on the myofibroblast cultures. For this reason, the findings with the myofibroblast cultures.

4.1 Tryptase as a mediator of fibroblast and myofibroblast mitogenesis and proliferation

Tryptase was able to induce dose-dependent alterations in [³H]-thymidine incorporation in both fibroblast and myofibroblast cultures. A bell-shaped response was noted, possibly on account of negative feedback mechanisms that could induce receptor desensitisation. As has been suggested by some previous reports (Cairns & Walls 1997, Akers et al. 2000, Frungieri et al. 2002), tryptase could represent an important stimulus for mitogenesis. Although effective at inducing fibroblast and myofibroblast mitogenesis, tryptase did not induce an increase in cell numbers under the conditions studied. This was somewhat surprising as increases in response to tryptase have been reported previously with the MRC-5 human fibroblast cell line (Cairns & Walls 1997), with primary cultures of human adult parenchymal lung fibroblasts (Akers et al. 2000), and with a human foetal foreskin fibroblast cell line (Frungieri et al. 2002). However, this has not been investigated with primary cultures of human lung myofibroblasts, and heterogeneity in cell preparations may have contributed to the inability to induce cell proliferation in the present studies. In this respect, there is a parallel with the report that tryptase can stimulate mitogenesis but not cell proliferation in HUVEC (Compton et al. 1998). It is possible that additional stimuli are necessary for tryptase to trigger proliferation in the primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts studied.

There was considerable heterogeneity between cell preparations in the degree to which cell mitogenesis was induced in response to the various stimuli. The nature of such heterogeneity is difficult to assess. Corteling *et al.* (2003) have reported that passage number could affect the degree of mitogenesis in primary cultures of guinea-pig tracheal smooth muscle cells in response to tryptase and other PAR-2 agonists. In the present studies, passage number was not found to be associated with variation in the

mitogenic response with tryptase. Differences in cell responses to tryptase have been reported with other cell types from different subjects. Thus, for example, eosinophils isolated from asthmatic subjects have shown quite different responses to tryptase in the release of granule mediators, with one third of the population appearing to be unresponsive (Vliagoftis *et al.* 2004). The issue as to whether the responsiveness of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts from asthmatics differed from those of non-asthmatics was investigated in the present studies, but no evidence for altered responses to tryptase were noted under the conditions employed.

Heat-inactivation of tryptase reduced the enzymatic activity, but it did not alter the mitogenic actions of tryptase. Though the majority of studies have indicated proteolytic actions of tryptase on cells, it has been suggested that tryptase may alter cell function also through non-proteolytic mechanisms. Thus, Brown *et al.* (2002) have reported that an increase in DNA synthesis induced by human lung tryptase on human airway smooth muscle cells was not affected by irreversible inhibition of catalytic activity by the serine protease inhibitor pAPMSF. In the present studies, a failure to inactivate tryptase fully could provide another explanation, perhaps as a consequence of the relative resistance of the recombinant tryptase to heat-inactivation.

The actions of tryptase on mitogenesis were reduced by preincubating the enzyme with the tryptase inhibitor APC 1390. At the concentrations employed in this study, leupeptin did not significantly inhibit the mitogenic actions of tryptase but there was a trend for this. The studies with tryptase inhibitors suggest that an intact catalytic site is required for tryptase-provoked mitogenesis of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, and PAR-2 deserves particular attention as a substrate in the system.

An antagonist of PAR-2 is not available. However, the finding that the effects of tryptase on mitogenesis could be mimicked by the addition of the peptide agonist

SLIGKV-NH₂ suggests that the mitogenic actions may be mediated by activation of PAR-2. These findings are consistent with previous reports that tryptase and PAR-2 agonist peptides can stimulate cell mitogenesis in a dose dependent manner in lung fibroblasts (Akers *et al.* 2000), and in airway smooth muscle cells (Berger *et al.* 2001a). Moreover, recombinant β tryptase has been reported to induce mitogenesis in a PAR-2 expressing murine lymphoid cell line, but not in cells expressing PAR-2 that had been modified by an amino acid substitution at the cleavage site rendering them unresponsive to proteolytic activation (Mirza *et al.* 1997).

Somewhat surprisingly, though mitogenesis was stimulated by tryptase in myofibroblasts, this was not observed with the PAR-2 agonist peptide. It is possible that the concentration of the agonist peptide employed was not high enough to provoke PAR-2 stimulation in myofibroblasts. The peptide agonist is relatively weak as an investigational tool, and can be susceptible to degradation. A role for tryptase as a stimulus of myofibroblast mitogenesis remains unclear, and it could possibly be independent of PAR-2.

Calcium flux was induced by the PAR-2 agonist peptide SLIGRL-NH₂ confirming that the PAR-2 expressed on these cells was functional. The result was verified by PAR-2 desensitisation studies and by the lack of response to the non-PAR-2-activating peptide added as a control. There was evidence also of functional PAR-1 expression detected using the peptide agonist, but not of PAR-3 or PAR-4. There is currently no peptide agonist for PAR-3 available, so PAR-3 expression was examined indirectly by investigating the ability of thrombin to stimulate a response after desensitising the cells to other PAR.

In these studies, the preparations of lung myofibroblasts expressed functional PAR-2 as assessed by calcium flux in response to peptide agonists of PAR-2 and trypsin.

There has been some controversy over the extent to which PAR-2 may be expressed by fibroblasts, and until recently tools for the detection of PAR-2 have been limited. However, with the advent of the new PAR-2 specific monoclonal antibody, P2A, an improved method for immunocytochemical detection of PAR-2 is possible. Using this antibody, expression of PAR-2 was detected by immunocytochemistry in cultures of myofibroblasts as well as in fibroblasts. In addition to surface expression, there was strong cytoplasmic expression suggesting the presence of an intracellular pool of PAR-2.

There appeared to be constant expression of mRNA for PAR-2 in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts as assessed by RT-PCR over a period of 48 hours. PAR-2 expression has not been investigated previously in lung myofibroblasts, but this receptor has been detected in cells with similar characteristics in other tissues. Progressive transformation of rat hepatic stellate cells to myofibroblasts in culture has been reported to be associated with increased mRNA for PAR-2 as assessed by RT-PCR and northern blotting, and also with increased expression of PAR-2 in western blotting (Gaca *et al.* 2002). The expression of mRNA for PAR-2 has been reported to be constant in primary cultures of guinea pig tracheal smooth muscle cells over different passages (Corteling *et al.* 2003). Masamune *et al.* (2005) have observed PAR-2 expression in rat pancreatic stellate cells by western blotting, and detected mRNA for this receptor. Interestingly, expression of PAR-2 was not detected in freshly isolated cells in that study, and was observed only after the cells had been cultured.

The failure of both recombinant and purified lung tryptase to stimulate calcium flux and hence to activate PAR-2, appears to be at variance with previous reports of tryptase acting as an agonist for this receptor. Most studies that have appeared to indicate that tryptase can act through PAR-2, have been based simply on the observation of PAR-2 expression in the cells employed, and on the finding that actions

of tryptase can be mimicked by PAR-2 agonist peptides. However, tryptase as well as trypsin and PAR-2 agonist peptides have been reported to induce increases in levels of intracellular calcium in primary cultures of keratinocytes (Steinhoff *et al.* 1999), human bronchial smooth muscle cells (Schmidlin *et al.* 2001), and bovine aortic endothelial cells (Sendo *et al.* 2003), all cells that have been found to express PAR-2. Calcium flux was investigated in myofibroblast preparations (which in these studies will have contained fibroblasts also, approximately 15% of the cells present). In future studies, the effects on calcium flux in non-TGF- β exposed fibroblasts should be tested with tryptase and PAR-2 agonists.

The idea that tryptase can induce calcium flux through PAR-2 activation has been strengthened by studies in which keratinocytes have been desensitised to tryptase by preincubation with a PAR-2 agonist peptide or trypsin (Schechter *et al.* 1998). Moreover, Berger *et al.* (2001b) have found that desensitisation of airway smooth muscle cells with tryptase could block induction of an increase in intracellular calcium in response to PAR-2 agonists, and vice versa. The induction of calcium flux by tryptase required enzymatic activity. In contrast, addition of tryptase to non-PAR-2 expressing cells such as platelets has been reported to be without effect on intracellular calcium levels (Molino *et al.* 1997).

The failure of tryptase to stimulate the activation of PAR-2 has been reported by Compton *et al.* 2001, who did not see any effect on calcium flux in cells expressing rat PAR-2. Moreover, Weidinger *et al.* (2003) have recently reported that though enzymatically active tryptase can inhibit the motility of human spermatozoa that express PAR-2, it did not alter intracellular calcium levels in these cells. Furthermore, treatment of spermatozoa with pertussis toxin (a blocker of Gi proteins) did not inhibit the effects of tryptase on motility, suggesting the potential for non-PAR-2 mediated pathways for tryptase action.

Tryptase has been found to induce responses in cells by a catalytic mechanism apparently in the absence of PAR-2. Although Vliagoftis *et al.* (2004) did not detect expression of PAR-2 in eosinophils by flow cytometry, tryptase provoked the release of eosinophil peroxidase from these cells. A PAR-2 agonist peptide failed to reproduce this response in these cells. Evidence for a non-PAR-2 dependent pathway for tryptase actions has come also from studies of tryptase-induced DNA synthesis in primary cultures of guinea pig tracheal smooth muscle cells maintained up to the second passage (Corteling *et al.* 2003). The actions of tryptase on mitogenesis were reduced by the inhibitor leupeptin, and although expression of PAR-2 on these cells was suggested by detection of specific mRNA, a PAR-2 agonist peptide did not induce DNA synthesis.

In spite of the various reports to the contrary, there is evidence that tryptase can indeed act through PAR-2. Lung tryptase can induce [3 H]-thymidine incorporation and cell proliferation, as measured by the MTS procedure in primary cultures of human airway smooth muscle cells (Berger *et al.* 2001a). The effects of tryptase on these cells were abolished by preincubating with protease inhibitors and by heat-inactivating the enzyme. Application of pertussis toxin to the cells inhibited the mitogenic actions of tryptase, and a PAR-2 agonist peptide mimicked the actions of tryptase. Thus, these mitogenic and proliferative responses of cells to tryptase are likely to be mediated by PAR-2. Human recombinant tryptase has been reported to induce the expression of mRNA for IL-8 from human peripheral blood eosinophils on which PAR-2 had been detected by FACS (Temkin *et al.* 2002). This was decreased in the presence of antisera to which PAR-2 blocking effects were ascribed, supporting the idea that the actions of tryptase were mediated by PAR-2 in this system. TNF- α release from a human astrocytoma cell line has been reported to be induced by trypsin, a PAR-2 agonist peptide and by tryptase (Kim *et al.* 2002). Each of these three stimuli have

been found to induce the depolarisation of guinea pig submucosal neurons (in which mRNA for PAR-2 was detected) (Reed *et al.* 2003). Alm *et al.* (2000) have reported that tryptase purified from human lung or skin can cleave murine PAR-2 tagged with insulin C-peptide to allow quantification by ELISA expressed in an insect cell line, though the potency of tryptase in this system was only some 10% of that of pancreatic trypsin (Alm *et al.* 2000).

Conflicting accounts of the ability of tryptase to activate PAR-2 could be due to differences in the PAR-2 expressed on the cells. Glycosylation could restrict access of tryptase to the PAR-2 cleavage site. Compton et al. (2001) have reported that the failure of tryptase to activate PAR-2 could be overcome by treatment with neuraminidase or tunicamycin, or by site-direct mutation of human embryonic kidney cells or rat kidney epithelial cells transfected with PAR-2. The cleavage of deglycosylated PAR-2 by tryptase was confirmed by the detection of the peptide cleaved from PAR-2 using immunocytochemistry and HLPC analysis. Heparin in a ratio of 2: 1 with tryptase was found to inhibit PAR-2 cleavage by tryptase, suggesting heparin may interrupt the interaction of tryptase with PAR-2. Alteration of the position of the glycosylation sites of human PAR-2 in a Chinese hamster ovary fibroblast cell line by site directed mitogenesis (so that glycosylation was removed) was found to increase the sensitivity to tryptase cleavage (Compton et al. 2002a). This was also forced to reduce the sensitivity to other PAR-2 agonists as assessed by calcium flux measurements. Such studies have been extended to a rat aortic ring model in which it has been reported that tryptase could induce relaxation after neuraminidase treatment of the tissues, whereas such a pretreatment was not necessary for a response with trypsin or with a peptide agonist of PAR-2 (Compton et al. 2002b).

A polymorphic variant of PAR-2 has been described with an amino acid substitution in the second extracellular loop, the agonist recognition site of PAR-2 (Compton *et al.*

2000). The mutant receptor showed marked differences in sensitivity to various PAR-2 agonists as assessed by measurement of intracellular calcium levels. Genetic variation could provide an additional explanation for the variable responsiveness of PAR-2 to tryptase.

The lack of reliable tools can make the study of PAR-2 mediated processes a challenge. Thus, trypsin and tc-LIGRLO-NH₂ which have been widely employed as PAR-2 agonists may induce various biological responses independently of PAR-2 activation. Trypsin has been found to induce increased PGE₂ release from human airway smooth muscle cells, and increased expression of COX-2, as well as mRNA for COX-2, but such responses were not induced by tryptase or by a PAR-2 agonist peptide (Chambers *et al.* 2003). The release of β -hexosaminidase has been reported from rat peritoneal mast cells in responses to tc-LIGRLO-NH₂, but not to trypsin, tryptase, or other PAR-2 agonists (Stenton *et al.* 2002). Corteling *et al.* (2003) have reported that tryptase induced DNA synthesis in primary cultures of guinea-pig tracheal smooth muscle cells could be reduced by the inhibitor leupeptin, but a PAR-2 agonist peptide did not induce DNA synthesis in these cells.

The present studies indicate that tryptase can induce fibroblast and myofibroblast mitogenesis. This activity of tryptase seems to depend on an intact catalytic site. The peptide agonist of PAR-2 could mimic the mitogenic actions of tryptase in fibroblasts but not in myofibroblasts, even though both expressed PAR-2. Clear evidence for a role for PAR-2 in tryptase-induced mitogenesis was not obtained. Neither tryptase nor the PAR-2 agonist peptide were able to stimulate the proliferation of cells, suggesting that stimuli other than those required for DNA synthesis, may be required for cell division.

4.2 Pro-inflammatory actions of tryptase on fibroblasts and myofibrobalsts.

Although cytokine synthesis and release from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts has been studied in response to other stimuli such as TNF- α and IL-1 β (Zhang *et al.* 1996a, Zhang *et al.* 1996b, Rogler *et al.* 2001) this is the first investigation of the effects of tryptase and PAR-2 stimulation in these cells. IL-6, IL-8 and GM-CSF were selected as being of particular interest as these cytokines are known to be released from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, and they could play major roles in processes of inflammation and remodelling in asthma.

Both trypsin and a peptide agonist of PAR-2 stimulated cytokine IL-6 and IL-8 release from primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. These responses were not elicited with tryptase at the concentrations used in these studies. However, when a wider concentration range of tryptase was employed in studies with the MRC-5 cell line, the higher concentrations of tryptase were found to increase cytokine release from these cells. It is possible that at high concentrations, tryptase can disturb cell attachment and induce cytokine release indirectly, but the concentrations used were not high enough to detach cells from the culture vessels.

Peak expression of mRNA for cytokines was observed 6 to 12 h before the detection of cytokines in the cell supernatants. TNF- α used as a positive control stimulus induced increased expression of mRNA and cytokine release with similar kinetics for the fibroblast and myofibroblast preparations. The temporal association between mRNA expression and cytokine release suggests that the cytokines detected in supernatants may be newly synthesised in response to the stimulus rather than released from cytokine stores in the cells.

There was considerable variation between responses even with the same stimulus. This can be explained by individual differences between the donors of cell cultures. The cells employed in these studies were derived from a mixed population with a range of different ages and both sexes represented. No differences in cell responses were observed between the asthmatic and non-asthmatic populations, though the limited numbers of cells available did not allow this comparison to be made for measurements of cytokine release in response to the various stimuli.

Aggarwal *et al.* (1995) have reported that differences in cell passage number (passage 23 with 70) can be associated with a decline in TNF-induced fibroblast proliferation responses as well as in the production of IL-6 and IL-8 by fibroblasts. Particular care was taken in the present studies to employ cells of similar passage number for all comparisons, but the possibility of differences in cell age contributing to the variation cannot be excluded.

TNF- α , added as a positive control stimulus induced significant changes in expression of mRNA for IL-6 and IL-8 under the conditions employed, but this was not seen with tryptase or with PAR-2 agonists. Release of GM-CSF and expression of mRNA for this cytokine was extremely low compared with that of the other cytokines studied. Compared with endothelial cells that are recognised as a major source of this cytokine (Krishnaswamy *et al.* 1999), fibroblasts produce GM-CSF in relatively small quantities. In the present studies levels of GM-CSF in supernatants were below the limit of detection.

GAPDH has been employed as a house keeping gene in studies of the expression of numerous different genes by quantitative real time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (Johnson *et al.* 2000), and GAPDH has been used previously in studies of mRNA expression in fibroblasts (Takahashi *et al.* 2000). There have been

suggestions that GAPDH may be unstable and thus unsuitable as a reference house keeping gene (Bond *et al.* 2002). One study involving a comparison of GAPDH, β -actin, cyclophilin and 28SrRNA as internal standards in quantifying RNA levels, concluded that GAPDH may give highly variable signals under conditions of hypoxia (20-70% variation) (Zhong & Simons 1999). However, for semi-quantitative analysis of gene expression, GAPDH has shown the least variation in a range of human tissues compared with that with other house keeping genes, such as β -actin whose expression may be upregulated or downregulated under different experimental conditions (Kondo *et al.* 1994, Medhurst *et al.* 2000).

A problem with cDNA amplification arose unexpectedly in the present studies, and there were some difficulties in obtaining intact cDNA from extracted total RNA from samples stimulated with tryptase. The total RNA measured (at 260 nm) and its quality (260 nm/280 nm) were not different from those of other stimulated cells, but there was no amplification of products by PCR, even of the house-keeping gene. Intensive washing of cells appeared to solve the problem, but the reason for the failure to obtain PCR products remains unresolved. As only those samples stimulated with active tryptase and not those with the protease inhibitor or with heat-inactivated tryptase were affected, it would appear to be dependent on an intact catalytic site. As the initial wash should have been sufficient to remove most of the tryptase present, and phenol in the RNA extracting solution should have denatured any protein present at that stage of extraction, it is unlikely that tryptase acted directly on the RNA. There have been no reports of tryptic enzymes acting on nucleic acid.

PAR-2 stimulation was found to induce the release of inflammatory cytokines in primary cultures of human lung fibroblasts and myofibroblasts 24 h after stimulation. Tryptase may also stimulate the release of proinflammatory cytokines from cells via processes either dependent or independent of PAR-2 activation. The present findings suggest that mast cell degranulation can, through release of tryptase, stimulate inflammatory changes in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts that are manifested up to 48 h after the initial triggering event.

Investigation of processes of cell signalling should help to unravel mechanisms whereby tryptase can stimulate alterations in cell behaviour. Should tryptase act through PAR-2 action, then one would expect cytokine release in response to trypsin and peptide agonists of PAR-2 to provoke similar signals. Numanami *et al.* (2003) have reported that inhibitors of serine protease can interfere with the production of chemotactic cytokines by human lung fibroblasts in response to TNF- α and IL-1 β stimulus, indication the potential for confounding factors in studies of the cellular action of tryptase and PAR-2 agonists, clearly there is the need for a broad range of investigational approach to be adopted.

Mast cells have been reported to have the capacity to contribute directly to the cytokine network in wound repair though the release of IL-4 and other cytokines, which can themselves stimulate fibroblast proliferation (Trautmann *et al.* 2000). This is the first report of a mast cell protease inducing proinflammatory actions in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts though there have been previous studies of tryptase and of agonists of PAR-2 inducing cytokine release from other cells. Thus, it has been shown that tryptase can stimulate IL-8 release from cells of an airway epithelial cells (Cairns & Walls 1996), and from an endothelial cell line (Compton *et al.* 1998), and IL-6 and IL-8 release from eosinophils (Temkin *et al.* 2002), and stem cell factor from airway smooth muscle cells (Berger *et al.* 2003). Peptide agonists of PAR-2 have been reported to stimulate the release of GM-CSF from human airway epithelial cells (Vlisgoftis *et al.* 2001), IL-6 and IL-8 from dermal endothelial cells (Shpacovitch *et al.* 2002), IL-8 from gingival fibroblasts (Uehara *et al.* 2003).

The generation and release of IL-6, IL-8 and GM-CSF from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts could have important consequences, as these are major pro-inflammatory cytokines. IL-8 can play key roles in the migration of inflammatory cells, and GM-CSF can induce the activation, survival and adhesion of inflammatory cells such as macrophages, eosinophils and neutrophils (Hamilton 2002). Furthermore, it has been suggested that these cytokines can have actions on fibroblasts consistent with remodelling. Thus, IL-6 can exert suppressive effects on fibroblast proliferation. (Shahar *et al.* 1996), induce synthesis of procollagen, inhibit the spontaneous apoptosis of these cells, and also inhibit mitogenic activity via the MAPK/tyrosine kinase pathway in lung fibroblasts. (Scaffidi *et al.* 2002). These various actions can link processes of inflammation and remodelling.

4.3 Tryptase as a stimulus for tissue remodelling.

There have been several reports of tryptase having actions on fibroblasts consistent with roles in remodelling. The present studies confirm and extend this concept, and indicate for the first time that this major mast cell product can interact with myofibroblasts, a key cell involved in tissue remodelling. Tryptase was found to stimulate altered release and synthesis of key components of the ECM and also of matrix metalloproteases from myofibroblasts as well as from fibroblasts. In recent years, there has been a growing awareness of the importance of remodelling as well as of inflammation in the pathogenesis of asthma. The contribution of tryptase as a stimulus for the deposition of components of the ECM from myofibroblasts below the basement membrane deserves consideration in the asthmatic lung.

Tryptase was found to induce an increased release of collagen from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts as assessed by measurement of [³H]-proline collagen. This finding is in accord with previous studies that have indicated that tryptase can stimulate type I collagen from a human lung fibroblast cell line (MRC-5) (Cairns & Walls 1997) and from dermal fibroblasts (Abe *et al.* 1998). The type of collagen synthesised by fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in response to tryptase was determined by PCR to be like type III collagen rather than type I collagen. This is at variance with the previous report that MRC-5 fibroblasts synthesise predominantly collagen type I, and little collagen type III in response to tryptase (Cairns & Walls 1997). However, bands for PCR products of both collagen type I and III were observed on gels at all the time points tested. Heat-inactivation of tryptase did not alter the response of cells significantly, suggesting that the stimulation of collagen synthesis and release may not be dependent on the catalytic activity of tryptase.

Under the conditions of the present studies there was no significant difference between fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in the degree of collagen synthesis induced by tryptase. Human myofibroblasts have been reported to express more collagen and MMP than fibroblasts (Ramos *et al.* 2001). Epithelial cells from asthmatic subjects (which can release greater amounts of active TGF- β 1 than those from non-asthmatic subjects), have been reported to stimulate the release of collagen type III from myofibroblasts but not collagen type I (Hastie *et al.* 2002).

The lack of effect of heat inactivation on tryptase-induced collagen synthesis by fibroblasts and myofibroblasts would argue against a role for PAR-2 in this process. In keeping with this, the peptide agonist of PAR-2 did not alter collagen synthesis significantly.

The presence of gelatinase activity was detected by zymography in supernatants of both fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. Myofibroblasts from the human lung have previously been reported to release MMP-2 with a molecular wight of 72 kDa, and MMP-9 of 92 kDa (Fukuda *et al.* 1998). The high intensity band detected with an apparent molecular weight of 72 kDa in the present studies will be pro MMP-2, and at 67 kDa, MMP-2 in activated form. There was no detectable MMP-9 band observed even in supernatants from myofibroblasts, though there were faint bands that could be observed by the human eye (but which were not detected with the resolution of the imaging equipment available).

The quantities of MMP-2 detected in cell supernatants in response to tryptase were highly variable. MMP-2 was found to be present in cells in the pro-form and both the pro-form and the active form could have been newly generated by the cells in response to tryptase. The formation of the active form may be dependent on the quantity of the pro-form available. Collagen disk contraction by rat fibroblasts, taken as a measure of wound healing, has been reported to be delayed with increased age in rats, and increasing age is associated with the release of greater quantities of MMP-2 from fibroblasts (Ballas & Davidson 2001). The extent to which release of MMPs from human subjects may be related to age remains to be investigated, but it is possible that this could contribute to the considerable variation in the response of cells from different donors.

It has been reported that MMP-2 and fibronectin are substrates for tryptase and are degraded by this protease (Lohi *et al.* 1992). In the present studies the increased amounts of activated MMP-2 induced in response to tryptase are likely to be a consequence of the actions of tryptase on the cells and not direct degradation of proMMP-2 by tryptase. Tryptase has been reported to activate latent rheumatoid synovial collagenase (Gruber *et al.* 1988), and there are reports of the activation of MMP-3 by dog tryptase but not of MMP-2 or MMP-9 (Lees *et al.* 1994, Johnson *et al.* 1998). Activated mast cells have been found to stimulate production of MMP-1, MMP-3 and MMP-2 by endometrial stroma cells (Zhang *et al.* 1998). However, it has been reported that mast cell tryptase did not alter basal levels of MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-9 or TIMP-1 in dermal fibroblasts, or alter expression of mRNA for these proteins (Zhang *et al.* 1999c). Tryptase could exert both direct and indirect effects on components of the ECM, that are mediated through catalytic and non-catalytic actions of this mast cell product.

The production and activation of collagenase in response to PAR-2 stimulation differed between fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. With fibroblasts there was a significant increase in pro-MMP-2 synthesis in response to the peptide agonist of PAR-2, but this was not seen with myofibroblasts. This observation suggests there may be a greater contribution for fibroblasts than for myofibroblasts in controlling the balance of ECM components in response to PAR-2 activation. The active form of

MMP-2 was rarely observed following PAR-2 simulation, though it was clearly induced in response to tryptase. These findings, again suggest that different mechanisms are involved with tryptase and PAR-2 stimulation. Interestingly even with the fibroblast cultures (in which there was induction of collagenase), there appeared to be preparations of responding and non-responding cells.

Levels of TIMP-2 appeared to be affected more than those of TIMP-1 in response to tryptase stimulation in both fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, though measurement of the band densitometry of end point PCR should be regarded as a semi-quantitative technique. Real time PCR should provide a more precise method of mRNA quantification than end point PCR for mRNA quantification (Schmittgen *et al.* 2000). The amount of MMP and TIMP production and their relative activities are important as the MMP-9/TIMP-1 ratio has been reported to correlate with airflow obstruction in asthma (Vignola *et al.* 1998). An interest in carrying out these studies was to investigate potential alterations in the MMP-9/TIMP-1 ratio between the cell types in response to the different stimuli, but the small quantities of MMP-9 and TIMP present did not allow this issue to be addressed.

In the present studies it has been established that tryptase can induce the synthesis of collagen and increase MMP-2 production in primary cultures of human lung fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. In the asthmatic airways, this mast cell product could contribute to an imbalance in ECM homeostasis through PAR-2 independent pathways that could possibly be more important than PAR-2 dependent processes in this system. The ability of PAR-2 activation to stimulate MMP-2 production, but not collagen production by fibroblasts would seem likely to increase the rate of collagen degradation, a mechanism that would run counter to the processes of collagen deposition associated with the pattern of remodelling seen in asthmatic airways. Tryptase on the other hand could stimulate the release of ECM components from

fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. These actions of tryptase would seem to be maintained for a period of several days after the initial exposure of cells to this protease, and could have been preceded by direct actions on extracellular substrates.

A correlation has been reported between levels of tryptase and of MMP-2, MMP-9 and TGF- β 1 but not with levels of TIMP-1 in nasal polyp tissue homogenates (Lee *et al.* 2003). The present studies suggests there may be a causal relationship between tryptase release and the release of MMP, though further studies with a broader range of approaches will be required to understand the nature and the extent to which such processes may occur in asthmatic airways.

4.4 Conclusions

Tryptase has the ability to provoke a range of actions in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. This major mast cell product was found to induce mitogenic responses and the release of cytokines, as well as to alter the composition of the ECM through the production of collagens and activation of collagenases. Some of the effects of tryptase on primary cultures of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts could be reproduced using a peptide agonist of PAR-2, but this was not seen consistently. Moreover, PAR-2 agonists had effects which were not seen with tryptase (Fig.4.4).

The presence of PAR-2 on primary cultures of lung fibroblasts and myofibroblasts was detected by immunocytochemistry, and mRNA for this receptor by PCR. Moreover, the response of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts to stimulation with PAR-2 agonists indicates expression of functional PAR-2. The present studies strongly suggest that mechanisms other than activation of these receptors may be involved in tryptase-mediated processes on fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. Systematic comparison of the actions of tryptase and peptide agonists of PAR-2 has revealed important differences in response. These findings would appear to suggest that the situation is more complex than has been suggested in previous studies where the effects of tryptase on fibroblasts have been interpreted purely in terms of activation of PAR-2 (Akers *et al.* 2000).

The lack of an effective antagonist hampers investigation of the contributions of PAR-2, especially given the observations that catalytically active tryptase does not invariably activate this receptor. Important questions remain over the potential for heterogeneity in PAR-2 as well as in tryptase, and the conditions for optimal receptor activation. In the present studies heterogeneity in fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, and particularly that between preparations from different human donors is likely to have

contributed to variability in responses, despite attempts to carefully standardise procedures.

The apparent inability of heat-treatments or of pre-incubating the enzyme with protease inhibitors to reduce some of the effects of tryptase on fibroblasts and myofibroblasts calls attention to the potential for non-proteolytic mechanisms. This possibility has been mooted previously by Brown *et al.* (2002), who noted that protease inhibitors failed to inhibit tryptase-induced mitogenesis in airway smooth muscle cells. A number of other proteases are recognised for their ability to mediate biological processes by non-catalytic mechanisms, and it will be important for this issue to be examined more fully for tryptase.

Whatever the mechanisms whereby tryptase may modulate cell function and the extent to which PAR-2 activation may be involved, it is clear that this major secretory product of human mast cells can stimulate diverse effects on a variety of cell types. The mitogenic actions of tryptase on fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, have been observed also with epithelial cells (Cairns & Walls 1996), endothelial cells (Blair et al. 1997) and airway smooth muscle cells (Berger et al. 2001a). The ability of tryptase to stimulate cytokine release from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts is consistent with previous reports of release of cytokines and growth factors by epithelial cells (Cairns & Walls 1996), endothelial cells (Compton et al. 1998), eosinophils (Temkin et al. 2002) and airway smooth muscle cells (Berger et al. 2003). The observation of MMP-2 release from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in the present studies has some parallels with the reported release of MMP from epithelial cells (Vliagoftis et al. 2000) and supports the concept that tryptase can participate in processes of tissue remodelling. The ability of tryptase to stimulate also the release of collagens from fibroblasts and myofibroblasts found in these studies, and reports that this protease can activate certain MMP (Gruber et al. 1989), further underscores the potential for

tryptase to alter the composition of the ECM. The release of mast cell tryptase into the airways could lead to inflammatory changes and alterations in tissue structure within minutes as well as having effects many hours after the initial triggering events.

Some of the effects of tryptase on fibroblasts and myofibroblasts seen in the present studies have been less striking than have been observed with certain other cell types or other models, but the overall findings do strengthen the concept of tryptase as a mediator of inflammation and remodelling. Of particular significance could be the potential of tryptase as a participant in both of these processes, and it could provide a link between inflammation and remodelling.

Future work

Tryptase deserves attention as a stimulus for the development of chronic disease. Though, some of the effects on fibroblasts and myofibroblast appeared less potent than the EGF and TNF- α employed a s positive control stimuli, it is difficult to make accurate comparisons based on the local concentrations of these various stimuli. Certainty in the asthmatic lung, it is well established that there may be high levels of tryptase. It is not possible to reproduce *in vitro*, the complex situation *in vivo*, where tryptase is likely to be present with other stimuli of cell function. Future work is required to investigate the potential for interaction using models involving co-culture of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts with mast cells and other cell types in order to investigate the effect of tryptase in a more relevant setting. The possibility that tryptase may exert a priming role, or interact synergistic way with other mediators also requires investigation.

In the present studies the preparation of human lung and recombinant tryptase were found to be having broadly similar chemical and biological properties, though there were some differences observed. However, apparent discrepancies between these findings and those of some previous published reports raise the possibility of heterogeneity in preparations of tryptase employed. Future studies should focus on this issue, and in particular the effects of different sequences of tryptases should be examined.

The possibility that tryptase can alter cell function independently of PAR-2 activation requires further study. The lack of an effective antagonist for PAR-2 restricts the scope of investigations of the contributions of PAR-2, and the development of suitable tools will be important in allowing this issue to be addressed. Meanwhile, PAR-2 knock-out mice or PAR-2 transfected cell lines can be used to advantage. It would be instructive to examine the effects of tryptase on cells transfected to allow to expression of different forms of PAR-2 that could be functional and non-functional, or possess glycosylation site differences. Detailed investigation of processes of cell signalling should also help to unravel the mechanisms whereby tryptase can stimulate alterations in cell behaviour. Involvement of GPCR can be investigated by inhibiting the signal transduction of G protein using pertussis toxin, and down stream events should be tested systemically using specific inhibitors.

PAR-2 activation has been reported to induce the release of PGE_2 and COX-2 from airway smooth muscle cells (Chambers *et al.* 2003), and PGE_2 can inhibit local immune responses and increase blood flow, and this could facilitate faster resolution of local inflammation (Cocks *et al.* 1999). Such a protective role of PAR-2 activation in inflammation should further investigated in models involving fibroblasts and myofibroblasts, as well as the pro-inflammatory action.
The extent of which fibroblasts from non-asthmatic subjects may differ from those of asthmatic subjects was not investigated in depth in these studies on account of the small sample numbers available. It will be important to re-examine this issue as larger numbers of samples are available, a link between cell function and disease could be important for an understanding of the contributions of tryptase and PAR-2 in asthma.

Tryptase represents an attractive target for therapeutic intervention in asthma and other respiratory conditions. Inhibitors of tryptase would be expected to inhibit processes of tissue remodelling (an area of unmet medical need), as well as to have anti-inflammatory actions. The availability of potent and selective inhibitors of tryptase should shed light on the natural substrates of this abundant mast cell protease, and perhaps allow a better assessment of non-catalytic actions. The findings of the present studies suggest that the administration of tryptase inhibitors and antagonists of PAR-2 will have quite different effects in patients.





Fig. 4.4

Potential actions of (A) tryptase and (B) peptide agonist of PAR-2 on fibroblasts and myofibroblasts and the consequences for inflammation and remodelling in the lung.

References

Abe M, Kurosawa M, Ishikawa O, Miyachi Y, Kido H. 1998, "Mast cell tryptase stimulates both human dermal fibroblast proliferation and type I collagen production", *Clin. Exp. Allergy.*, vol. 28, no. 12, pp. 1509-1517.

Abe M, Kurosawa M, Ishikawa O, Miyachi Y. 2000, "Effect of mast cell-derived mediators and mast cell-related neutral proteases on human dermal fibroblast proliferation and type I collagen production", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 106, no. 1 Pt 2, pp. S78-S84.

Aggarwal BB, Totpal K, LaPushin R, Chaturvedi MM, Pereira-Smith OM, Smith JR. 1995, "Diminished responsiveness of senescent normal human fibroblasts to TNF-dependent proliferation and interleukin production is not due to its effect on the receptors or on the activation of a nuclear factor NF-kappa B", *Exp. Cell Res.*, vol. 218, no. 1, pp. 381-388.

Akers IA, Parsons M, Hill MR, Hollenberg M D, Sanjar S, Laurent G J, McAnulty RJ. 2000, "Mast cell tryptase stimulates human lung fibroblast proliferation via protease-activated receptor-2", *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.*, vol. 278, no. 1, p. L193-L201.

Al Ani B, Saifeddine M, Kawabata A, Renaux B, Mokashi S, Hollenberg MD. 1999, "Proteinase-activated receptor 2 (PAR(2)): development of a ligand- binding assay correlating with activation of PAR(2) by PAR(1)- and PAR(2)-derived peptide ligands", *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, vol. 290, no. 2, pp. 753-760.

Alam R. 1997, "Chemokines in allergic inflammation", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 99, no. 3, pp. 273-277.

Alm AK, Gagnemo-Persson R, Sorsa T, Sundelin J. 2000, "Extrapancreatic trypsin-2 cleaves proteinase-activated receptor-2", *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 275, no. 1, pp. 77-83.

Ammit AJ, Bekir SS, Johnson PR, Hughes JM, Armour CL, Black JL. 1997, "Mast cell numbers are increased in the smooth muscle of human sensitized isolated bronchi", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol.155, no 3, pp 1123-1129.

Arora PD. McCulloch CA. 1999, "The deletion of transforming growth factor-beta-induced myofibroblasts depends on growth conditions and actin organization", *Am. J. Pathol.*, vol. 155, no. 6, pp. 2087-2099.

Arrang JM, Garbarg M, Schwartz JC. 1983, "Auto-inhibition of brain histamine release mediated by a novel class (H3) of histamine receptor", *Nature.*, vol. 302, no.5911, pp. 832-837.

Aslam A, Buckley MG, Compton SJ, Wilson SJ, Howarth PH, Walls AF. 2002, "Allergen-induced upregulation of protease activated receptor 2 (PAR-2) expression in the bronchial epithelium of asthmatics", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol.109, pp. A214.

Asokananthan N, Graham PT, Fink J, Knight DA., Bakker AJ, McWilliam AS, Thompson PJ, Stewart GA. 2002, "Activation of protease-activated receptor (PAR)-1, PAR-2, and PAR-4 stimulates IL-6, IL-8, and prostaglandin E(2) release from human respiratory epithelial cells", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 168, no. 7, pp. 3577-3585.

Atamas SP. 2002, "Complex cytokine regulation of tissue fibrosis", *Life Sci.*, vol. 72, no. 6, pp. 631-643.

Austen KF, Boyce JA. 2001, "Mast cell lineage development and phenotypic regulation", *Leuk. Res.*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 511-518.

Bachem MG, Sell KM, Melchior R, Kropf J, Eller T, Gressner AM. 1993, "Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF alpha) and transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF beta 1) stimulate fibronectin synthesis and the transdifferentiation of fat-storing cells in the rat liver into myofibroblasts", *Virchows Arch. B Cell Pathol. Incl. Mol. Pathol.*, vol. 63, no. 2, pp. 123-130.

Ballas CB, Davidson JM. 2001, "Delayed wound healing in aged rats is associated with increased collagen gel remodeling and contraction by skin fibroblasts, not with differences in apoptotic or myofibroblast cell populations", *Wound Repair Regen.*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 223-237.

Barnes NC, Piper PJ, Costello JF. 1984, "Comparative effects of inhaled leukotriene C4, leukotriene D4, and histamine in normal human subjects", *Thorax.*, vol. 39, no. 7, pp. 500-504.

Berger P, Perng DW, Thabrew H, Compton SJ, Cairns JA, McEuen AR, Marthan R, Tunon De Lara JM, Walls AF. 2001a, "Tryptase and agonists of PAR-2 induce the proliferation of human airway smooth muscle cells", *J. Appl. Physiol.*, vol. 91, no. 3, pp. 1372-1379.

Berger P, Tunon-De-Lara JM, Savineau JP, Marthan R. 2001b, "Selected contribution: tryptase-induced PAR-2-mediated Ca(2+) signaling in human airway smooth muscle cells", *J. Appl. Physiol.*, vol. 91, no. 2, pp. 995-1003.

Berger P, Girodet PO, Begueret H, Ousova O, Perng DW, Marthan R, Walls AF, Tunon de Lara JM. 2003, "Tryptase-stimulated human airway smooth muscle cells induce cytokine synthesis and mast cell chemotaxis", *FASEB J*., vol. 17 no 14, pp. 2139-2141.

Birkedal-Hansen H, Moore WG, Bodden MK, Windsor LJ, Birkedal-Hansen B, DeCarlo A, Engler JA. 1993, "Matrix metalloproteinases: a review", *Crit. Rev. Oral Biol. Med.*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 197-250.

Blackhart BD, Emilsson K, Nguyen D, Teng W, Martelli AJ, Nystedt S, Sundelin J, Scarborough RM. 1996, "Ligand cross-reactivity within the protease-activated receptor family", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 271, no. 28, pp. 16466-16471.

Blair RJ, Meng H, Marchese MJ, Ren S, Schwartz LB, Tonnesen MG, Gruber BL. 1997, "Human mast cells stimulate vascular tube formation. Tryptase is a novel, potent angiogenic factor", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 99, no. 11, pp. 2691-2700.

Bohm SK, Khitin LM, Grady EF, Aponte G, Payan DG, Bunnett NW. 1996a, "Mechanisms of desensitization and resensitization of proteinase- activated receptor-2", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 271, no. 36, pp. 22003-22016.

Bohm SK, Kong W, Bromme D, Smeekens SP, Anderson DC, Connolly A, Kahn M, Nelken NA., Coughlin, S. R., Payan, D. G., & Bunnett, N. W. 1996b, "Molecular cloning, expression and potential functions of the human proteinase-activated receptor-2", *Biochem. J.*, vol. 314 (Pt 3), pp. 1009-1016.

Bond BC, Virley DJ, Cairns NJ, Hunter AJ, Moore GB, Moss SJ, Mudge AW, Walsh FS, Jazin E, Preece P. 2002, "The quantification of gene expression in an animal model of brain ischaemia using TaqMan real-time RT-PCR", *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.*, vol. 106, no. 1-2, pp. 101-116.

Bostrom H, Willetts K, Pekny M, Leveen P, Lindahl P, Hedstrand H, Pekna M, Hellstrom M, Gebre-Medhin S, Schalling M, Nilsson M, Kurland S, Tornell J, Heath JK, Betsholtz C. 1996, "PDGF-A signaling is a critical event in lung alveolar myofibroblast development and alveogenesis", *Cell.*, vol. 85, no. 6, pp. 863-873.

Bousquet J, Jeffery PK, Busse WW, Johnson M, Vignola AM. 2000, "Asthma. From bronchoconstriction to airways inflammation and remodeling", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 161, no 5, pp. 1720-1745.

Boyce JA. 2003, "Mast cells: beyond IgE", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 111, no. 1, pp. 24-32.

Boyle JE, Lindroos PM, Rice AB, Zhang L, Zeldin DC, Bonner JC. 1999, "Prostaglandin-E2 counteracts interleukin-1beta-stimulated upregulation of platelet-derived growth factor alpha-receptor on rat pulmonary myofibroblasts", *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 433-440.

Bressler RB, Friedman MM, Kirshenbaum AS, Irani AM, Schwartz LB, Metcalfe DD. 1990, "Sequential appearance of basophils and mast cells from human bone marrow in long-term suspension culture", *Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol.*, vol. 91, no. 4, pp. 403-410.

Brewster CE, Howarth PH, Djukanovic R, Wilson J, Holgate ST, Roche WR. 1990, "Myofibroblasts and subepithelial fibrosis in bronchial asthma", *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, vol. 3, no. 5, pp. 507-511.

Brightling CE, Bradding P, Symon FA, Holgate ST, Wardlaw AJ, Pavord ID. 2002, "Mast-cell infiltration of airway smooth muscle in asthma", *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 346, no. 22, pp. 1699-1705. Broide DH, Gleich GJ, Cuomo AJ, Coburn DA, Federman EC, Schwartz LB, Wasserman SI. 1991, "Evidence of ongoing mast cell and eosinophil degranulation in symptomatic asthma airway", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 88, no. 4, pp. 637-648.

Brown JC, Timpl R. 1995, "The collagen superfamily", Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol., vol. 107, no. 4, pp. 484-490.

Brown JK, Jones CA, Rooney LA, Caughey GH, Hall IP. 2002, "Tryptase's potent mitogenic effects in human airway smooth muscle cells are via nonproteolytic actions", *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.*, vol. 282, no. 2, pp. L197-L206.

Bryan SA, O'Connor BJ, Matti S, Leckie MJ, Kanabar V, Khan J, Warrington SJ, Renzetti L, Rames A, Bock JA, Boyce MJ, Hansel TT, Holgate ST, Barnes PJ. 2000, "Effects of recombinant human interleukin-12 on eosinophils, airway hyper-responsiveness, and the late asthmatic response", *Lancet.*, vol. 356, no. 9248, pp. 2149-2153.

Cairns JA. Walls AF. 1996, "Mast cell tryptase is a mitogen for epithelial cells. Stimulation of IL- 8 production and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 156, no. 1, pp. 275-283.

Cairns JA. Walls AF. 1997, "Mast cell tryptase stimulates the synthesis of type I collagen in human lung fibroblasts", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 99, no. 6, pp. 1313-1321.

Caughey GH, Raymond WW, Blount JL, Hau LW, Pallaoro M, Wolters PJ, Verghese GM. 2000, "Characterization of human gamma-tryptases, novel members of the chromosome 16p mast cell tryptase and prostasin gene families", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 164, no. 12, pp. 6566-6575.

Chabot B, Stephenson DA, Chapman VM, Besmer P, Bernstein A. 1988, "The proto-oncogene c-kit encoding a transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor maps to the mouse W locus", *Nature.*, vol. 335, no. 6185, pp.88-89.

Chambers LS, Black JL, Poronnik P, Johnson P. R. 2001, "Functional effects of protease-activated receptor-2 stimulation on human airway smooth muscle", *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.*, vol. 281, no. 6, p. L1369-L1378.

Chambers LS, Black JL, Ge Q, Carlin SM, Au WW, Poniris M, Thompson J, Johnson PR, Burgess JK. 2003, "PAR-2 activation, PGE2, and COX-2 in human asthmatic and nonasthmatic airway smooth muscle cells", *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.*, vol. 285, no. 3, pp. L619-L627.

Chan H, Elrod KC, Numerof RP, Sideris S, Clark JM. 1999, "Expression and characterization of recombinant mast cell tryptase", *Protein Expr. Purif.*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 251-257.

Chinni C, de Niese MR, Jenkins AL, Pike RN, Bottomley SP, Mackie EJ. 2000, "Protease-activated receptor-2 mediates proliferative responses in skeletal myoblasts", *J. Cell Sci.*, vol. 113 Pt 24, pp. 4427-4433.

Choung J, Taylor L, Thomas K, Zhou X, Kagan H, Yang X, Polgar P. 1998, "Role of EP2 receptors and cAMP in prostaglandin E2 regulated expression of type I collagen alpha1, lysyl oxidase, and cyclooxygenase-1 genes in human embryo lung fibroblasts", *J. Cell Biochem.*, vol. 71, no. 2, pp. 254-263.

Church MK, Levi-Schaffer F. 1997, "The human mast cell", J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., vol. 99, no. 2, pp. 155-160. Cicala, C, Spina D, Keir SD, Severino B, Meli R, Page CP, Cirino G. 2001, "Protective effect of a PAR2-activating peptide on histamine-induced bronchoconstriction in guinea-pig", *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, vol. 132, no. 6, pp. 1229-1234.

Cocks, T. M., Sozzi, V., Moffatt, J. D., & Selemidis, S. 1999, "Protease-activated receptors mediate apamin-sensitive relaxation of mouse and guinea pig gastrointestinal smooth muscle", *Gastroenterology.*, vol. 116, no. 3, pp. 586-592.

Cole KR, Kumar S, Trong HL, Woodbury RG, Walsh KA, Neurath H. 1991, "Rat mast cell carboxypeptidase: amino acid sequence and evidence of enzyme activity within mast cell granules", *Biochemistry*., vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 648-655.

Coles SJ, Neill KH, Reid LM, Austen KF, Nii Y, Corey EJ, Lewis RA. 1983, "Effects of leukotrienes C4 and D4 on glycoprotein and lysozyme secretion by human bronchial mucosa", *Prostaglandins.*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 155-170.

Compton SJ, Cairns JA, Holgate ST, Walls AF. 1998, "The role of mast cell tryptase in regulating endothelial cell proliferation, cytokine release, and adhesion molecule expression: tryptase induces expression of mRNA for IL-1 beta and IL-8 and stimulates the selective release of IL-8 from human umbilical vein endothelial cells", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 161, no. 4, pp. 1939-1946.

Compton, S. J., Cairns, J. A., Palmer, K. J., Al Ani, B., Hollenberg, M. D., & Walls, A. F. 2000, "A polymorphic protease-activated receptor 2 (PAR2) displaying reduced sensitivity to trypsin and differential responses to PAR agonists", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 275, no. 50, pp. 39207-39212.

Compton SJ, Renaux B, Wijesuriya SJ, Hollenberg MD. 2001, "Glycosylation and the activation of proteinase-activated receptor 2 (PAR(2)) by human mast cell tryptase", *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, vol. 134, no. 4, pp. 705-718.

Compton SJ, Sandhu S, Wijesuriya SJ, Hollenberg MD. 2002a, "Glycosylation of human proteinase-activated receptor-2 (hPAR2): role in cell surface expression and signalling", *Biochem. J.*, vol. 368, no. 2, pp. 495-505.

Compton SJ, McGuire JJ, Saifeddine M, Hollenberg MD. 2002b, "Restricted ability of human mast cell tryptase to activate proteinase-activated receptor-2 in rat aorta", *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.*, vol. 80, no. 10, pp. 987-992.

Conti P, Kempuraj D, Di Gioacchino M, Boucher W, Letourneau R, Kandere K, Barbacane RC, Reale M, Felaco M, Frydas S, Theoharides TC. 2002, "Interleukin-6 and mast cells", *Allergy Asthma Proc.*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 331-335.

Corteling R, Bonneau O, Ferretti S, Ferretti M, Trifilieff A. 2003, "Differential DNA synthesis in response to activation of protease-activated receptors on cultured guinea-pig tracheal smooth muscle cells", *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.*, vol. 368, no. 1, pp. 10-16.

Corvera CU, Dery O, McConalogue K, Bohm SK, Khitin LM, Caughey GH, Payan DG, Bunnett NW. 1997, "Mast cell tryptase regulates rat colonic myocytes through proteinase- activated receptor 2", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 100, no. 6, pp. 1383-1393.

Craig SS, Schwartz LB. 1990, "Human MCTC type of mast cell granule: the uncommon occurrence of discrete scrolls associated with focal absence of chymase", *Lab. Invest.*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 581-585.

Cromlish JA, Seidah NG, Marcinkiewicz M, Hamelin J, Johnson DA, Chretien M. 1987, "Human pituitary tryptase: molecular forms, NH2-terminal sequence, immunocytochemical localization, and specificity with prohormone and fluorogenic substrates", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 262, no. 3, pp. 1363-1373.

Dahlen SE, Hedqvist P, Hammarstrom S, Samuelsson B. 1980, "Leukotrienes are potent constrictors of human bronchi", *Nature.*, vol. 288, no. 5790, pp.484-486.

Damus PS, Hicks M, Rosenberg RD. 1973, "Anticoagulant action of heparin", *Nature.*, vol. 246, no. 5432, pp. 355-357.

Danahay H, Withey L, Poll CT, van de Graaf SF, Bridges RJ. 2001, "Protease-activated receptor-2-mediated inhibition of ion transport in human bronchial epithelial cells", *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.*, vol. 280, no. 6, pp. C1455-C1464.

D'Andrea MR, Derian CK, Leturcq D, Baker SM, Brunmark A, Ling P, Darrow AL, Santulli RJ, Brass LF, Andrade-Gordon P. 1998, "Characterization of protease-activated receptor-2 immunoreactivity in normal human tissues", *J. Histochem. Cytochem.*, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 157-164.

de Paulis A, Annunziato F, Di Gioia L, Romagnani S, Carfora M, Beltrame C, Marone G, Romagnani P. 2001, "Expression of the chemokine receptor CCR3 on human mast cells", *Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol.*, vol. 124, no. 1-3, pp. 146-150.

Demopoulos CA, Pinckard RN, Hanahan DJ. 1979, "Platelet-activating factor. Evidence for 1-O-alkyl-2-acetyl-sn-glyceryl-3-phosphorylcholine as the active component (a new class of lipid chemical mediators) ", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 254, no. 19, pp. 9355-9358. Derian CK, Eckardt AJ, Andrade-Gordon P. 1997, "Differential regulation of human keratinocyte growth and differentiation by a novel family of protease-activated receptors", *Cell Growth Differ*, vol. 8, no. 7, pp. 743-749.

Dery O, Corvera CU, Steinhoff M, Bunnett NW. 1998, "Proteinase-activated receptors: novel mechanisms of signaling by serine proteases", *Am. J. Physiol.*, vol. 274, no. 6 Pt 1, p. C1429-C1452.

Desmouliere A, Rubbia-Brandt L, Grau G, Gabbiani G. 1992a, "Heparin induces alpha-smooth muscle actin expression in cultured fibroblasts and in granulation tissue myofibroblasts", *Lab. Invest.*, vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 716-726.

Desmouliere A, Rubbia-Brandt L, Abdiu A, Walz T, Macieira-Coelho A, Gabbiani G. 1992b, "Alpha-smooth muscle actin is expressed in a subpopulation of cultured and cloned fibroblasts and is modulated by gamma-interferon", *Exp. Cell Res.*, vol. 201, no. 1, pp. 64-73.

Desmouliere A, Geinoz A, Gabbiani F, Gabbiani G. 1993, "Transforming growth factor-beta 1 induces alpha-smooth muscle actin expression in granulation tissue myofibroblasts and in quiescent and growing cultured fibroblasts", *J. Cell Biol.*, vol. 122, no. 1, pp. 103-111.

Desmouliere A, Tuchweber B, Gabbiani G. 1995, "Role of the myofibroblast differentiation during liver fibrosis", *J. Hepatol.*, vol. 22, no. 2 Suppl, pp. 61-64.

Dodge RR, Burrows B. 1980, "The prevalence and incidence of asthma and asthma-like symptoms in a general population sample", *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, vol. 122, no. 4, pp. 567-575.

Dube J, Chakir J, Dube C, Grimard Y, Laviolette M, Boulet LP. 2000, "Synergistic action of endothelin (ET)-1 on the activation of bronchial fibroblast isolated from normal and asthmatic subjects", *Int. J. Exp. Pathol.*, vol. 81, no. 6, pp. 429-437.

Eichler W, Bechtel JF, Schumacher J, Wermelt JA, Klotz KF, Bartels C. 2003, "A rise of MMP-2 and MMP-9 in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid is associated with acute lung injury after cardiopulmonary bypass in a swine model", *Perfusion.*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 107-113.

Elias JA, Lee CG, Zheng T, Ma B, Homer RJ, Zhu Z. 2003, "New insights into the pathogenesis of asthma", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 111, no. 3, pp. 291-297.

Erger RA, Casale TB. 1995, "Interleukin-8 is a potent mediator of eosinophil chemotaxis through endothelium and epithelium", *Am. J. Physiol.*, vol. 268, no. 1 Pt 1, pp. L117-L122.

Everitt MT, Neurath H. 1980, "Rat peritoneal mast cell carboxypeptidase: localization, purification, and enzymatic properties", *FEBS Lett.*, vol. 110, no. 2, pp. 292-296.

Fajardo I, Pejler G. 2003, "Human mast cell beta-tryptase is a gelatinase", J. Immunol., vol. 171, no. 3, pp. 1493-1499.

Fenech A, Hall IP. 2002, "Pharmacogenetics of asthma", *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 3-15.

Ferguson AC, Whitelaw M, Brown H. 1992, "Correlation of bronchial eosinophil and mast cell activation with bronchial hyperresponsiveness in children with asthma", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 90, no. 4 Pt 1, pp. 609-613.

Ferrell WR, Lockhart JC, Kelso EB, Dunning L, Plevin R, Meek SE, Smith AJ, Hunter GD, McLean JS, McGarry F, Ramage R, Jiang L, Kanke T, Kawagoe J. 2003, "Essential role for proteinase-activated receptor-2 in arthritis", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 111, no. 1, pp. 35-41.

Fewtrell CM, Foreman JC, Jordan CC, Oehme P, Renner H, Stewart JM. 1982, "The effects of substance P on histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine release in the rat", *J. Physiol.*, vol. 330, pp.393-411.

Finotto S, Marshall JS, Butterfield JH, Denburg JA. 1996, "Specific inhibition of beta-tryptase expression in a human mast cell line by granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor produced by airways structural cells", *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 355-360.

Foreman JC, Jordan CC, Piotrowski W. 1982, "Interaction of neurotensin with the substance P receptor mediating histamine release from rat mast cells and the flare in human skin", *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, vol. 77, no. 3, pp. 531-539.

Foreman J, Jordan C. 1983, "Histamine release and vascular changes induced by neuropeptides", *Agents Actions.*, vol. 13, no. 2-3, pp. 105-116.

Frangogiannis NG, Perrard JL, Mendoza LH, Burns AR, Lindsey ML, Ballantyne CM, Michael LH, Smith CW, Entman ML. 1998, "Stem cell factor induction is associated with mast cell accumulation after canine myocardial ischemia and reperfusion", *Circulation.*, vol. 98, no 7, pp.687-698.

Frungieri MB, Weidinger S, Meineke V, Kohn FM, Mayerhofer A. 2002, "Proliferative action of mast-cell tryptase is mediated by PAR2, COX2, prostaglandins, and PPARgamma : Possible relevance to human fibrotic disorders", *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 99, no. 2, pp. 15072-15077.

Fukuda Y, Ishizaki M, Kudoh S, Kitaichi M, Yamanaka N. 1998, "Localization of matrix metalloproteinases-1, -2, and -9 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 in interstitial lung diseases", *Lab. Invest.*, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 687-698.

Fukuoka Y, Schwartz LB. 2004, "Human b-tryptase: Detection and characterization of the active monomer and prevention of tetramer reconstitution by protease inhibitors", *Biochem.*, vol. 43, no. 33, pp. 10757-10764.

Gabbiani G, Ryan GB, Majne G. 1971, "Presence of modified fibroblasts in granulation tissue and their possible role in wound contraction", *Experientia.*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 549-550.

Gabbiani G. 1981, "The myofibroblast: a key cell for wound healing and fibrocontractive diseases", *Prog. Clin. Biol. Res.*, vol. 54, pp 183-194.

Gaca MD, Zhou X, Benyon RC. 2002, "Regulation of hepatic stellate cell proliferation and collagen synthesis by proteinase-activated receptors", *J. Hepatol.*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 362-369.

Gailit J, Marchese MJ, Kew RR, Gruber BL. 2001, "The differentiation and function of myofibroblasts is regulated by mast cell mediators", *J. Invest. Dermatol.*, vol. 117, no. 5, pp. 1113-1119.

Geissler EN, Ryan MA, Housman DE. 1988, "The dominant-white spotting (W) locus of the mouse encodes the c-kit proto-oncogene", *Cell.*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp.185-192.

Gether U. 2000, "Uncovering molecular mechanisms involved in activation of G protein-coupled receptors", *Endocr. Rev.*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 90-113.

Gizycki MJ, Adelroth E, Rogers AV, O'Byrne PM, Jeffery PK. 1997, "Myofibroblast involvement in the allergen-induced late response in mild atopic asthma", *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 664-673.

Goldstein SM, Kaempfer CE, Proud D, Schwartz LB, Irani AM, Wintroub BU. 1987, "Detection and partial characterization of a human mast cell carboxypeptidase", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 139, no. 8, pp. 2724-2729.

Goldstein SM, Kaempfer CE, Kealey JT, Wintroub BU. 1989, "Human mast cell carboxypeptidase. Purification and characterization", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 83, no. 5, pp 1630-1636.

Goldstein SM, Leong J, Schwartz LB, Cooke D. 1992, "Protease composition of exocytosed human skin mast cell protease-proteoglycan complexes. Tryptase resides in a complex distinct from chymase and carboxypeptidase", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 148, no. 8, pp. 2475-2482.

Gomez DE, Alonso DF, Yoshiji H, Thorgeirsson UP. 1997, "Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: structure, regulation and biological functions", *Eur. J. Cell Biol.*, vol. 74, no. 2, pp. 111-122.

Gruber BL, Schwartz LB, Ramamurthy NS, Irani AM, Marchese MJ. 1988, "Activation of latent rheumatoid synovial collagenase by human mast cell tryptase", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 140, no. 11, pp. 3936-3942.

Gruber BL, Marchese MJ, Suzuki K, Schwartz LB, Okada Y, Nagase H, Ramamurthy NS. 1989, "Synovial procollagenase activation by human mast cell tryptase dependence upon matrix metalloproteinase 3 activation", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 84, no. 5, pp. 1657-1662. Gruber BL, Kew RR, Jelaska A, Marchese MJ, Garlick J, Ren S, Schwartz LB, Korn JH. 1997, "Human mast cells activate fibroblasts: tryptase is a fibrogenic factor stimulating collagen messenger ribonucleic acid synthesis and fibroblast chemotaxis", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 158, no. 5, pp. 2310-2317.

Hamilton JR, Frauman AG, Cocks TM. 2001, "Increased expression of protease-activated receptor-2 (PAR2) and PAR4 in human coronary artery by inflammatory stimuli unveils endothelium- dependent relaxations to PAR2 and PAR4 agonists", *Circ. Res.*, vol. 89, no. 1, pp. 92-98.

Hamilton JA. 2002, "GM-CSF in inflammation and autoimmunity", *Trends Immunol.*, vol. 23, no. 8, pp. 403-408.

Hardy CC, Robinson C, Tattersfield AE, Holgate ST. 1984, "The bronchoconstrictor effect of inhaled prostaglandin D2 in normal and asthmatic men", *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 311, no. 4, pp. 209-213.

Hart PH. 2001, "Regulation of the inflammatory response in asthma by mast cell products", *Immunol. Cell Biol.*, vol. 79, no. 2, pp.149-153.

Hartman CT Jr, Glovsky MM. 1981, "Complement activation requirements for histamine release from human leukocytes: influence of purified C3ahu and C5ahu on histamine release", *Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol.*, vol. 66, no. 3, pp. 274-281.

Hartmann T, Ruoss SJ, Raymond WW, Seuwen K, Caughey GH. 1992, "Human tryptase as a potent, cell-specific mitogen: role of signaling pathways in synergistic responses", *Am. J. Physiol.*, vol. 262, no. 5 Pt 1, p. L528-L534.

Harvima IT, Schechter NM, Harvima RJ, Fraki JE. 1988, "Human skin tryptase: purification, partial characterization and comparison with human lung tryptase", *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.*, vol. 957, no. 1, pp. 71-80.

Hashimoto S, Gon Y, Takeshita I, Matsumoto K, Maruoka S, Horie T. 2001, "Transforming growth Factor-betal induces phenotypic modulation of human lung fibroblasts to myofibroblast through a c-Jun-NH2-terminal kinase- dependent pathway", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 163, no. 1, pp. 152-157.

Hastie AT, Kraft WK, Nyce KB, Zangrilli JG, Musani AI, Fish JE, Peters SP. 2002, "Asthmatic epithelial cell proliferation and stimulation of collagen production: human asthmatic epithelial cells stimulate collagen type III production by human lung myofibroblasts after segmental allergen challenge", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 165, no. 2, pp. 266-272.

Hay ED. 1981, "Extracellular matrix", J. Cell. Biol., vol. 91, no. 3 Pt 2, pp. 205s-223s.

He S, Walls AF. 1998, "Human mast cell chymase induces the accumulation of neutrophils, eosinophils and other inflammatory cells in vivo", *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, vol. 125, no. 7, pp. 1491-1500.

Hebda PA, Collins MA, Tharp MD. 1993, "Mast cell and myofibroblast in wound healing", *Dermatol. Clin.*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 685-696.

Heinrich PC, Castell JV, Andus T. 1990, "Interleukin-6 and the acute phase response", *Biochem. J.*, vol. 265, no. 3, pp. 621-636.

Henderson WR, Chi EY, Klebanoff SJ. 1980, "Eosinophil peroxidase-induced mast cell secretion", *J. Exp. Med.*, vol.152, no. 2, pp. 265-279.

Hinz B, Celetta G, Tomasek JJ, Gabbiani G, Chaponnier C. 2001, "Alpha-smooth muscle actin expression upregulates fibroblast contractile activity", *Mol. Biol. Cell.*, vol. 12, no. 9, pp. 2730-2741.

Hogg JC. 1993, "Pathology of asthma", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 92, no. 1 Pt 1, pp. 1-5.

Holgate ST, Lackie P, Wilson S, Roche W, Davies D. 2000, "Bronchial epithelium as a key regulator of airway allergen sensitization and remodeling in asthma", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 162, no. 3 Pt 2, pp.S113-117.

Holgate ST, Chuchalin AG, Hebert J, Lotvall J, Persson GB, Chung KF, Bousquet J, Kerstjens HA, Fox H, Thirlwell J, Cioppa GD; Omalizumab 011 International Study Group. 2004, "Efficacy and safety of a recombinant anti-immunoglobulin E antibody (omalizumab) in severe allergic asthma", *Clin. Exp. Allergy.*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 632-638.

Hinz B, Gabbiani G. 2003, "Cell-matrix and cell-cell contacts of myofibroblasts: role in connective tissue remodeling", *Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 90, no. 6, pp. 993-1002.

Hollenberg, M. D. 1999, "Protease-activated receptors: PAR4 and counting: how long is the course?", *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 271-273.

Horak E, Lanigan A, Roberts M, Welsh L, Wilson J, Carlin JB, Olinsky A, Robertson CF. 2003, "Longitudinal study of childhood wheezy bronchitis and asthma: outcome at age 42", *B.M.J.*, vol. 326, no. 7386, pp. 422-423.

Hou L, Kapa, S, Cruchley AT, Macey MG, Harriott P, Chinni C, Stone SR, Howells GL. 1998, "Immunolocalization of protease-activated receptor-2 in skin: receptor activation stimulates interleukin-8 secretion by keratinocytes in vitro", *Immunology*., vol. 94, no. 3, pp. 356-362.

Howells GL, Macey MG, Chinni C, Hou L, Fox MT, Harriott P, Stone SR. 1997, "Proteinase-activated receptor-2: expression by human neutrophils", *J. Cell Sci.*, vol. 110 (Pt 7), pp. 881-887.

Hoxie JA, Ahuja M, Belmonte E, Pizarro S, Parton R, Brass, LF. 1993, "Internalization and recycling of activated thrombin receptors", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 268, no. 18, pp. 13756-13763.

Huang E, Nocka K, Beier DR, Chu TY, Buck J, Lahm HW, Wellner D, Leder P, Besmer P. 1990, "The hematopoietic growth factor KL is encoded by the Sl locus and is the ligand of the c-kit receptor, the gene product of the W locus", *Cell.*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 225-233.

Inoue Y, King TE Jr, Barker E, Daniloff E, Newman LS. 2002, "Basic fibroblast growth factor and its receptors in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and lymphangioleiomyomatosis", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 166, no. 5, pp. 765-773.

Irani AM, Schechter NM, Craig SS, DeBlois G, Schwartz LB. 1986, "Two types of human mast cells that have distinct neutral protease compositions", *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 83, no. 12, pp. 4464-4468.

Irani AM, Bradford TR, Kepley CL, Schechter NM, Schwartz LB. 1989, "Detection of MCT and MCTC types of human mast cells by immunohistochemistry using new monoclonal anti-tryptase and anti- chymase antibodies", *J. Histochem. Cytochem.*, vol. 37, no. 10, pp. 1509-1515.

Irani AM, Goldstein SM, Wintroub BU, Bradford T, Schwartz LB. 1991, "Human mast cell carboxypeptidase. Selective localization to MCTC cells", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 147, no. 1, pp. 247-253.

Irani AM, Nilsson G, Miettinen U, Craig SS, Ashman LK, Ishizaka T, Zsebo KM, Schwartz LB. 1992, "Recombinant human stem cell factor stimulates differentiation of mast cells from dispersed human fetal liver cells", *Blood.*, vol. 80, no. 12, pp. 3009-3021.

Ishihara H, Connolly AJ, Zeng D, Kahn ML, Zheng YW, Timmons C, Tram T, Coughlin SR. 1997, "Protease-activated receptor 3 is a second thrombin receptor in humans", *Nature.*, vol. 386, no. 6624, pp. 502-506.

Itoh Y, Binner S, Nagase H. 1995, "Steps involved in activation of the complex of pro-matrix metalloproteinase 2 (progelatinase A) and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP)-2 by 4-aminophenylmercuric acetate", *Biochem. J.*, vol. 308, no. Pt 2, pp.645-651.

Jahnsen FL, Moloney ED, Hogan T, Upham JW, Burke CM, Holt PG. 2001, "Rapid dendritic cell recruitment to the bronchial mucosa of patients with atopic asthma in response to local allergen challenge", *Thorax.*, vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 823-826.

Jameson GW, Roberts DV, Adams RW, Kyle WS, Elmore DT. 1973, "Determination of the operational molarity of solutions of bovine alpha- chymotrypsin, trypsin, thrombin and factor Xa by spectrofluorimetric titration", *Biochem. J.*, vol. 131, no. 1, pp. 107-117.

Jason LA, Richman JA, Friedberg F, Wagner L, Taylor R, Jordan KM. 1997, "Politics, science, and the emergence of a new disease. The case of chronic fatigue syndrome", *Am. Psychol.*, vol. 52, no. 9, pp. 973-983.

Jenkins MA, Hopper JL, Bowes G, Carlin JB, Flander LB, Giles GG. 1994, "Factors in childhood as predictors of asthma in adult life", *B.M.J.*, vol. 309, no. 6947, pp. 90-93.

Johnson JL, Jackson CL, Angelini GD, George SJ. 1998, "Activation of matrix-degrading metalloproteinases by mast cell proteases in atherosclerotic plaques", *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 1707-1715.

Johnson MR, Wang K, Smith JB, Heslin MJ, Diasio RB. 2000, "Quantitation of dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase expression by real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction", *Anal. Biochem.*, vol. 278, no. 2, pp. 175-184.

Johnson PR. 2001, "Role of human airway smooth muscle in altered extracellular matrix production in asthma", *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 233-236.

Kahn ML, Hammes SR, Botka C, Coughlin SR. 1998, "Gene and locus structure and chromosomal localization of the protease-activated receptor gene family", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 273, no. 36, pp. 23290-23296.

Kambe M, Kambe N, Oskeritzian CA, Schechter N, Schwartz LB. 2001, "IL-6 attenuates apoptosis, while neither IL-6 nor IL-10 affect the numbers or protease phenotype of fetal liver-derived human mast cells", *Clin. Exp. Allergy.*, vol. 31, no. 7, pp. 1077-1085.

Kay AB. 1996, "Pathology of mild, severe, and fatal asthma", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 154, no. 2 Pt 2, pp. S66-69.

Kazimierczak W, Szczepaniak K, Bankowska K. 1981, "A modulation of the anaphylactic basophil histamine release by selective H2 histamine agonists", *Agents Actions.*, vol. 11, no. 1-2, pp. 96-98.

Kelley J. 1990, "Cytokines of the lung", Am. Rev. Respir. Dis., vol. 141, no. 3, pp. 765-788.

Kendall JC, Li XH, Galli SJ, Gordon JR. 1997, "Promotion of mouse fibroblast proliferation by IgE-dependent activation of mouse mast cells: role for mast cell tumor necrosis factor-alpha and transforming growth factor-beta 1", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 99, no. 1 Pt 1, pp. 113-123.

Kielty CM, Lees M, Shuttleworth CA, Woolley D. 1993, "Catabolism of intact type VI collagen microfibrils: susceptibility to degradation by serine proteinases", *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 191, no. 3, pp. 1230-1236.

Kim MS, Jo H, Um JY, Yi JM, Kim DK, Choi SC, Kim TH, Nah YH, Kim HM, Lee YM. 2002, "Agonists of proteinase-activated receptor 2 induce TNF-alpha secretion from astrocytoma cells", *Cell. Biochem. Funct.*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 339-345.

Kinoshita A, Urata H, Bumpus FM, Husain A. 1991, "Multiple determinants for the high substrate specificity of an angiotensin II-forming chymase from the human heart", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 266, no. 29, pp. 19192-19197.

Kirshenbaum AS, Kessler SW, Goff JP, Metcalfe DD. 1991, "Demonstration of the origin of human mast cells from CD34+ bone marrow progenitor cells", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 146, no. 5, pp. 1410-1415.

Kirshenbaum AS, Goff JP, Kessler SW, Mican JM, Zsebo KM, Metcalfe DD. 1992, "Effect of IL-3 and stem cell factor on the appearance of human basophils and mast cells from CD34+ pluripotent progenitor cells", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 148, no. 3, pp. 772-777.

Kishimoto T. 1989, "The biology of interleukin-6", Blood., vol. 74, no. 1, pp. 1-10.

Knight D. 2001, "Epithelium-fibroblast interactions in response to airway inflammation", *Immunol. Cell Biol.*, vol. 79, no. 2, pp. 160-164.

Knight DA, Lim S, Scaffidi AK, Roche N, Chung KF, Stewart GA, Thompson PJ. 2001, "Protease-activated receptors in human airways: upregulation of PAR-2 in respiratory epithelium from patients with asthma", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 108, no. 5, pp. 797-803.

Kobayashi T, Miura T, Haba T, Sato M, Serizawa I, Nagai H, Ishizaka K. 2000, "An essential role of mast cells in the development of airway hyperresponsiveness in a murine asthma model", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 164, no. 7, pp. 3855-3861.

Koller DY, Nething I, Otto J, Urbanek R, Eichler I. 1997, "Cytokine concentrations in sputum from patients with cystic fibrosis and their relation to eosinophil activity", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 155, no. 3, pp. 1050-1054.

Kondo Y, Ogawa N, Asanuma M, Hirata H, Nishibayashi S, Mori A. 1994, "Regional changes in alpha-tubulin and beta-actin mRNA accumulations after transient ischemia in spontaneously hypertensive rat brains", *Res. Commun. Mol. Pathol. Pharmacol.*, vol. 86, no. 2, pp. 139-153.

Kong W, McConalogue K, Khitin LM, Hollenberg MD, Payan DG, Bohm SK, Bunnett NW. 1997, "Luminal trypsin may regulate enterocytes through proteinase-activated receptor 2", *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 94, no. 16, pp. 8884-8889.

Krishnaswamy G, Kelley J, Yerra L, Smith JK, Chi DS. 1999, "Human endothelium as a source of multifunctional cytokines: molecular regulation and possible role in human disease", *J. Interferon. Cytokine. Res.*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 91-104.

Kunkel SL, Standiford T, Kasahara K, Strieter RM. 1991, "Interleukin-8 (IL-8): the major neutrophil chemotactic factor in the lung", *Exp. Lung Res.*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 17-23.

Laitinen LA, Laitinen A, Haahtela T. 1993, "Airway mucosal inflammation even in patients with newly diagnosed asthma", *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, vol. 147, no. 3, pp. 697-704.

Laitinen A, Altraja A, Kampe M, Linden M, Virtanen I, Laitinen LA. 1997, "Tenascin is increased in airway basement membrane of asthmatics and decreased by an inhaled steroid", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 156, no. 3 Pt 1, pp. 951-958.

Lan RS, Knight DA, Stewart GA, Henry PJ. 2001, "Role of PGE(2) in protease-activated receptor-1, -2 and -4 mediated relaxation in the mouse isolated trachea", *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, vol. 132, no. 1, pp. 93-100.

Leckie MJ, ten Brinke A, Khan J, Diamant Z, O'Connor BJ, Walls CM, Mathur AK, Cowley HC, Chung KF, Djukanovic R, Hansel TT, Holgate ST, Sterk PJ, Barnes PJ. 2000, "Effects of an interleukin-5 blocking monoclonal antibody on eosinophils, airway hyper-responsiveness, and the late asthmatic response", *Lancet.*, vol. 356, no. 9248, pp. 2144-2148.

Lee NA, Gelfand EW, Lee JJ. 2001, "Pulmonary T cells and eosinophils: coconspirators or independent triggers of allergic respiratory pathology?", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 107, no. 6, pp. 945-957.

Lee YM, Kim SS, Kim HA, Suh YJ, Lee SK, Nahm DH, Park HS. 2003, "Eosinophil inflammation of nasal polyp tissue: relationships with matrix metalloproteinases, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1, and transforming growth factor-beta1", *J. Korean Med. Sci.*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 97-102.

Lees M, Taylor DJ, Woolley DE. 1994, "Mast cell proteinases activate precursor forms of collagenase and stromelysin, but not of gelatinases A and B", *Eur. J. Biochem.*, vol. 223, no. 1, pp. 171-177.

Lerner DJ, Chen M, Tram T, Coughlin SR. 1996, "Agonist recognition by proteinase-activated receptor 2 and thrombin receptor. Importance of extracellular loop interactions for receptor function", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 271, no. 24, pp. 13943-13947.

Leru P. 2003, "Leukotrienes antagonists in the management of bronchial asthma", *Rom. J. Intern. Med.*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp 3-15.

Levi-Schaffer F, Garbuzenko E, Rubin A, Reich R, Pickholz D, Gillery P, Emonard H, Nagler A, Maquart FA. 1999, "Human eosinophils regulate human lung- and skin-derived fibroblast properties in vitro: a role for transforming growth factor beta (TGF-beta)", *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 96, no. 17, pp. 9660-9665.

Lindner JR, Kahn ML, Coughlin SR, Sambrano GR, Schauble E, Bernstein D, Foy D, Hafezi-Moghadam A, Ley K. 2000, "Delayed onset of inflammation in protease-activated receptor-2- deficient mice", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 165, no. 11, pp. 6504-6510.

Lindroos PM, Rice AB, Wang YZ, Bonner JC. 1998, "Role of nuclear factor-kappa B and mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways in IL-1 beta-mediated induction of alpha-PDGF receptor expression in rat pulmonary myofibroblasts", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 161, no. 7, pp. 3464-3468.

Liu MC, Bleecker ER, Lichtenstein LM, Kagey-Sobotka A, Niv Y, McLemore TL, Permutt S, Proud D, Hubbard WC. 1990, "Evidence for elevated levels of histamine, prostaglandin D2, and other bronchoconstricting prostaglandins in the airways of subjects with mild asthma", *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, vol. 142, no. 1, pp. 126-132.

Liu MC, Hubbard WC, Proud D, Stealey BA, Galli SJ, Kagey-Sobotka A, Bleecker ER, Lichtenstein LM. 1991, "Immediate and late inflammatory responses to ragweed antigen challenge of the peripheral airways in allergic asthmatics. Cellular, mediator, and permeability changes", *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, vol. 144, no. 1, pp. 51-58.

Liu C, Wilson SJ, Kuei C, Lovenberg TW. 2001, "Comparison of human, mouse, rat, and guinea pig histamine H4 receptors reveals substantial pharmacological species variation", *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, vol. 299, no. 1, pp. 121-130.

Lloyd C. 2002, "Chemokines in allergic lung inflammation", *Immunology*., vol. 105, no. 2, pp. 144-154.

Lohi J, Harvima I, Keski-Oja J. 1992, "Pericellular substrates of human mast cell tryptase: 72,000 dalton gelatinase and fibronectin", *J. Cell Biochem.*, vol. 50, no. 4, pp. 337-349.

Lopez AF, Williamson DJ, Gamble JR, Begley CG, Harlan JM, Klebanoff SJ, Waltersdorph A, Wong G, Clark SC, Vadas MA. 1986, "Recombinant human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor stimulates in vitro mature human neutrophil and eosinophil function, surface receptor expression, and survival", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 78, no. 5, pp. 1220-1228.

Lourbakos A, Potempa J, Travis J, D'Andrea MR, Andrade-Gordon P, Santulli R, Mackie EJ, Pike RN. 2001, "Arginine-specific protease from Porphyromonas gingivalis activates protease-activated receptors on human oral epithelial cells and induces interleukin-6 secretion", *Infect. Immun.*, vol. 69, no. 8, pp. 5121-5130

Low RB. 1999, "Modulation of myofibroblast and smooth-muscle phenotypes in the lung", *Curr. Top. Pathol.*, vol. 93, pp. 19-26.

Lowman MA, Rees PH, Benyon RC, Church MK. 1988, "Human mast cell heterogeneity: histamine release from mast cells dispersed from skin, lung, adenoids, tonsils, and colon in response to IgE-dependent and nonimmunologic stimuli", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 81, no. 3, pp. 590-597.

Lyamichev V, Brow MA, Dahlberg JE. 1993, "Structure-specific endonucleolytic cleavage of nucleic acids by eubacterial DNA polymerases", *Science.*, vol. 260, no. 5109, pp.778-783.

Maryanoff BE, Santulli RJ, McComsey DF, Hoekstra WJ, Hoey K, Smith CE, Addo M, Darrow AL, Andrade-Gordon P. 2001, "Protease-activated receptor-2 (PAR-2): structure-function study of receptor activation by diverse peptides related to tethered-ligand epitopes", *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.*, vol. 386, no. 2, pp. 195-204.

Masamune A, Kikuta K, Satoh M, Suzuki N, Shimosegawa T. 2005, "Protease-activated receptor-2-mediated proliferation and collagen production of rat pancreatic stellate cells", *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, vol. 312, no. 2, pp. 651-658.

Masuda T, Tanaka H, Komai M, Nagao K, Ishizaki M, Kajiwara D, Nagai H. 2003, "Mast cells play a partial role in allergen-induced subepithelial fibrosis in a murine model of allergic asthma", *Clin. Exp. Allergy.*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 705-713.

Mattoli S, Mattoso VL, Soloperto M, Allegra L, Fasoli A. 1991, "Cellular and biochemical characteristics of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in symptomatic nonallergic asthma", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 87, no. 4, pp. 794-802.

Mautino G, Oliver N, Chanez P, Bousquet J, Capony F. 1997, "Increased release of matrix metalloproteinase-9 in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and by alveolar macrophages of asthmatics", *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 583-591.

McEuen AR, He S, Brander ML, Walls AF. 1996, "Guinea pig lung tryptase. Localisation to mast cells and characterisation of the partially purified enzyme", *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 331-340.

McKaig BC, Hughes K, Tighe PJ, Mahida YR. 2002, "Differential expression of TGF-beta isoforms by normal and inflammatory bowel disease intestinal myofibroblasts", *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.*, vol. 282, no. 1, pp. C172-C182.

Medhurst AD, Harrison DC, Read SJ, Campbell CA, Robbins MJ, Pangalos MN. 2000, "The use of TaqMan RT-PCR assays for semiquantitative analysis of gene expression in CNS tissues and disease models", *J. Neurosci. Methods.*, vol. 98, no. 1, pp. 9-20.

Miller JS, Westin EH, Schwartz LB. 1989, "Cloning and characterization of complementary DNA for human tryptase", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 84, no. 4, pp. 1188-1195.

Mirza H, Schmidt VA, Derian CK, Jesty J, Bahou WF. 1997, "Mitogenic responses mediated through the proteinase-activated receptor- 2 are induced by expressed forms of mast cell alpha- or beta-tryptases", *Blood.*, vol. 90, no. 10, pp. 3914-3922.

Mizutani H, Schechter N, Lazarus G, Black RA, Kupper TS. 1991, "Rapid and specific conversion of precursor interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 beta) to an active IL-1 species by human mast cell chymase", *J. Exp. Med.*, vol. 174, no. 4, pp. 821-825.

Moffatt JD, Jeffrey KL, Cocks TM. 2002, "Protease-activated receptor-2 activating peptide SLIGRL inhibits bacterial lipopolysaccharide-induced recruitment of polymorphonuclear leukocytes into the airways of mice", *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 680-684.

Molino M, Barnathan ES, Numerof R, Clark J, Dreyer M, Cumashi A, Hoxie JA, Schechter N, Woolkalis M, Brass LF. 1997, "Interactions of mast cell tryptase with thrombin receptors and PAR-2", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 272, no. 7, pp. 4043-4049.

Molino M, Raghunath PN, Kuo A, Ahuja M, Hoxie JA, Brass LF, Barnathan ES. 1998, "Differential expression of functional protease-activated receptor-2 (PAR-2) in human vascular smooth muscle cells", *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 825-832.

Moseley R, Stewart JE, Stephens P, Waddington RJ, Thomas DW. 2004, "Extracellular matrix metabolites as potential biomarkers of disease activity in wound fluid: lessons learned from other inflammatory diseases?", *Br. J. Dermatol.*, vol.150, no. 3, pp. 401-413.

Nadel JA, Busse WW. 1998, "Asthma", Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med., vol. 157, no. 4 Pt 2, pp. S130-S138.

Nagase H, Woessner JF Jr. 1999, "Matrix metalloproteinases", J. Biol. Chem., vol. 274, no. 31, pp. 21491-21494.

Nair JS, DaFonseca CJ, Tjernberg A, Sun W, Darnell JE Jr, Chait BT, Zhang JJ. 2002, "Requirement of Ca2+ and CaMKII for Stat1 Ser-727 phosphorylation in response to IFN-gamma", *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 99, no. 9, pp.5971-5976.

Nguyen T, Shapiro DA, George SR, Setola V, Lee DK, Cheng R, Rauser L, Lee SP, Lynch KR, Roth BL, O'Dowd BF. 2001, "Discovery of a novel member of the histamine receptor family", *Mol. Pharmacol.*, vol. 59. no. 3, pp. 427-433.

Niles AL, Maffitt M, Haak-Frendscho M, Wheeless CJ, Johnson DA. 1998, "Recombinant human mast cell tryptase beta: stable expression in Pichia pastoris and purification of fully active enzyme", *Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem.*, vol. 28 (Pt 2), pp. 125-131.

Numanami H, Koyama S, Sato E, Haniuda M, Nelson DK, Hoyt JC, Freels JL, Habib MP, Robbins RA. 2003. "Serine protease inhibitors modulate chemotactic cytokine production by human lung fibroblasts in vitro", *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.*, vol. 284, no. 5, pp. L882-L890.

Nusgens, B. V., Humbert, P., Rougier, A., Colige, A. C., Haftek, M., Lambert, C. A., Richard, A., Creidi, P., & Lapiere, C. M. 2001, "Topically applied vitamin C enhances the mRNA level of collagens I and III, their processing enzymes and tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase 1 in the human dermis", *J. Invest. Dermatol.*, vol. 116, no. 6, pp. 853-859.

Nystedt S, Emilsson K, Wahlestedt C, Sundelin J. 1994, "Molecular cloning of a potential proteinase activated receptor", *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 91, no. 20, pp. 9208-9212.

Nystedt S, Larsson AK, Aberg H, Sundelin J. 1995, "The mouse proteinase-activated receptor-2 cDNA and gene. Molecular cloning and functional expression", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 270, no. 11, pp. 5950-5955.

Nystedt S, Ramakrishnan V, Sundelin J. 1996, "The proteinase-activated receptor 2 is induced by inflammatory mediators in human endothelial cells. Comparison with the thrombin receptor", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 271, no. 25, pp. 14910-14915.

Ogata Y, Itoh Y, Nagase H. 1995, "Steps involved in activation of the pro-matrix metalloproteinase 9 (progelatinase B)-tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 complex by 4-aminophenylmercuric acetate and proteinases", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 270, no. 31, pp. 18506-18511.

Ohga E, Matsuse T, Teramoto S, Katayama H, Nagase T, Fukuchi Y, Ouchi Y. 1996, "Effects of activin A on proliferation and differentiation of human lung fibroblasts", *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 228, no. 2, pp. 391-396. Okada Y, Morodomi T, Enghild JJ, Suzuki K, Yasui A, Nakanishi I, Salvesen G, Nagase H. 1990, "Matrix metalloproteinase 2 from human rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts. Purification and activation of the precursor and enzymic properties", *Eur. J. Biochem.*, vol. 194, no. 3, pp. 721-730.

Okayama Y, Petit-Frere C, Kassel O, Semper A, Quint D, Tunon-de-Lara MJ, Bradding P, Holgate ST, Church MK. 1995, "IgE-dependent expression of mRNA for IL-4 and IL-5 in human lung mast cells", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 155, no. 4, pp. 1796-1808.

Ossovskaya VS, Bunnett NW. 2004, "Protease-activated receptors: contribution to physiology and disease", *Physiol. Rev.*, vol. 84, no. 2, pp. 579-621.

Pallaoro M, Fejzo MS, Shayesteh L, Blount JL, Caughey GH. 1999, "Characterization of genes encoding known and novel human mast cell tryptases on chromosome 16p13.3", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 274, no. 6, pp. 3355-3362.

Page K, Strunk VS, Hershenson MB. 2003, "Cockroach proteases increase IL-8 expression in human bronchial epithelial cells via activation of protease-activated receptor (PAR)-2 and extracellular-signal-regulated kinase", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 112, no. 6, pp. 1112-1118.

Parks WC, Shapiro SD. 2001, "Matrix metalloproteinases in lung biology", *Respir. Res.*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 10-19.

Pender SL, Tickle SP, Docherty AJ, Howie D, Wathen NC, MacDonald TT. 1997, "A major role for matrix metalloproteinases in T cell injury in the gut", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 158, no. 4, pp. 1582-1590.
Peng Q, McEuen AR, Benyon RC, Walls AF. 2003, "The heterogeneity of mast cell tryptase from human lung and skin", *Eur. J. Biochem.*, vol. 270, no. 2, pp. 270-283.

Pesci A, Foresi A, Bertorelli G, Chetta A, Olivieri D. 1993, "Histochemical characteristics and degranulation of mast cells in epithelium and lamina propria of bronchial biopsies from asthmatic and normal subjects", *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, vol. 147, no. 3, pp. 684-689.

Peters SP, MacGlashan DW Jr, Schulman ES, Schleimer RP, Hayes EC, Rokach J, Adkinson NF Jr, Lichtenstein LM. 1984, "Arachidonic acid metabolism in purified human lung mast cells", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 132, no. 4, pp. 1972-1979.

Phipps S, Ying S, Wangoo A, Ong YE, Levi-Schaffer F, Kay AB. 2002, "The relationship between allergen-induced tissue eosinophilia and markers of repair and remodeling in human atopic skin", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 169, no. 8, pp. 4604-4612.

Pompen M, Smids BS, Dingemans KP, Jansen HM, Out TA, Lutter R. 2000, "Lung epithelial H292 cells induce differentiation of immature human HMC-1 mast cells by interleukin-6 and stem cell factor", *Clin. Exp. Allergy.*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 1104-1112.

Powell DW, Mifflin RC, Valentich JD, Crowe SE, Saada JI, West AB. 1999, "Myofibroblasts. I. Paracrine cells important in health and disease", *Am. J. Physiol.*, vol. 277, no. 1 Pt 1, p. C1-C9.

Prockop DJ, Kivirikko KI, Tuderman L, Guzman NA. 1979, "The biosynthesis of collagen and its disorders (first of two parts) ", *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 301, no. 1, pp. 13-23.

Puddicombe SM, Polosa R, Richter A, Krishna MT, Howarth PH, Holgate ST, Davies DE. 2000, "Involvement of the epidermal growth factor receptor in epithelial repair in asthma", *FASEB J*., vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 1362-1374.

Quackenbush EJ, Wershil BK, Aguirre V, Gutierrez-Ramos JC. 1998, "Eotaxin modulates myelopoiesis and mast cell development from embryonic hematopoietic progenitors", *Blood.*, vol. 92, no. 6, pp. 1887-1897.

Ramos C, Montano M, Garcia-Alvarez J, Ruiz V, Uhal BD, Selman M, Pardo A. 2001, "Fibroblasts from idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and normal lungs differ in growth rate, apoptosis, and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases expression", *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 591-598.

Redington AE, Madden J, Frew AJ, Djukanovic R, Roche WR, Holgate ST, Howarth PH. 1997, "Transforming growth factor-beta 1 in asthma. Measurement in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 156, no. 2 Pt 1, pp. 642-647.

Reed JA, Albino AP, McNutt NS. 1995, "Human cutaneous mast cells express basic fibroblast growth factor", *Lab. Invest.*, vol. 72, no. 2, pp. 215-222.

Reed DE, Barajas-Lopez C, Cottrell G, Velazquez-Rocha S, Dery O, Grady EF, Bunnett NW, Vanner SJ. 2003, "Mast cell tryptase and proteinase-activated receptor 2 induce hyperexcitability of guinea-pig submucosal neurons", *J. Physiol.*, vol. 547, no. 2, pp. 531-542.

Reilly CF, Tewksbury DA, Schechter NM, Travis J. 1982, "Rapid conversion of angiotensin I to angiotensin II by neutrophil and mast cell proteinases", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 257, no. 15, pp. 8619-8622.

208

Reischl IG, Coward WR, Church MK. 1999, "Molecular consequences of human mast cell activation following immunoglobulin E-high-affinity immunoglobulin E receptor (IgE-FcepsilonRI) interaction", *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, vol. 58, no. 12, pp. 841-850.

Rennick DM, Lee FD, Yokota T, Arai KI, Cantor H, Nabel GJ. 1985, "A cloned MCGF cDNA encodes a multilineage hematopoietic growth factor: multiple activities of interleukin 3", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 134, no. 2, pp. 910-914.

Ricciardolo, F. L., Steinhoff, M., Amadesi, S., Guerrini, R., Tognetto, M., Trevisani, M., Creminon, C., Bertrand, C., Bunnett, N. W., Fabbri, L. M., Salvadori, S., & Geppetti, P. 2000, "Presence and bronchomotor activity of protease-activated receptor-2 in guinea pig airways", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 161, no. 5, pp. 1672-1680.

Richter A, Puddicombe SM, Lordan JL, Bucchieri F, Wilson SJ, Djukanovic R, Dent G, Holgate ST, Davies DE. 2001, "The contribution of interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-13 to the epithelial-mesenchymal trophic unit in asthma", *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 385-391.

Riley JF, West GB. 1956, "Skin histamine; its location in the tissue mast cells", *AMA*. *Arch. Derm.*, vol. 74, no. 5, pp. 471-478.

Robinson DS. 2004, "The role of the mast cell in asthma: induction of airway hyperresponsiveness by interaction with smooth muscle?", *J. Allergy. Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 114, no. 1, pp.58-65.

Roche WR, Beasley R, Williams JH, Holgate ST. 1989, "Subepithelial fibrosis in the bronchi of asthmatics", *Lancet.*, vol. 1, no. 8637, pp. 520-524.

Rogler G, Gelbmann CM, Vogl D, Brunner M, Scholmerich J, Falk W, Andus T, Brand K. 2001, "Differential activation of cytokine secretion in primary human colonic fibroblast/myofibroblast cultures", *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 389-398.

Roy SG, Nozaki Y, Phan SH. 2001, "Regulation of alpha-smooth muscle actin gene expression in myofibroblast differentiation from rat lung fibroblasts", *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 723-734.

Rudolph R, Guber S, Suzuki M, Woodward M. 1977, "The life cycle of the myofibroblast", *Surg. Gynecol. Obstet.*, vol. 145, no. 3, pp. 389-394.

Ruoss SJ, Hartmann T, Caughey GH. 1991, "Mast cell tryptase is a mitogen for cultured fibroblasts", J. Clin. Invest., vol. 88, no. 2, pp. 493-499.

Sabri A, Muske G, Zhang H, Pak E, Darrow A, Andrade-Gordon P, Steinberg SF. 2000, "Signaling properties and functions of two distinct cardiomyocyte protease-activated receptors", *Circ. Res.*, vol. 86, no. 10, pp. 1054-1061.

Scaffidi AK, Mutsaers SE, Moodley YP, McAnulty RJ, Laurent GJ, Thompson PJ, Knight DA. 2002, "Oncostatin M stimulates proliferation, induces collagen production and inhibits apoptosis of human lung fibroblasts", *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, vol. 136, no. 5, pp. 793-801.

Schechter NM, Fraki JE, Geesin JC, Lazarus GS. 1983, "Human skin chymotryptic proteinase. Isolation and relation to cathepsin g and rat mast cell proteinase I", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 258, no. 5, pp. 2973-2978.

Schechter NM, Choi JK, Slavin DA, Deresienski DT, Sayama S, Dong G, Lavker RM, Proud D, Lazarus GS. 1986, "Identification of a chymotrypsin-like proteinase in human mast cells", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 137, no. 3, pp. 962-970.

Schechter NM, Irani AM, Sprows JL, Abernethy J, Wintroub B, Schwartz LB. 1990, "Identification of a cathepsin G-like proteinase in the MCTC type of human mast cell", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 145, no. 8, pp. 2652-2661.

Schechter NM, Brass LF, Lavker RM, Jensen PJ. 1998, "Reaction of mast cell proteases tryptase and chymase with protease activated receptors (PARs) on keratinocytes and fibroblasts", *J. Cell. Physiol.*, vol. 176, no. 2, pp. 365-373.

Schlicker E, Malinowska B, Kathmann M, Gothert M. 1994, "Modulation of neurotransmitter release via histamine H3 heteroreceptors", *Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol.*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 128-137.

Schmidlin F, Amadesi S, Vidil R, Trevisani M, Martinet N, Caughey G, Tognetto M, Cavallesco G, Mapp C, Geppetti P, Bunnett NW. 2001, "Expression and function of proteinase-activated receptor 2 in human bronchial smooth muscle", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 164, no. 7, pp. 1276-1281.

Schmidt VA, Vitale E, Bahou WF. 1996, "Genomic cloning and characterization of the human thrombin receptor gene. Structural similarity to the proteinase activated receptor-2 gene", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 271, no. 16, pp. 9307-9312.

Schmidt JT. Schachner M. 1998, "Role for cell adhesion and glycosyl (HNK-1 and oligomannoside) recognition in the sharpening of the regenerating retinotectal projection in goldfish", *J. Neurobiol.*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 659-671.

Schmittgen TD, Zakrajsek BA, Mills AG, Gorn V, Singer MJ, Reed MW. 2000, "Quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction to study mRNA decay: comparison of endpoint and real-time methods", *Anal. Biochem.*, vol. 285, no. 2, pp. 194-204.

Schroder JM, Mrowietz U, Morita E, Christophers E. 1987, "Purification and partial biochemical characterization of a human monocyte-derived, neutrophil-activating peptide that lacks interleukin 1 activity", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 139, no. 10, pp. 3474-3483.

Schwartz LB, Lewis RA, Austen KF. 1981, "Tryptase from human pulmonary mast cells. Purification and characterization", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 256, no. 22, pp. 11939-11943.

Schwartz LB, Bradford TR, Littman BH, Wintroub BU. 1985, "The fibrinogenolytic activity of purified tryptase from human lung mast cells", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 135, no. 4, pp. 2762-2767.

Schwartz LB, Bradford TR. 1986, "Regulation of tryptase from human lung mast cells by heparin. Stabilization of the active tetramer", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 261, no. 16, pp. 7372-7379.

Schwartz LB. 1990, "Tryptase from human mast cells: biochemistry, biology and clinical utility", *Monogr. Allergy.*, vol. 27, pp. 90-113.

Schwartz JC, Arrang JM, Garbarg M, Pollard H, Ruat M. 1991, "Histaminergic transmission in the mammalian brain", *Physiol. Rev.*, vol. 71, no. 1, pp. 1-51.

Schwartz LB, Sakai K, Bradford TR, Ren S, Zweiman B, Worobec AS, Metcalfe DD. 1995, "The alpha form of human tryptase is the predominant type present in blood at baseline in normal subjects and is elevated in those with systemic mastocytosis", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 96, no. 6, pp. 2702-2710.

Schwartz LB, Min HK, Ren S, Xia HZ, Hu J, Zhao W, Moxley G, Fukuoka Y. 2003, "Tryptase precursors are preferentially and spontaneously released, whereas mature tryptase is retained by HMC-1 cells, Mono-Mac-6 cells, and human skin-derived mast cells", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 170, no. 11, pp. 5667-5673.

Selman M, Ruiz V, Cabrera S, Segura L, Ramirez R, Barrios R, Pardo A. 2000, "TIMP-1, -2, -3, and -4 in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. A prevailing nondegradative lung microenvironment?", *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol*, vol. 279, no. 3, p. L562-L574.

Selvan RS, Butterfield JH, Krangel MS. 1994, "Expression of multiple chemokine genes by a human mast cell leukemia", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 269, no. 19, pp. 13893-13898.

Sendo T, Sumimura T, Itoh Y, Goromaru T, Aki K, Yano T, Oike M, Ito Y, Mori S, Nishibori M, Oishi R. 2003, "Involvement of proteinase-activated receptor-2 in mast cell tryptase-induced barrier dysfunction in bovine aortic endothelial cells", *Cell. Signal.*, vol. 15, no. 8, pp. 773-781.

Serafin WE, Dayton ET, Gravallese PM, Austen KF, Stevens RL. 1987, "Carboxypeptidase A in mouse mast cells. Identification, characterization, and use as a differentiation marker", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 139, no. 11, pp. 3771-3776.

Serini G, Gabbiani G. 1999, "Mechanisms of myofibroblast activity and phenotypic modulation", *Exp. Cell Res.*, vol. 250, no. 2, pp. 273-283.

Shahar I, Fireman E, Topilsky M, Grief J, Kivity S, Spirer Z, Ben Efraim S. 1996, "Effect of IL-6 on alveolar fibroblast proliferation in interstitial lung diseases", *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.*, vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 244-251.

Shpacovitch VM, Brzoska T, Buddenkotte J, Stroh C, Sommerhoff CP, Ansel JC, Schulze-Osthoff K, Bunnett NW, Luger TA, Steinhoff M. 2002, "Agonists of proteinase-activated receptor 2 induce cytokine release and activation of nuclear transcription factor kappaB in human dermal microvascular endothelial cells", *J. Invest. Dermatol.*, vol. 118, no. 2, pp. 380-385.

Shute J. 1994, "Interleukin-8 is a potent eosinophil chemo-attractant", *Clin. Exp. Allergy.*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 203-206.

Shute JK, Vrugt B, Lindley IJ, Holgate ST, Bron A, Aalbers R, Djukanovic R. 1997, "Free and complexed interleukin-8 in blood and bronchial mucosa in asthma", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 155, no. 6, pp. 1877-1883.

Sime PJ, Xing Z, Graham FL, Csaky KG, Gauldie J. 1997, "Adenovector-mediated gene transfer of active transforming growth factor-beta1 induces prolonged severe fibrosis in rat lung", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 100, no. 4, pp. 768-776.

Sime PJ, Marr RA, Gauldie D, Xing Z, Hewlett BR, Graham FL, Gauldie J. 1998, "Transfer of tumor necrosis factor-alpha to rat lung induces severe pulmonary inflammation and patchy interstitial fibrogenesis with induction of transforming growth factor-betal and myofibroblasts", *Am. J. Pathol.*, vol. 153, no. 3, pp. 825-832.

Smith TJ, Hougland MW, Johnson DA. 1984, "Human lung tryptase. Purification and characterization.", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 259, no. 17, pp. 11046-11051.

Soloperto M, Mattoso VL, Fasoli A, Mattoli S. 1991, "A bronchial epithelial cell-derived factor in asthma that promotes eosinophil activation and survival as GM-CSF", *Am. J. Physiol.*, vol. 260, no. 6 Pt 1, pp. L530-L538.

Sommerhoff CP, Caughey GH, Finkbeiner WE, Lazarus SC, Basbaum CB, Nadel JA. 1989, "Mast cell chymase. A potent secretagogue for airway gland serous cells", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 142, no. 7, pp. 2450-2456.

Spada CS, Nieves AL, Krauss AH, Woodward DF. 1994, "Comparison of leukotriene B4 and D4 effects on human eosinophil and neutrophil motility in vitro", *J. Leukoc. Biol.*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. 183-191.

Standiford TJ, Kunkel SL, Basha MA, Chensue SW, Lynch JP 3rd, Toews GB, Westwick J, Strieter RM. 1990, "Interleukin-8 gene expression by a pulmonary epithelial cell line. A model for cytokine networks in the lung", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 86, no. 6, pp. 1945-1953.

Steinhoff M, Corvera CU, Thoma MS, Kong W, McAlpine BE, Caughey GH, Ansel JC, Bunnett NW. 1999 "Proteinase-activated receptor-2 in human skin: tissue distribution and activation of keratinocytes by mast cell tryptase", *Exp. Dermatol.*; vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 282-294.

Steinhoff M, Vergnolle N, Young SH, Tognetto M, Amadesi S, Ennes HS, Trevisani M, Hollenberg MD, Wallace JL, Caughey GH, Mitchell SE, Williams LM, Geppetti P, Mayer EA, Bunnett NW. 2000, "Agonists of proteinase-activated receptor 2 induce inflammation by a neurogenic mechanism", *Nat. Med.*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 151-158.

Steinhoff M, Buddenkotte J, Shpacovitch V, Rattenholl A, Moormann C, Vergnolle N, Luger TA, Hollenberg MD. 2005, "Proteinase-activated receptors: transducers of proteinase-mediated signaling in inflammation and immune response", *Endocr. Rev.*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 1-43.

Stenton GR, Nohara O, Dery RE, Vliagoftis H, Gilchrist M, Johri A, Wallace JL, Hollenberg MD, Moqbel R, Befus AD. 2002, "Proteinase-activated receptor (PAR)-1 and -2 agonists induce mediator release from mast cells by pathways distinct from PAR-1 and PAR-2", *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, vol. 302, no. 2, pp. 466-474.

Stevens RL, Fox CC, Lichtenstein LM, Austen KF. 1988, "Identification of chondroitin sulfate E proteoglycans and heparin proteoglycans in the secretory granules of human lung mast cells", *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 85, no. 7, pp. 2284-2287.

Strieter RM, Kunkel SL, Showell HJ, Remick DG, Phan SH, Ward PA, Marks RM. 1989, "Endothelial cell gene expression of a neutrophil chemotactic factor by TNF-alpha, LPS, and IL-1 beta", *Science.*, vol. 243, no. 4897, pp. 1467-1469.

Sukenaga Y, Kido H, Neki A, Enomoto M, Ishida K, Takagi K, Katunuma N. 1993, "Purification and molecular cloning of chymase from human tonsils", *FEBS Lett.*, vol. 323, no. 1-2, pp. 119-122.

Suzuki K, Lees M, Newlands GF, Nagase H, Woolley DE. 1995, "Activation of precursors for matrix metalloproteinases 1 (interstitial collagenase) and 3 (stromelysin) by rat mast-cell proteinases I and II", *Biochem. J.*, vol. 305, no. Pt 1, pp. 301-306.

Swerlick RA, Cunningham MW, Hall NK. 1986, "Monoclonal antibodies cross-reactive with group A streptococci and normal and psoriatic human skin", *J. Invest. Dermatol.*, vol. 87, no. 3, pp. 367-371.

Takahashi M, Katayama Y, Takada H, Kuwayama H, Terano A. 2000, "The effect of NSAIDs and a COX-2 specific inhibitor on Helicobacter pylori-induced PGE2 and HGF in human gastric fibroblasts", *Aliment Pharmacol. Ther.*, vol. 14, no. Suppl 1, pp. 44-49.

Tam EK, Caughey GH. 1990, "Degradation of airway neuropeptides by human lung tryptase", *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 27-32.

Tanaka T, McRae BJ, Cho K, Cook R, Fraki JE, Johnson DA, Powers JC. 1983, "Mammalian tissue trypsin-like enzymes. Comparative reactivities of human skin tryptase, human lung tryptase, and bovine trypsin with peptide 4-nitroanilide and thioester substrates", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 258, no. 22, pp. 13552-13557.

Temkin V, Kantor B, Weg V, Hartman ML, Levi-Schaffer F. 2002, "Tryptase activates the mitogen-activated protein kinase/activator protein-1 pathway in human peripheral blood eosinophils, causing cytokine production and release", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 169, no. 5, pp. 2662-2669.

Thompson HL, Schulman ES, Metcalfe DD. 1988, "Identification of chondroitin sulfate E in human lung mast cells", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 140, no. 8, pp. 2708-2713.

Thompson-Snipes L, Dhar V, Bond MW, Mosmann TR, Moore KW, Rennick DM. 1991, "Interleukin 10: a novel stimulatory factor for mast cells and their progenitors", *J. Exp. Med.*, vol. 173, no. 2, pp. 507-510.

Trautmann A, Toksoy A, Engelhardt E, Brocker EB, Gillitzer R. 2000, "Mast cell involvement in normal human skin wound healing: expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 is correlated with recruitment of mast cells which synthesize interleukin-4 in vivo", *J. Pathol.*, vol. 190, no. 1, pp. 100-106.

Tunon de Lara JM, Okayama Y, McEuen AR, Heusser CH, Church MK, Walls AF. 1994, "Release and inactivation of interleukin-4 by mast cells", *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.*, vol. 28, pp. 50-58.

Uehara A, Muramoto K, Takada H, Sugawara S. 2003, "Neutrophil serine proteinases activate human nonepithelial cells to produce inflammatory cytokines through protease-activated receptor 2", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 170, no. 11, pp. 5690-5696.

Urata H, Kinoshita A, Misono KS, Bumpus FM, Husain A. 1990, "Identification of a highly specific chymase as the major angiotensin II-forming enzyme in the human heart", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 265, no. 36, pp. 22348-22357.

Valent P, Spanblochl E, Sperr WR, Sillaber C, Zsebo KM, Agis H, Strobl H, Geissler K, Bettelheim P, Lechner K. 1992, "Induction of differentiation of human mast cells from bone marrow and peripheral blood mononuclear cells by recombinant human stem cell factor/kit-ligand in long-term culture", *Blood.*, vol. 80, no. 9, pp. 2237-2245.

Valent P. 1995, "Cytokines involved in growth and differentiation of human basophils and mast cells", *Exp. Dermatol.*, vol. 4, no. 4 Pt 2, pp. 255-259.

Vanderslice P, Ballinger SM, Tam EK, Goldstein SM, Craik CS, Caughey GH. 1990, "Human mast cell tryptase: multiple cDNAs and genes reveal a multigene serine protease family", *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, vol. 87, no. 10, pp. 3811-3815.

218

Vasquez YR, Spina D. 2000, "What have transgenic and knockout animals taught us about respiratory disease?", *Respir. Res.*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 82-86.

Vaughan MB, Howard EW, Tomasek JJ. 2000, "Transforming growth factor-beta1 promotes the morphological and functional differentiation of the myofibroblast", *Exp. Cell Res.*, vol. 257, no. 1, pp 180-189.

Vignola AM, Chiappara G, Chanez P, Merendino AM, Pace E, Spatafora M, Bousquet J, Bonsignore G. 1997, "Growth factors in asthma", *Monaldi Arch. Chest Dis.*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 159-169.

Vignola AM, Riccobono L, Mirabella A, Profita M, Chanez P, Bellia V, Mautino G, D'accardi P, Bousquet J, Bonsignore G. 1998, "Sputum metalloproteinase-9/tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 ratio correlates with airflow obstruction in asthma and chronic bronchitis", *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.*, vol. 158, no. 6, pp. 1945-1950.

Vliagoftis H, Schwingshackl A, Milne CD, Duszyk M, Hollenberg MD, Wallace JL, Befus AD, Moqbel R. 2000, "Proteinase-activated receptor-2-mediated matrix metalloproteinase-9 release from airway epithelial cells", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 106, no. 3, pp. 537-545.

Vliagoftis H, Befus AD, Hollenberg MD, Moqbel R. 2001, "Airway epithelial cells release eosinophil survival-promoting factors (GM-CSF) after stimulation of proteinase-activated receptor 2", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 107, no. 4, pp. 679-685.

Vliagoftis H, Lacy P, Luy B, Adamko D, Hollenberg M, Befus D, Moqbel R. 2004, "Mast cell tryptase activates peripheral blood eosinophils to release granule-associated enzymes", *Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol.*, vol. 135, no. 3, pp. 196-204.

Vu TK, Hung DT, Wheaton VI, Coughlin SR. 1991, "Molecular cloning of a functional thrombin receptor reveals a novel proteolytic mechanism of receptor activation", *Cell.*, vol. 64, no. 6, pp. 1057-1068.

Vyalov S, Desmouliere A, Gabbiani G. 1993, "GM-CSF-induced granulation tissue formation: relationships between macrophage and myofibroblast accumulation", *Virchows Arch. B Cell Pathol. Incl. Mol. Pathol.*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 231-239.

Wakita H, Furukawa F, Takigawa M. 1997, "Thrombin and trypsin induce granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and interleukin-6 gene expression in cultured normal human keratinocytes", *Proc. Assoc. Am. Physicians.*, vol. 109, no. 2, pp. 190-207.

Walls AF, Bennett AR, McBride HM, Glennie MJ, Holgate ST, Church MK. 1990, "Production and characterization of monoclonal antibodies specific for human mast cell tryptase", *Clin. Exp. Allergy.*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 581-589.

Walls AF, Brain SD, Desai A, Jose PJ, Hawkings E, Church MK, Williams TJ. 1992, "Human mast cell tryptase attenuates the vasodilator activity of calcitonin gene-related peptide", *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 1243-1248.

Wang HW, McNeil HP, Husain A, Liu K, Tedla N, Thomas PS, Raftery M, King GC, Cai ZY, Hunt JE. 2002, "Delta tryptase is expressed in multiple human tissues, and a recombinant form has proteolytic activity", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 169, no. 9. pp. 5145-5152.

220

Wass JA. 1997, "Growth hormone, insulin-like growth factor-I and its binding proteins in the follow-up of acromegaly", *J. Endocrinol.*, vol. 155, no. Suppl 1, pp. S17-19; discussion S21.

Weidinger S, Mayerhofer A, Frungieri MB, Meineke V, Ring J, Kohn FM. 2003, "Mast cell-sperm interaction: evidence for tryptase and proteinase-activated receptors in the regulation of sperm motility", *Hum. Reprod.*, vol. 18, no. 12, pp. 2519-2524.

Weiss EB, Mullick PC. 1983, "Leukotriene effect in airways smooth muscle: calcium dependency and verapamil inhibition", *Prostaglandins Leukot. Med.*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 53-66.

Weiss ST, Raby BA. 2004, "Asthma genetics 2003", *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. R83-89.

Welgus HG, Campbell EJ, Cury JD, Eisen AZ, Senior RM, Wilhelm SM, Goldberg GI. 1990, "Neutral metalloproteinases produced by human mononuclear phagocytes. Enzyme profile, regulation, and expression during cellular development", *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 86, no. 5, pp. 1496-1502.

Welker P, Grabbe J, Zuberbier T, Grutzkau A, Henz BM. 2001, "GM-CSF downmodulates c-kit, Fc(epsilon)RI(alpha) and GM-CSF receptor expression as well as histamine and tryptase levels in cultured human mast cells", *Arch. Dermatol. Res.*, vol. 293, no. 5, pp. 249-258.

Wells RG, Kruglov E, Dranoff JA. 2004, "Autocrine release of TGF-beta by portal fibroblasts regulates cell growth", *FEBS Lett.*, vol. 559, no. 1-3, pp. 107-110.

Wenzel SE, Fowler AA 3rd, Schwartz LB. 1988, "Activation of pulmonary mast cells by bronchoalveolar allergen challenge. In vivo release of histamine and tryptase in atopic subjects with and without asthma", *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, vol. 137, no. 5, pp. 1002-1008.

Wenzel SE, Westcott JY, Smith HR, Larsen GL. 1989, "Spectrum of prostanoid release after bronchoalveolar allergen challenge in atopic asthmatics and in control groups. An alteration in the ratio of bronchoconstrictive to bronchoprotective mediators", *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, vol. 139, no. 2, pp. 450-457.

Wenzel SE, Larsen GL, Johnston K, Voelkel NF, Westcott JY. 1990, "Elevated levels of leukotriene C4 in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from atopic asthmatics after endobronchial allergen challenge", *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.*, vol. 142, no. 1, pp. 112-119.

Wenzel SE, Westcott JY, Larsen GL. 1991, "Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid mediator levels 5 minutes after allergen challenge in atopic subjects with asthma: relationship to the development of late asthmatic responses", *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.*, vol. 87, no. 2, pp. 540-548.

White MV. 1990, "The role of histamine in allergic diseases", J. Allergy Clin. Immunol., vol. 86, no. 4 Pt 2, pp. 599-605.

Williams CM, Galli SJ. 2000, "Mast cells can amplify airway reactivity and features of chronic inflammation in an asthma model in mice", *J. Exp. Med.*, vol. 192, no. 3, pp 455-462.

Wintroub BU, Schechter NB, Lazarus GS, Kaempfer CE, Schwartz LB. 1984, "Angiotensin I conversion by human and rat chymotryptic proteinases", *J. Invest. Dermatol.*, vol. 83, no. 5, pp. 336-339.

222

Wislez M, Fleury-Feith J, Rabbe N, Moreau J, Cesari D, Milleron B, Mayaud C, Antoine M, Soler P, Cadranel J. 2001, "Tumor-derived granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor prolong the survival of neutrophils infiltrating bronchoalveolar subtype pulmonary adenocarcinoma", *Am. J. Pathol.*, vol. 159, no. 4, pp. 1423-1433.

Wong GW, Yasuda S, Madhusudhan MS, Li L, Yang Y, Krilis SA, Sali A, Stevens RL. 2001, "Human tryptase epsilon (PRSS22), a new member of the chromosome 16p13.3 family of human serine proteases expressed in airway epithelial cells", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 276, no. 52, pp. 49169-49182.

Xia HZ, Kepley CL, Sakai K, Chelliah J, Irani AM, Schwartz LB. 1995, "Quantitation of tryptase, chymase, Fc epsilon RI alpha, and Fc epsilon RI gamma mRNAs in human mast cells and basophils by competitive reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction", *J. Immunol.*, vol. 154, no. 10, pp. 5472-5480.

Xing Z, Braciak T, Ohkawara Y, Sallenave JM, Foley R, Sime PJ, Jordana M, Graham FL, Gauldie J. 1996, "Gene transfer for cytokine functional studies in the lung: the multifunctional role of GM-CSF in pulmonary inflammation", *J. Leukoc. Biol.*, vol. 59, no. 4, pp. 481-488.

Xu T, Bianco P, Fisher LW, Longenecker G, Smith E, Goldstein S, Bonadio J, Boskey A, Heegaard AM, Sommer B, Satomura K, Dominguez P, Zhao C, Kulkarni AB, Robey PG, Young MF. 1998, "Targeted disruption of the biglycan gene leads to an osteoporosis-like phenotype in mice", *Nat. Genet.*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 78-82.

Yao PM, Buhler JM, d'Ortho MP, Lebargy F, Delclaux C, Harf A, Lafuma C. 1996, "Expression of matrix metalloproteinase gelatinases A and B by cultured epithelial cells from human bronchial explants", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 271, no. 26, pp. 15580-15589.

Zhang Z, Turner DC, Drzewiecki GJ, Hinshaw DB, Hyslop PA. 1994, "Impairment of integrin-mediated cell-matrix adhesion in oxidant- stressed PC12 cells", *Brain Res.*, vol. 662, no. 1-2, pp. 189-197.

Zhang S, Howarth PH, Roche WR. 1996a, "Cytokine production by cell cultures from bronchial subepithelial myofibroblasts", *J. Pathol.*, vol. 180, no. 1, pp. 95-101.

Zhang S, Mohammed Q, Burbidge A, Morland CM, Roche WR. 1996b, "Cell cultures from bronchial subepithelial myofibroblasts enhance eosinophil survival in vitro", *Eur. Respir. J.*, vol. 9, no. 9, pp. 1839-1846.

Zhang J, Nie G, Jian W, Woolley DE, Salamonsen LA. 1998, "Mast cell regulation of human endometrial matrix metalloproteinases: A mechanism underlying menstruation", *Biol. Reprod.*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 693-703.

Zhang HY. Phan SH. 1999, "Inhibition of myofibroblast apoptosis by transforming growth factor beta(1)", *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.*, vol. 21, no. 6, pp. 658-665.

Zhang WD, Bai HZ, Sawa Y, Yamakawa T, Kadoba K, Taniguchi K, Masuda J, Ogata J, Shirakura R, Matsuda H. 1999a, "Association of smooth muscle cell phenotypic modulation with extracellular matrix alterations during neointima formation in rabbit vein grafts", *J. Vasc. Surg.*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 169-183.

Zhang S, Smartt H, Holgate ST, Roche WR. 1999b, "Growth factors secreted by bronchial epithelial cells control myofibroblast proliferation: an in vitro co-culture model of airway remodeling in asthma", *Lab. Invest.*, vol. 79, no. 4, pp. 395-405.

Zhang J, Gruber BL, Marchese MJ, Zucker S, Schwartz LB, Kew RR. 1999c, "Mast cell tryptase does not alter matrix metalloproteinase expression in human dermal fibroblasts: further evidence that proteolytically- active tryptase is a potent fibrogenic factor", *J. Cell Physiol.*, vol. 181, no. 2, pp. 312-318.

Zhao Y, Young SL. 1996, "Requirement of transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) type II receptor for TGF-beta-induced proliferation and growth inhibition", *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 271, no. 5, pp. 2369-2372.

Zhong H, Simons JW. 1999, "Direct comparison of GAPDH, beta-actin, cyclophilin, and 28S rRNA as internal standards for quantifying RNA levels under hypoxia", *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 259, no. 3, pp. 523-526.

Zhu Y, Michalovich D, Wu H, Tan KB, Dytko GM, Mannan IJ, Boyce R, Alston J, Tierney LA, Li X, Herrity NC, Vawter L, Sarau HM, Ames RS, Davenport CM, Hieble JP, Wilson S, Bergsma DJ, Fitzgerald LR. 2001, "Cloning, expression, and pharmacological characterization of a novel human histamine receptor", *Mol. Pharmacol.*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 434-441.

Appendices

<u>Appendix 1</u>

Current \propto Light Intensity I = I_oe^{- $\alpha \ell c$}

Beer-Lambert Law

$$OD = \log_{10} \left(\frac{I_o}{I} \right) = \varepsilon \ell c$$
$$\varepsilon = \frac{\alpha}{2.303}$$

Kinetics

$$OD = \varepsilon \ell c$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}(OD) = \varepsilon \ell \frac{dx}{dt}$$
Well of a 96- well plate
$$c = \frac{x}{V}$$

$$\frac{d(OD)}{dt} = \frac{\varepsilon \ell}{V} \cdot \frac{dx}{dt}$$

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \frac{V}{\varepsilon \ell} \cdot \frac{d(OD)}{dt}$$

$$\ell = \frac{V}{A} = \frac{V}{\pi r^2}$$

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \frac{1.0 \times 10^{-4} \ell}{8800\ell \ mol^{-1}cm^{-1} \left(\frac{0.1cm^3}{\pi (0.33cm)^2}\right)} \cdot \frac{d(OD)}{dt}$$

$$= 3.888 \times 10^{-8} \ mol \cdot \frac{d(OD)}{dt}$$

Enzymatic Activity

$$1 \ U = 1 \ \mu mol/\min$$

$$1 \ katal = 1 \ mol/s$$

$$\frac{enzyme \ activity}{unit \ vol} = \frac{3.888 \times 10^{-8} \times \frac{1 \ U}{10^{-6} \ mol/\min}}{0.01 \ ml} \cdot \frac{d(OD)}{dt}$$

$$= 3.888U \ \min \ ml^{-1} \cdot \frac{d(OD)}{dt}$$

$$\frac{d(OD)}{dt} as \frac{mOD}{\min}$$

$$\frac{enzyme \ activity}{ml} = 3.888 \ min \ ml^{-1} \cdot \frac{mOD}{\min}$$

Appendix 2



A standard curve to show a correlation between a formazan formation (absorbance at 490nm) with fibroblast cell number for (A) fibroblasts and (B) myofibroblasts in MTS assay. Mean \pm SEM are shown for three separate experiments.